
MEETING AGENDA 

 

Board of Trustees Meeting 

Village of Homewood 

October 26, 2021 

Meeting Start Time: 7:00 PM 

Village Hall Board Room 

2020 Chestnut Road, Homewood, IL 

Board Meetings will be held as in-person meetings. In addition to in-person public comment during the meeting, members of the public 
may submit written comments by email to comments@homewoodil.gov or by placing written comments in the drop box outside Village 
Hall. Comments submitted before 4:00 p.m. on the meeting date will be distributed to all Village Board members prior to the meeting. 

Please see last page of agenda for virtual meeting information. 

 

1. Call to Order 

2. Pledge of Allegiance 

3. Roll Call 

4. Introduction of Staff 

5. Minutes: 

Consider a motion to approve the minutes from the regular meeting of the Board of Trustees 
held on October 12, 2021. 

6. Claims List: 

Consider a motion to approve the Claims List of Tuesday, October 26, 2021 in the amount of 
$388,630.75. 

7. Hear from the Audience 

8. New Business: 

A. M-2199/Purchase and Sale Agreement/Homewood Brewing, LLC:  Consider a motion to 
approve ordinance M-2199 approving a contract to sell the real estate at 18225 Dixie Highway 
to Homewood Brewing, LLC, contingent upon the parties negotiating a redevelopment 
agreement for the property. 

B. Acceptance/Audit Presentation:  Consider a motion to accept the Village of Homewood 
Annual Financial Report for the fiscal year ending April 30, 2021. 

9. General Board Discussion 

10. Executive Session:  Consider a motion to enter into executive session under 5 ILCS 120/2(c)5 to 
discuss the purchase or lease of real property. 

11. Adjourn 
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Everyone entering the Village Hall must wear a face covering. 

___________________________________________________________________________ 

Zoom Link: https://zoom.us/ 
- To View the Meeting via Computer or Smartphone - Type in:  Zoom.us into any internet browser. 

Select: JOIN A MEETING from menu at top right of page.  Meeting I.D.:  980 4907 6232 
Meeting Password:  830183.  Enter an email address (required), or 

- To Listen to the Meeting via Phone -  Dial: (312) 626-6799 
Enter above “Meeting I.D. and Meeting Password” followed by “#” sign 

___________________________________________________________________________ 
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VILLAGE OF HOMEWOOD 

BOARD OF TRUSTEES MEETING 
TUESDAY -OCTOBER 12, 2021 
VILLAGE HALL BOARD ROOM 

 
CALL TO ORDER: President Hofeld called the regular meeting of the Board of Trustees to order at 7 
p.m.  
 
PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE: President Hofeld led the audience in the Pledge of Allegiance. 

ROLL CALL: Clerk Marilyn Thomas called the roll. Those present were Village President Richard 
Hofeld, Trustee Lisa Purcell, Trustee Karen Washington, Trustee Vivian Harris-Jones, Trustee Lauren 
Roman, and Trustee Jay Heiferman.  

President Hofeld introduced staff: Village Manager Jim Marino, Attorney Christopher Cummings, 
Director of Finance Dennis Bubenik, Assistant Director of Public Works Pat McAneney, Director of 
Economic Development Angela Mesaros, and Fire Chief Bob Grabowski. 

MINUTES: The minutes of the meeting of September 28, 2021 were presented. There were no 
comments or corrections. 

A motion was made by Trustee Purcell and seconded by Trustee Roman to approve the minutes as 
amended. 

Roll Call: AYES—Trustees Purcell, Washington, Harris-Jones, Heiferman and Roman. NAYS –
None. Motion carried. 

The minutes of the public hearing on the establishment of the Kedzie Gateway Tax Increment 
Financing redevelopment project were presented. There were no comments or corrections. 

A motion was made by Trustee Purcell and seconded by Trustee Harris-Jones to approve the minutes 
of the public hearing as presented. 

Roll Call: AYES—Trustees Purcell, Washington, Harris-Jones, Heiferman and Roman. NAYS –
None. Motion carried. 

CLAIMS LIST: The Claims List in the amount of $2,446,422.02 was presented. There were no 
questions from the Trustees. 

A motion was made by Trustee Purcell and seconded by Trustee Heiferman to approve the Claims 
List as presented. 

Roll Call: AYES—Trustees Purcell, Washington, Harris-Jones, Roman and Heiferman. NAYS –
None. Motion carried. 

President Hofeld said three items totaled 82 percent of the Claims List: $1,442,100.20 to Burns & 
McDonnell Engineers for work on the water conversion project; $311,618.25 to the City of Harvey 
for Lake Michigan water; $247,285.17 for employee insurance for October. 
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HEAR FROM THE AUDIENCE:  President Hofeld asked if anyone in the audience wished to address 
the board on any matters not on the agenda. No comments were offered. 

PRESENTATION: A motion was made by Trustee Purcell and seconded by Trustee Roman to approve 
Resolution R-3091 honoring outgoing Trustee Barbara Dawkins for her 12 years of service on the 
village board. 

Roll Call: AYES—Trustees Purcell, Washington, Harris-Jones, Roman and Heiferman. NAYS –
None. Motion carried. 

After Clerk Thomas read the resolution, President Hofeld and each trustee gave their individual 
thanks to Trustee Dawkins for her guidance, support and insights into board matters. Dawkins said 
she moved to Homewood 22 years ago because she could afford to buy a home here, and stayed 
because she loves the village. Her new position as an associate judge for the Cook County Circuit 
Court prohibits her for continuing as an elected official, but she promises to be available and offer 
comment on village matters. 

OMNIBUS VOTE: Trustees were asked to pass, approve, authorize, accept or award the items on the 
Omnibus Report: 

A. Budget Amendment/Emergency Purchase/Police Department Squad: Approve a budget 
amendment in the amount of $42,437.00 for a replacement vehicle and equipment after a 
squad car was totaled in an accident. The board will waive competitive bidding for this 
emergency purchase; and authorize the purchase of one 2021 Ford Police Interceptor 
Utility vehicle from D’Orazio Ford in the amount of $42,436.60.  

B. Bid Award/Rock Salt/Compass Materials: Award a bid to Compass Materials of Overland 
Park, Kansas, the lowest responsible bidder, for 1,200 tons of rock salt at a price of $75.18 
per ton in an amount not to exceed $90,216.00.  

C. MC-1058/Increase Class 1 Liquor Licenses/Brinker Restaurant Corporation: Pass an 
ordinance increasing the number of allowed Class 1 liquor licenses from three to four to 
accommodate the request from Brinker Restaurant Corporation, d/b/a Chili's Grill and Bar 
for the location at 17928 Halsted Street. The change will allow Chili’s to sell packaged liquor 
with carryout orders. 

D. R-3092/Cook County No Cash Bid Program: Pass a resolution authorizing the Village of 
Homewood to participate in the Cook County No Cash Bid Program.  

E. M-2196/Redevelopment Plan/Kedzie Gateway TIF District: Pass an ordinance approving 
the redevelopment plan and project for the Kedzie Gateway Tax Increment Financing 
redevelopment project area around the intersection of 183rd Street and Kedzie Avenue. 

F. M-2197/Redevelopment Project Area/Kedzie Gateway TIF District: Pass an ordinance 
designating the Kedzie Gateway Tax Increment Financing redevelopment project area. 

G. M-2198/TIF Increment Allocation Financing/Kedzie Gateway TIF District: Pass an 
ordinance adopting tax increment allocation financing for the Kedzie Gateway Tax 
Increment Financing redevelopment project area.  

A motion was made by Trustee Roman and seconded by Trustee Purcell to approve the Omnibus 
Report as presented. 

Roll Call: AYES—Trustees Purcell, Washington, Harris-Jones, Roman and Heiferman. NAYS –
None. Motion carried. 
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OLD BUSINESS: President Hofeld asked Clerk Thomas and Village Manager Marino if alternate bids 
were received for the property at 18225 Dixie Highway, the site of the former Bogart’s Charhouse. 
None were received. 

GENERAL BOARD DISCUSSION: None. 

EXECUTIVE SESSION: A motion was made by Trustee Purcell and seconded by Trustee Washington 
to move to Executive Session for discussion of the purchase or lease of real property. 

Roll Call: AYES—Trustees Purcell, Washington, Harris-Jones, Roman and Heiferman. NAYS –
None. Motion carried. 

The board went into Executive Session at 7:15 p.m. 

The board returned from Executive Session at 8 p.m. 

A motion was made by Trustee Purcell and seconded by Trustee Washington to adjourn the regular 
meeting of the Board of Trustees. 

The meeting was adjourned by voice vote. 

Respectfully submitted, 

 

Marilyn Thomas 

Village Clerk 
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VILLAGE OF HOMEWOOD Payment Approval Report - Claims List 
Report dates:  10/26/2021

Page:     1

Name Description DEPARTMENT Net 

Invoice Amount

ACCURATE EMPLOYMENT SCR EMPLOYMENT SCREENING SERVICES MANAGER'S OFFICE 76.75

 Total ACCURATE EMPLOYMENT SCREENING LLC: 76.75

AIR ONE EQUIPMENT INC OPERATING SUPPLIES FIRE DEPARTMENT 3,600.00

 Total AIR ONE EQUIPMENT INC: 3,600.00

AIRGAS USA, LLC WELDING AND CUTTING GAS PW VM PUBLIC WORKS 166.20

 Total AIRGAS USA, LLC: 166.20

AMERICAN LAWN CORP. 200.00

AMERICAN LAWN CORP.

GRASS CUTTING AT FD TRAINING CENTER FOR SEPT FIRE DEPARTMENT 
GRASS CUTTING AT 18225 DIXIE FOR SEPTEMBER 2021 FIRE DEPARTMENT 225.00

 Total AMERICAN LAWN CORP.: 425.00

ANGELA MESAROS IML CONFERENCE 2021 EXPENSES (TRAVEL/FOOD) MANAGER'S OFFICE 32.91

 Total ANGELA MESAROS: 32.91

ARAMARK SEPTEMBER SERVICE CHARGE PUBLIC WORKS 39.28

ARAMARK SEPTEMBER TOWEL CHARGE PUBLIC WORKS 35.20

ARAMARK SEPTEMBER TOWEL CHARGE PUBLIC WORKS 22.00

ARAMARK SEPTEMBER RUGS&MATS CHARGE PUBLIC WORKS 1,171.00

ARAMARK SEPTEMBER UNIFORM ALLOWANCE PUBLIC WORKS 35.48

ARAMARK SEPTEMBER UNIFORM ALLOWANCE PUBLIC WORKS 32.92

ARAMARK SEPTEMBER UNIFORM ALLOWANCE PUBLIC WORKS 95.44

ARAMARK SEPTEMBER UNIFORM ALLOWANCE PUBLIC WORKS 144.92

ARAMARK SEPTEMBER UNIFORM ALLOWANCE PUBLIC WORKS 60.72

ARAMARK HI-VIS JACKET PUBLIC WORKS 86.98

 Total ARAMARK: 1,723.94

ARC DOCUMENT SOLUTIONS INK FOR PLOTTER NEVER PAID MANAGER'S OFFICE 294.30

ARC DOCUMENT SOLUTIONS PAPER FOR THE PLOTTER MANAGER'S OFFICE 562.64

 Total ARC DOCUMENT SOLUTIONS: 856.94

AVALON PETROLEUM COMPAN VEHICLE MAINTENANCE DEPT GEAR OIL PUBLIC WORKS 214.80

 Total AVALON PETROLEUM COMPANY: 214.80

BRANDY'S SAFE AND LOCK KEYS POLICE DEPARTMENT 40.46

 Total BRANDY'S SAFE AND LOCK: 40.46

BRIAN W MEEKS MUSIC FOR DAY OF THE DEAD     MANAGER'S OFFICE 300.00

 Total BRIAN W MEEKS: 300.00

BRITES TRANSPORATION, LTD STONE PUBLIC WORKS 2,163.25

BRITES TRANSPORATION, LTD SPOIL HAUL OUT PUBLIC WORKS 4,165.00

BRITES TRANSPORATION, LTD STONE PUBLIC WORKS 492.09

 Total BRITES TRANSPORATION, LTD: 6,820.34
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VILLAGE OF HOMEWOOD Payment Approval Report - Claims List 
Report date:  10/26/2021

Page:     2

Name Description DEPARTMENT Net 

Invoice Amount

C & M PIPE SUPPLY SEWER REPAIR PARTS PUBLIC WORKS 410.00

C & M PIPE SUPPLY GAS SAW REPLACEMENT BLADES PUBLIC WORKS 946.00

C & M PIPE SUPPLY 1516 LINDEN ROAD DRAINAGE MATERIALS PUBLIC WORKS 594.50

C & M PIPE SUPPLY 1759 183RD ST. DRAINAGE SYSTEM MATERIALS PUBLIC WORKS 1,283.50

 Total C & M PIPE SUPPLY: 3,234.00

CHEVROLET OF HOMEWOOD POLICE TAHOE ENGINE WATER PUMP PUBLIC WORKS 274.25

CHEVROLET OF HOMEWOOD POLICE TAHOE ENGINE WATER PUMP PUBLIC WORKS 101.71

CHEVROLET OF HOMEWOOD VEHICLE PARTS RETURN CREDIT PUBLIC WORKS 274.25-

CHEVROLET OF HOMEWOOD POLICE TAHOE WIPER BLADES PUBLIC WORKS 89.92

CHEVROLET OF HOMEWOOD POLICE TAHOE BATTERY CHARGE RELAY PUBLIC WORKS 97.71

CHEVROLET OF HOMEWOOD WATER DEPT VAN BRAKE PEDAL PAD PUBLIC WORKS 14.03

 Total CHEVROLET OF HOMEWOOD: 303.37

CLEANING SPECIALISTS BIO HAZARD CLEANING POLICE DEPARTMENT 185.00

185.00       Total CLEANING SPECIALISTS:

COOK CTY BUREAU OF TECHN COOK COUNTY NETWORK CONNECTION CRIMINAL       MANAGER'S OFFICE 2,689.50

 Total COOK CTY BUREAU OF TECHNOLOGY: 2,689.50

CORE & MAIN LP REPAIR CLAMPS PUBLIC WORKS 2,349.57

CORE & MAIN LP WATER MAIN REPAIR PARTS PUBLIC WORKS 1,594.58

CORE & MAIN LP RETURN CREDIT PUBLIC WORKS 371.02-

CORE & MAIN LP METER SUPPLIES PUBLIC WORKS 204.00

 Total CORE & MAIN LP: 3,777.13

CORE INTEGRATED MARKETIN BEAUTIFICATION YARD SIGNS PUBLIC WORKS 459.00

 Total CORE INTEGRATED MARKETING: 459.00

CURRIE MOTORS FORD F250 PICKUP UTILITY TECHNICIANS PUBLIC WORKS 40,541.00

 Total CURRIE MOTORS: 40,541.00

D CONSTRUCTION INC. ASPHALT - PW PUBLIC WORKS 527.51

 Total D CONSTRUCTION INC.: 527.51

DELL FINANCIAL SERVICES LL ANNUAL PAYMENT DELL COMPUTER LEASE MANAGER'S OFFICE 9,433.88

 Total DELL FINANCIAL SERVICES LLC: 9,433.88

DOMINIC RUFFALO IV FARMERS MARKET PERFORMER MANAGER'S OFFICE 150.00

       Total DOMINIC RUFFALO IV: 150.00

DOUGLAS SCHULDT 80% MEDICARE SUPPLEMENT REIMBURSEMENT MANAGER'S OFFICE 1,325.20

       Total DOUGLAS SCHULDT: 1,325.20

EBEL'S ACE HARDWARE SUPPLIES PUBLIC WORKS 80.73
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VILLAGE OF HOMEWOOD Payment Approval Report - Claims List 
Report date:  10/26/2021

Page:     3

Name Description DEPARTMENT Net 

Invoice Amount

 Total EBEL'S ACE HARDWARE: 80.73

EJ USA, INC. HYDRANT REPAIR PARTS PUBLIC WORKS 1,275.00

 Total EJ USA, INC.: 1,275.00

EXPERT CHEMICAL DISPOSABLE COMMODITIES PUBLIC WORKS 85.00

EXPERT CHEMICAL DISPOSABLE COMMODITIES PUBLIC WORKS 127.74

 Total EXPERT CHEMICAL: 212.74

FEDERAL EXPRESS MANAGER'S OFFICE 28.89

FEDERAL EXPRESS

EXPRESS POSTAGE FEES 

EXPRESS  POSTAGE  FEES MANAGER'S OFFICE 21.99

 Total FEDERAL EXPRESS: 50.88

FIRST MIDWEST BANK/FINANC ANNUAL CONFERENCE - NEW USER TRAINING MANAGER'S OFFICE 25.00

 Total FIRST MIDWEST BANK/FINANCE: 25.00

FIRST MIDWEST BANK/FIRE UNIFORM SHIRTS FIRE DEPARTMENT 69.90

FIRST MIDWEST BANK/FIRE UNIFORM SHIRTS FIRE DEPARTMENT 69.90

 Total FIRST MIDWEST BANK/FIRE: 139.80

FIRST MIDWEST BANK/MGRS MANAGER'S OFFICE 191.20

FIRST MIDWEST BANK/MGRS

LUNCHEON
POLICE & FIRE COMMISSION MEMBERSHIP MANAGER'S OFFICE 375.00

FIRST MIDWEST BANK/MGRS ANNUAL PODCASTING PLAN-FOR HOMEWOOD PODCAST MANAGER'S OFFICE 108.00

FIRST MIDWEST BANK/MGRS FALL DECORATIONS FOR DOWNTOWN HOMEWOOD MANAGER'S OFFICE 132.80

FIRST MIDWEST BANK/MGRS DECORATIONS FOR FALL FEST  MANAGER'S OFFICE 35.00

FIRST MIDWEST BANK/MGRS SUPPLIES FOR CRAFTS&DECORATIONS FOR FALL FEST MANAGER'S OFFICE 84.36

FIRST MIDWEST BANK/MGRS MANAGER'S OFFICE 127.72

FIRST MIDWEST BANK/MGRS MANAGER'S OFFICE 27.25

FIRST MIDWEST BANK/MGRS MANAGER'S OFFICE 22.00-

FIRST MIDWEST BANK/MGRS MANAGER'S OFFICE 19.00

FIRST MIDWEST BANK/MGRS MANAGER'S OFFICE 21.49

FIRST MIDWEST BANK/MGRS MANAGER'S OFFICE 35.64

FIRST MIDWEST BANK/MGRS MANAGER'S OFFICE 77.65

FIRST MIDWEST BANK/MGRS MANAGER'S OFFICE 1,091.50

FIRST MIDWEST BANK/MGRS MANAGER'S OFFICE 107.88

FIRST MIDWEST BANK/MGRS MANAGER'S OFFICE 53.77

FIRST MIDWEST BANK/MGRS MANAGER'S OFFICE 46.69

FIRST MIDWEST BANK/MGRS MANAGER'S OFFICE 134.99

FIRST MIDWEST BANK/MGRS MANAGER'S OFFICE 254.87

FIRST MIDWEST BANK/MGRS MANAGER'S OFFICE 127.37

FIRST MIDWEST BANK/MGRS MANAGER'S OFFICE 31.74

FIRST MIDWEST BANK/MGRS MANAGER'S OFFICE 39.99

FIRST MIDWEST BANK/MGRS MANAGER'S OFFICE 405.10

FIRST MIDWEST BANK/MGRS MANAGER'S OFFICE 4.20

FIRST MIDWEST BANK/MGRS MANAGER'S OFFICE 6.30

FIRST MIDWEST BANK/MGRS MANAGER'S OFFICE 235.27

FIRST MIDWEST BANK/MGRS

SNACKS FOR THE BANDS PERFORMING AT FALL FEST 

CHILI COOK-OFF JUDGING

DISCOUNT FROM ZELDENRUST 

DAY OF THE DEAD 

OFFICE SUPPLIES

DOMAIN NAME RENEWAL

SHARPIES FOR DAY OF DEAD MASKS

HAY BALES, CORN HUSKS, MUMS, AND PUMPKINS 

DOMAIN RENEWAL HOSTING DISCOVER-HOMEWOOD 
ITEMS FOR FALL FEST 

LUNCHEON SUPPLIES

RAM UPGRADE MARINO PC

ANNUAL SUBSCRIPTION ADOBE PREMIERE-MGRS 

ANNUAL SUBSCRIPTION ADOBE PHOTOSHOP- MGRS 

BOWLS FOR FALL FEST CHILI COOK-OFF

LUNCHEON
CRAFTS FOR DAY OF THE DEAD

COMCAST TV SERVICES 

TV SERVICE VILLAGE HALL

INTERNET/PHONE SERVICES BCTC

INTERNET AND PHONE L&M MANAGER'S OFFICE 193.66

FIRST MIDWEST BANK/MGRS INTERNET AND PHONE SERVICES WATER PLANT 183RD MANAGER'S OFFICE 145.54

FIRST MIDWEST BANK/MGRS INTERNET SERVICES SCIENCE CENTER MANAGER'S OFFICE 148.35

FIRST MIDWEST BANK/MGRS FAX/SCADA LINES PUBLIC WORKS MANAGER'S OFFICE 150.43

FIRST MIDWEST BANK/MGRS FAX LINES VH MANAGER'S OFFICE 150.81
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VILLAGE OF HOMEWOOD Payment Approval Report - Claims List 
Report date:  10/26/2021

Page:     4

Name Description DEPARTMENT Net 

Invoice Amount

FIRST MIDWEST BANK/MGRS FAX LINES PD/FD MANAGER'S OFFICE 90.19

FIRST MIDWEST BANK/MGRS ANNUAL SUBSCRIPTION SHAREPOINT MANAGER'S OFFICE 480.00

FIRST MIDWEST BANK/MGRS 3 BANNERS FOR DAY OF THE DEAD PROMOTION  MANAGER'S OFFICE 117.82

FIRST MIDWEST BANK/MGRS NEW BRANDED TABLE CLOTH TO USE AT EVENTS MANAGER'S OFFICE 303.24

FIRST MIDWEST BANK/MGRS FLOWERS, MUMS, CORN HUSKS,  AND PUMPKINS             MANAGER'S OFFICE 414.13

FIRST MIDWEST BANK/MGRS MONTHLY ZOOM WEBINAR FEE MANAGER'S OFFICE 40.00

FIRST MIDWEST BANK/MGRS HF CHRONICLE AD MANAGER'S OFFICE 316.00

FIRST MIDWEST BANK/MGRS APPLE MUSIC SUBSCRIPTION MANAGER'S OFFICE 9.99

FIRST MIDWEST BANK/MGRS WITCHES NIGHT OUT BAGS  MANAGER'S OFFICE 431.17

FIRST MIDWEST BANK/MGRS ARTWORK WNO BAGS MANAGER'S OFFICE 136.00

FIRST MIDWEST BANK/MGRS STICKERS FOR FALL FEST  MANAGER'S OFFICE 75.00

 Total FIRST MIDWEST BANK/MGRS: 6,955.11

FIRST MIDWEST BANK/POLICE SHREDDING POLICE DEPARTMENT 150.00

FIRST MIDWEST BANK/POLICE MONTHLY SHREDDING POLICE DEPARTMENT 150.00

FIRST MIDWEST BANK/POLICE BACKGROUND CHECKS POLICE DEPARTMENT 138.40

FIRST MIDWEST BANK/POLICE UNIFORM COMMENDATION BARS POLICE DEPARTMENT 854.50

FIRST MIDWEST BANK/POLICE OFFICE SUPPLIES POLICE DEPARTMENT 119.94

FIRST MIDWEST BANK/POLICE POSTAGE FOR RETURNED BADGES POLICE DEPARTMENT 10.49

FIRST MIDWEST BANK/POLICE POSTAGE FOR RETURNED BADGES POLICE DEPARTMENT 6.90

FIRST MIDWEST BANK/POLICE JUNIOR POLICE BADGES POLICE DEPARTMENT 595.00

FIRST MIDWEST BANK/POLICE VICTIM INFORMATION NOTICES POLICE DEPARTMENT 172.90

FIRST MIDWEST BANK/POLICE CANCELLED FLIGHT FOR SPILLMAN CONFERENCE POLICE DEPARTMENT 185.99-

FIRST MIDWEST BANK/POLICE LODGING FOR HONOR GUARD TRAINING POLICE DEPARTMENT 480.00

FIRST MIDWEST BANK/POLICE GUN LOCKERS POLICE DEPARTMENT 1,048.34

FIRST MIDWEST BANK/POLICE ILACP ANNUAL MEMBERSHIP POLICE DEPARTMENT 115.00

FIRST MIDWEST BANK/POLICE RETRACTABLE BANNERS POLICE DEPARTMENT 276.66

FIRST MIDWEST BANK/POLICE OFFICE SUPPLIES POLICE DEPARTMENT 29.21

 Total FIRST MIDWEST BANK/POLICE: 3,961.35

FIRST MIDWEST BANK/PUBLIC PUMP PARTS FOR FOUNTAINS PUBLIC WORKS 332.00

FIRST MIDWEST BANK/PUBLIC FIRE PIT PARTS  PUBLIC WORKS 1,441.00

FIRST MIDWEST BANK/PUBLIC BUILDING MAINT SUPPLIES PUBLIC WORKS 100.74

FIRST MIDWEST BANK/PUBLIC TRAINING PUBLIC WORKS 148.00

FIRST MIDWEST BANK/PUBLIC CLEARANCE HEIGHT STICKERS PUBLIC WORKS 33.46

FIRST MIDWEST BANK/PUBLIC WATER PUBLIC WORKS 235.79

 Total FIRST MIDWEST BANK/PUBLIC WORKS: 2,290.99

FLOW TECHNICS STORM WATER 1 PUMP REPLACEMENT PUBLIC WORKS 31,125.00

FLOW TECHNICS STORWATER STATION PUMP REPAIR PUBLIC WORKS 1,799.16

FLOW TECHNICS LIFT STATION 4 PUMP REPLACEMENT PUBLIC WORKS 36,025.00

FLOW TECHNICS LIFT STATION 4 PUMP RAIL REPAIRS PUBLIC WORKS 1,462.80

 Total FLOW TECHNICS: 70,411.96

FORD OF HOMEWOOD STREET DEPT DUMP BRAKE BOLTS PUBLIC WORKS 35.72

FORD OF HOMEWOOD STREET DEPT UTILITY WINDOW VISOR PUBLIC WORKS 89.61

FORD OF HOMEWOOD POLICE UTILITY WIPER BLADES PUBLIC WORKS 28.40

FORD OF HOMEWOOD POLICE UTILITY WIPER BLADES PUBLIC WORKS 34.08

FORD OF HOMEWOOD VEHICLE PARTS FIRE DEPARTMENT 7.22

FORD OF HOMEWOOD POLICE UTILITY WIPER BLADES PUBLIC WORKS 44.96

 Total FORD OF HOMEWOOD: 239.99
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VILLAGE OF HOMEWOOD Payment Approval Report - Claims List 
Report date:  10/26/2021

Page:     5

Name Description DEPARTMENT Net 

Invoice Amount

FOSTER COACH SALES INC VEHICLE PARTS FIRE DEPARTMENT 71.44

 Total FOSTER COACH SALES INC: 71.44

GALLAGHER ASPHALT MFT PATCH MILLING PUBLIC WORKS 15,337.05

       Total GALLAGHER ASPHALT: 15,337.05

GASVODA & ASSOCIATES CHLORINE TUBING PUBLIC WORKS 375.00

       Total GASVODA & ASSOCIATES: 375.00

GEOMAT, INC ASPHALT - PW PUBLIC WORKS 690.00

       Total GEOMAT, INC: 690.00

GFC LEASING MONTHLY COPY MACHINE LEASE PAYMENT MANAGER'S OFFICE 944.24

       Total GFC LEASING: 944.24

GORDON FLESCH CO, INC 85.75

GORDON FLESCH CO, INC

MONTHLY PRINTER MAINTENANCE ALL STAND-ALONE     MANAGER'S OFFICE 
PRINTING CHARGES ALL COPY MACHINES                              MANAGER'S OFFICE 659.45

       Total GORDON FLESCH CO, INC: 745.20

GREAT FRAME UP MOUNT & FRAME FLAGS POLICE DEPARTMENT 1,533.87

       Total GREAT FRAME UP: 1,533.87

GREEN GLEN NURSERY, WALTON PLANTINGS PUBLIC WORKS 250.00

 Total GREEN GLEN NURSERY,: 250.00

HISKES, DILLNER, O'DONNELL CONTRACTING/CONSULTING MANAGER'S OFFICE 2,263.39

 Total HISKES, DILLNER, O'DONNELL: 2,263.39

HOMEWOOD DISPOSAL DUMPSTER AND DISPOSAL FEES FOR BOGART'S DEMO FIRE DEPARTMENT 595.10

HOMEWOOD DISPOSAL DUMPSTER AND DISPOSAL FEES FOR BOGART'S DEMO FIRE DEPARTMENT 591.80

HOMEWOOD DISPOSAL DUMPSTER AND DISPOSAL FEES FOR BOGART'S DEMO FIRE DEPARTMENT 639.65

HOMEWOOD DISPOSAL DUMPSTER AND DISPOSAL FEES FOR BOGART'S DEMO FIRE DEPARTMENT 613.80

HOMEWOOD DISPOSAL DUMPSTER AND DISPOSAL FEES FOR BOGART'S DEMO FIRE DEPARTMENT 655.05

HOMEWOOD DISPOSAL DUMPSTER AND DISPOSAL FEES FOR BOGART'S DEMO FIRE DEPARTMENT 697.95

HOMEWOOD DISPOSAL DUMPSTER AND DISPOSAL FEES FOR BOGART'S DEMO FIRE DEPARTMENT 535.15

HOMEWOOD DISPOSAL DUMPSTER AND DISPOSAL FEES FOR BOGART'S DEMO FIRE DEPARTMENT 647.35

HOMEWOOD DISPOSAL DUMPSTER AND DISPOSAL FEES FOR BOGART'S DEMO FIRE DEPARTMENT 532.40

HOMEWOOD DISPOSAL DUMPSTER AND DISPOSAL FEES FOR BOGART'S DEMO FIRE DEPARTMENT 557.70

HOMEWOOD DISPOSAL DUMPSTER AND DISPOSAL FEES FOR BOGART'S DEMO FIRE DEPARTMENT 609.40

HOMEWOOD DISPOSAL DUMPSTER AND DISPOSAL FEES FOR BOGART'S DEMO FIRE DEPARTMENT 614.35

HOMEWOOD DISPOSAL DUMPSTER AND DISPOSAL FEES FOR BOGART'S DEMO FIRE DEPARTMENT 624.25

HOMEWOOD DISPOSAL DUMPSTER AND DISPOSAL FEES FOR BOGART'S DEMO FIRE DEPARTMENT 605.55

HOMEWOOD DISPOSAL DUMPSTER AND DISPOSAL FEES FOR BOGART'S DEMO FIRE DEPARTMENT 667.15

HOMEWOOD DISPOSAL FALL FEST MANAGER'S OFFICE 193.05

HOMEWOOD DISPOSAL OCTOBER MONTHLY CHARGES PUBLIC WORKS 591.43

 Total HOMEWOOD DISPOSAL: 9,971.13
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VILLAGE OF HOMEWOOD Payment Approval Report - Claims List 
Report date:  10/26/2021

Page:     6

Name Description DEPARTMENT Net 

Invoice Amount

ILLINOIS CENTRAL SWEEPING STREET SWEEPING PUBLIC WORKS 800.00

       Total ILLINOIS CENTRAL SWEEPING: 800.00

INGALLS OCCUPATIONAL HEAL PRE-EMPLOYMENT PHYSICAL MANAGER'S OFFICE 213.00

       Total INGALLS OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH: 213.00

INT'L MUNICIPAL LAWYERS AS ANNUAL IMLA MEMBERSHIP FOR VILLAGE ATTY MANAGER'S OFFICE 625.00

       Total INT'L MUNICIPAL LAWYERS ASSN.: 625.00

IRMA WORD SEED CHURCH MANAGER'S OFFICE 13,880.00

 Total IRMA: 13,880.00

JAMES FINFROCK 80% MEDICARE SUPPLEMENT REIMBURSEMENT MANAGER'S OFFICE 400.00

 Total JAMES FINFROCK: 400.00

JONES PARTS & SERVICE INC STEET DEPT PLOW TRUCK FILTERS PUBLIC WORKS 480.25

 Total JONES PARTS & SERVICE INC: 480.25

KELLER-HEARTT,INC VEHICLE MAINT TRUCK OIL 215 GALLONS PUBLIC WORKS 1,472.75

       Total KELLER-HEARTT,INC: 1,472.75

KENNETH TESAR DEPOSIT REFUND ASSETS 5.99

       Total KENNETH TESAR: 5.99

LANER MUCHIN, LTD RETAINER/LABOR RELATIONS MANAGER'S OFFICE 3,666.67

       Total LANER MUCHIN, LTD: 3,666.67

LEADSONLINE LLC ANNUAL FEE POLICE DEPARTMENT 2,212.44

       Total LEADSONLINE LLC: 2,212.44

LEW APOLON OVERPAYMENT  ASSETS 3,830.31

 Total LEW APOLON: 3,830.31

LOGSDON CONSULTATION EOP MONTHLY FEE FIRE DEPARTMENT 350.00

 Total LOGSDON CONSULTATION: 350.00

M E SIMPSON CO INC LEAK LOCATION PUBLIC WORKS 475.00

       Total M E SIMPSON CO INC: 475.00

MAXIMILIAN MASSI TRAINING - PW PUBLIC WORKS 95.00

       Total MAXIMILIAN MASSI: 95.00

MCMASTER CARR SUPPLY BLDG MAINT SUPPLIES - PW PUBLIC WORKS 8.67
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Page:     7

Name Description DEPARTMENT Net 

Invoice Amount

 Total MCMASTER CARR SUPPLY: 8.67

MENARDS INC BUILDING MAINT SUPPLIES PUBLIC WORKS 86.57

MENARDS INC BUILDING MAINT SUPPLIES PUBLIC WORKS 21.98

MENARDS INC BUILDING MAINT SUPPLIES PUBLIC WORKS 80.78

MENARDS INC TRUCK SUPPLIES PUBLIC WORKS 44.97

MENARDS INC CLEANING SUPPLIES PUBLIC WORKS 20.74

MENARDS INC SEWER JET SUPPLIES PUBLIC WORKS 59.18

MENARDS INC BUILDING MAINT SUPPLIES PUBLIC WORKS 54.77

MENARDS INC BUILDING MAINT SUPPLIES PUBLIC WORKS 11.73

MENARDS INC BUILDING MAINT SUPPLIES PUBLIC WORKS 6.76

MENARDS INC OPERATING SUPPLIES FIRE DEPARTMENT 110.30

MENARDS INC BUILDING MAINT SUPPLIES PUBLIC WORKS 213.60

MENARDS INC BUILDING MAINT SUPPLIES PUBLIC WORKS 22.48

MENARDS INC OPERATING SUPPLIES FIRE DEPARTMENT 59.68

MENARDS INC BUILDING MAINT SUPPLIES PUBLIC WORKS 15.99

MENARDS INC PD LOCKUP/CLOSET PUBLIC WORKS 420.64

MENARDS INC PD REPAIRS PUBLIC WORKS 80.97

MENARDS INC ELECTRICAL SUPPLIES PUBLIC WORKS 60.91

MENARDS INC BUILDING MAINT SUPPLIES PUBLIC WORKS 9.99-

 Total MENARDS INC: 1,362.06

METRO TANK ANNUAL UNDERGROUND FUEL STORAGE INSPECTION PUBLIC WORKS 1,950.00

 Total METRO TANK: 1,950.00

METROPOLITAN INDUSTRIES I PUMP MOUNTING BRACKETS PUBLIC WORKS 2,040.00

 Total METROPOLITAN INDUSTRIES INC: 2,040.00

MICHAEL BARTELSEN 80% MEDICARE SUPPLEMENT REIMBURSEMENT MANAGER'S OFFICE 334.58

 Total MICHAEL BARTELSEN: 334.58

MICHAEL NICKOLAOU 80% MEDICARE SUPPLEMENT REIMBURSEMENT MANAGER'S OFFICE 147.88

 Total MICHAEL NICKOLAOU: 147.88

MONARCH AUTO SUPPLY STREET DEPT PLOW SHOES PUBLIC WORKS 286.23

MONARCH AUTO SUPPLY STREET DEPT SNOW PLOW OIL PUBLIC WORKS 47.79

MONARCH AUTO SUPPLY WATER DEPT DUMP TAILIGHT PUBLIC WORKS 7.10

MONARCH AUTO SUPPLY WATER DEPT DUMP TAILIGHT PUBLIC WORKS 31.66

MONARCH AUTO SUPPLY VEHICLE MAINTENANCE DEPT BRAKE CLEANER PUBLIC WORKS 62.40

MONARCH AUTO SUPPLY VEHICLE MAINT WASHER SOLVENT  PUBLIC WORKS 18.54

 Total MONARCH AUTO SUPPLY: 453.72

O'HERRON CO QUARTERMASTER-UNIFORMS-PD POLICE DEPARTMENT 38.49

O'HERRON CO QUARTERMASTER-UNIFORMS-PD POLICE DEPARTMENT 239.99

O'HERRON CO QUARTERMASTER-UNIFORMS-PD POLICE DEPARTMENT 107.00

 Total O'HERRON CO: 385.48

OTTOSEN DINOLFO HASENBAL CONTRACTING/CONSULTING MANAGER'S OFFICE 292.50
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Report date:  10/26/2021

Page:     8

Name Description DEPARTMENT Net 

Invoice Amount

 Total OTTOSEN DINOLFO HASENBALG & CASTALDO LTD: 292.50

RA D'ORAZIO FORD INC 2021 FORD POLICE INTERCEPTOR UTILITY  UNIT #10-211 PUBLIC WORKS 42,428.60

       Total RA D'ORAZIO FORD INC: 42,428.60

RAYMOND PRESNAK 80% MEDICARE SUPPLEMENT REIMBURSEMENT MANAGER'S OFFICE 237.60

 Total RAYMOND PRESNAK: 237.60

RED WING BUSINESS ADVANT QUARTERMASTER UNIFORM FIRE DEPARTMENT 143.99

 Total RED WING BUSINESS ADVANTAGE: 143.99

RELIANCE SAFETY LANE & SE VEHICLE MAINT - FD FIRE DEPARTMENT 82.00

       Total RELIANCE SAFETY LANE & SERVICE: 82.00

ROBERT MCMILLER DEPOSIT  REFUND ASSETS 44.68

       Total ROBERT MCMILLER: 44.68

ROEDA, INC RIGHT TURN ONLY SIGN POLICE DEPARTMENT 65.00

       Total ROEDA, INC: 65.00

RONALD J. NIXON QUARTERMASTER-UNIFORMS-PD POLICE DEPARTMENT 22.50

RONALD J. NIXON QUARTERMASTER-UNIFORMS-PD POLICE DEPARTMENT 90.00

 Total RONALD J. NIXON: 112.50

SARAH JOHANNA MEEKS CONTRACTUAL GRAPHIC DESIGNER/SOCIAL MEDIA MANAGER'S OFFICE 1,188.00

       Total SARAH JOHANNA MEEKS: 1,188.00

SEBIS DIRECT, INC SEPTMEBER 2021 BILLING PUBLIC WORKS 849.37

       Total SEBIS DIRECT, INC: 849.37

SHERWIN WILLIAMS PAINT PUBLIC WORKS 84.64

       Total SHERWIN WILLIAMS: 84.64

SHOREWOOD HOME & AUTO IN L&M DEPT SIDEWALK MACHINES PM FILTERS PUBLIC WORKS 726.88

       Total SHOREWOOD HOME & AUTO INC.: 726.88

SOUTH SUBURBAN PADS PADS CONTRIBUTION ASSETS 292.00

       Total SOUTH SUBURBAN PADS: 292.00

SPEER FINANCIAL INC. AUDIT STATS TABLES ASSISTANCE MANAGER'S OFFICE 500.00

       Total SPEER FINANCIAL INC.: 500.00

SUBURBAN LABORATORIES IN WATER SAMPLES PUBLIC WORKS 305.00
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 Total SUBURBAN LABORATORIES INC: 305.00

SWIFT SAW & TOOL SUPPLY STREET DEPT BACKHOE PIN REPAIR SUPPLIES PUBLIC WORKS 579.83

 Total SWIFT SAW & TOOL SUPPLY: 579.83

THE EAGLE UNIFORM CO, INC QUARTERMASTER-UNIFORMS-PD POLICE DEPARTMENT 403.00

THE EAGLE UNIFORM CO, INC QUARTERMASTER-UNIFORMS-PD POLICE DEPARTMENT 106.95

 Total THE EAGLE UNIFORM CO, INC: 509.95

THOMPSON ELEVATOR INSPEC 3 SEMI-ANNUAL ELEVATOR CODE INSPECTIONS FIRE DEPARTMENT 102.00

THOMPSON ELEVATOR INSPEC 1 SEMI-ANNUAL ELEVATOR CODE REINSPECTION FIRE DEPARTMENT 38.00

THOMPSON ELEVATOR INSPEC 2 ELEVATOR CERTIFICATES FIRE DEPARTMENT 8.00

THOMPSON ELEVATOR INSPEC 1 ELEVATOR CERTIFICATE FIRE DEPARTMENT 4.00

THOMPSON ELEVATOR INSPEC 2 SEMI-ANNUAL ELEVATOR INSPECTIONS FIRE DEPARTMENT 72.00

 Total THOMPSON ELEVATOR INSPECTION: 224.00

THORN CREEK BASIN SAN DIS TCBSD REVENUE PAYOUT ASSETS 87,676.21

THORN CREEK BASIN SAN DIS LATE PMT PENALTIES CHARGED TO CUSTOMERS ASSETS 1,341.72

 Total THORN CREEK BASIN SAN DISTRICT: 89,017.93

TRL TIRE SERVICE TIRES STREET DEPT DUMP TIRES PUBLIC WORKS 650.79

TRL TIRE SERVICE STREET DEPT DUMP TIRES PUBLIC WORKS 1,222.63

TRL TIRE SERVICE WATER DEPT DUMP TIRES PUBLIC WORKS 3,612.72

TRL TIRE SERVICE WATER DEPT DUMP RIMS PUBLIC WORKS 883.75

TRL TIRE SERVICE WATER DEPT DUMP RIMS AND TIRE INSTALLATION PUBLIC WORKS 436.00

 Total TRL TIRE SERVICE: 6,805.89

TRONC LEGAL NOTICES MANAGER'S OFFICE 2,126.51

 Total TRONC: 2,126.51

TRUGREEN WATER PLANT 2 PUBLIC WORKS 95.00

TRUGREEN MSC PUBLIC WORKS 155.00

TRUGREEN VILLAGE HALL PUBLIC WORKS 60.00

 Total TRUGREEN: 310.00

USA  BLUEBOOK CHLORINE SAMPLE SUPPLIES PUBLIC WORKS 567.29

 Total USA  BLUEBOOK: 567.29

UTERMARK & SONS GRASS CUTTING AT 1 PROPERTY FIRE DEPARTMENT 47.73

       Total UTERMARK & SONS: 47.73

VAN SIPMA'S JEWELERS SENIOR ID BRACELETS ASSETS 838.00

 Total VAN SIPMA'S JEWELERS: 838.00

VERIZON WIRELESS MOBILE PHONE SERVICE-ALL DEPTS MANAGER'S OFFICE 2,631.09
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 Total VERIZON WIRELESS: 2,631.09

WALTS FOOD CENTER PAYMENT DIFFERENCE PUBLIC WORKS 4.48

 Total WALTS FOOD CENTER: 4.48

WAREHOUSE DIRECT OFFICE OFFICE SUPPLIES MANAGER'S OFFICE 280.79

WAREHOUSE DIRECT OFFICE OFFICE SUPPLIES DISPOSABLES MANAGER'S OFFICE 85.70

WAREHOUSE DIRECT OFFICE OFFICE SUPPLIES FIRE DEPARTMENT 84.34

WAREHOUSE DIRECT OFFICE BLINDS FOR PD  PUBLIC WORKS 430.47

WAREHOUSE DIRECT OFFICE OFFICE SUPPLIES PUBLIC WORKS 165.01

WAREHOUSE DIRECT OFFICE OFFICE SUPPLIES PUBLIC WORKS 36.62

 Total WAREHOUSE DIRECT OFFICE PDTS: 1,082.93

WEST SIDE TRACTOR SALES WATER DEPT BACKHOE SWINGER PIN REMOVAL PUBLIC WORKS 1,070.34

WEST SIDE TRACTOR SALES STREET DEPT BACKHOE HYDRAULIC CYLINDER  PUBLIC WORKS 2,812.92

WEST SIDE TRACTOR SALES WATER DEPT BACKHOE BUCKET PUBLIC WORKS 1,375.00

 Total WEST SIDE TRACTOR SALES: 5,258.26

WEX HEALTH, INC SEPTEMBER FSA FEE MANAGER'S OFFICE 289.00

 Total WEX HEALTH, INC: 289.00

WIEST CURT QUARTERMASTER-UNIFORMS-PD POLICE DEPARTMENT 36.00

       Total WIEST CURT: 36.00

Zoos Are Us Inc. REINDEER AT HOLIDAY LIGHTS MANAGER'S OFFICE 1,052.50

 Total Zoos Are Us Inc.: 1,052.50

 Grand Totals:  388,630.75

       Dated: ______________________________________________________

 Village Clerk: ______________________________________________________
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VILLAGE OF HOMEWOOD 
 

 
 
BOARD AGENDA MEMORANDUM        DATE OF MEETING:  October 26, 2021 
 
To:  Jim Marino, Village Manager 
 
From:  Angela Mesaros, Director of Economic and Community Development 
 
Topic:  Sale of Property at 18225 Dixie Highway  
 
PURPOSE 
Homewood Brewing, LLC d/b/a Homewood Brewing Company (HBC) has submitted a letter of 
intent to purchase the property at 18225 Dixie Highway. This property is the former Bogart's 
Charhouse restaurant.  Homewood Brewing Company proposes to construct a 12,000 square 
foot single-story brewery and restaurant.  The new facility will include a brewhouse and full-
service kitchen as well as a taproom, dining room, and an outdoor seating area.  The Village has 
solicited alternative bids and received no bids. The Village’s next step is to enter into a purchase 
and sale agreement with Homewood Brewing Company. 
 
PROCESS 
In 2018, the Village acquired the property in a tax foreclosure sale.  At that time, the building 
had been vacant for approximately nine years. In October 2020, the Village established the 
Dixie Highway/Miller Court Tax Increment Financing District (TIF), which includes this property. 
The intent was to secure this property and provide incentives for suitable development.  
Recently, the Village partnered with the Cook County Sheriff’s Restoring Neighborhoods 
Workforce (RENEW) program to demolish the building and prepare the site for redevelopment.  
 
As required, the Village has provided the opportunity for other interested parties to submit 
alternate proposals to purchase the property. The Village has received no bids. Therefore, the 
Village intends to move forward with the sale of the property to Homewood Brewing Company. 
 
OUTCOME 
The sale of the former Bogart’s property will result in the redevelopment of an underutilized 
vacant property at the gateway of downtown Homewood. Homewood Brewing Company plans 
to construct a restaurant and brewery. A restaurant is a targeted business and will attract 
customers to Homewood.  Redevelopment of the property will improve the overall physical 
conditions of the area and augment the area’s mix of commercial uses.   
 
FINANCIAL IMPACT 
Funding Source: No Financial Impact 
 Budgeted Amount: N/A 
 Cost:  N/A 
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VILLAGE OF HOMEWOOD 
 

 
 
LEGAL REVIEW  
Completed 
 
RECOMMENDED BOARD ACTION 
Authorize the Village President to enter into a commercial sales contract with Homewood 
Brewing, LLC, d/b/a Homewood Brewing Company, of Orland Park, IL for $1 for the property  
located at 18225 Dixie Highway.  
 
ATTACHMENT(S) 
 Ordinance  
 Sales Contract 
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ORDINANCE M-2199 
 

AN ORDINANCE APPROVING A REAL ESTATE PURCHASE AND SALE 
AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE VILLAGE OF HOMEWOOD  

AND HOMEWOOD BREWING, LLC 
 
 

WHEREAS, the Village of Homewood, Cook County, Illinois (the 
“Village”) owns real estate within the Dixie Highway/Miller Court Tax 
Incremental Redevelopment Project Area; and 

 
WHEREAS, Homewood Brewing, LLC has offered to purchase land 

owned by the Village within the redevelopment project area development 
according to the terms of the Purchase and Sale Agreement attached to this 
Ordinance as Exhibit A; and 

WHEREAS, as required by 65 ILCS 5/11-74.4-4, the Village provided a 
reasonable opportunity for any other person to submit an alternate proposal or 
bid for the sale and redevelopment of this property by publishing a notice 
soliciting alternate bids by October 12, 2021; and 

WHEREAS, the Village received no alternate bids for the property; and 

WHEREAS, the President and Board of Trustees find it to be in the 
village’s best interest to enter into a contract to sell the property at 18225 Dixie 
Highway to Homewood Brewing, LLC, contingent upon negotiation of a 
redevelopment agreement. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the President and Board of 

Trustees of the Village of Homewood, Cook County, Illinois: 
 
SECTION ONE – APPROVAL AND AUTHORIZATION TO EXECUTE REAL ESTATE 

PURCHASE AND SALE AGREEMENT. 

(a) The proposed Purchase and Sale Agreement between the Village 
and Homewood Brewing, LLC is hereby approved. The Village President and 
Village Clerk are authorized to execute that Agreement. 

(b) The Village Attorney or his nominee is authorized to close the 
transfer of the said parcel to Homewood Brewing, LLC. The Village Attorney or 
his nominee, elected officials, and members of the Village staff, as appropriate, 
are authorized to execute all documents necessary to complete this transaction. 
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SECTION TWO – EFFECTIVE DATE. 
 
This Ordinance shall be effective upon its passage and approval as provided by 
law. 
 
PASSED AND APPROVED this 26th day of October, 2021. 
 
 

By: ________________________________________ 
 Village President 

 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
______________________________________ 
 Village Clerk 
 
 
AYES: ______  NAYS: ______  ABSTENTIONS: ______  ABSENCES: ______ 
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STATE OF ILLINOIS )  
 ) SS 
COUNTY OF COOK )  

 I, the undersigned do hereby certify that I am the Village Clerk of the 
Village of Homewood, Cook County, Illinois, and as such I am the keeper of the 
records and files of the President and Board of Trustees of said Village. 

 I do further certify that the attached and foregoing is a correct copy of an 
ordinance M-_____ entitled: 

AN ORDINANCE APPROVING A REAL ESTATE PURCHASE  

AND SALE AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE VILLAGE OF HOMEWOOD 

AND HOMEWOOD BREWING, LLC 

as adopted by the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Homewood 
at its regularly convened meeting held on October 26, 2021, and as signed by the 
President of said Village on October ____, 2021, all as appears from the official 
records of said Village in my care and custody. 

 In witness whereof, I have affixed my official signature and the corporate 
seal of the Village of Homewood, Illinois on ___________________, 2021. 

 
 

____________________________________ 
Village Clerk 

 

(SEAL) 
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REAL ESTATE PURCHASE AND SALE AGREEMENT 

THIS REAL ESTATE PURCHASE AND SALE AGREEMENT (“Agreement”) is 
made this ____ day of October, 2021, between Homewood Brewing, LLC, or its assignee 
(“Purchaser”), and the Village of Homewood (“Seller”). The date that the last party 
signs the Agreement and delivers a copy to the other party shall be the date filled in 
above and shall be referred to herein as the “Effective Date.” 

W I T N E S S E T H : 

THAT FOR and in consideration of the mutual covenants, agreements and 
undertakings herein set forth, and other valuable considerations, the receipt and 
sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, Seller agrees to sell and convey to 
Purchaser and Purchaser agrees to purchase from Seller the real property described in 
Paragraph 1 below on the terms hereinafter set forth: 

1. Agreement of Purchase and Sale. 

Subject to the terms contained in this Agreement, Seller agrees to sell to 
Purchaser, and Purchaser agrees to purchase from Seller: 

1.1. The real property legally described in Exhibit A attached and as shown on 
Exhibit B attached, consisting of approximately 1.05 acres of land (collectively the 
“Land”) at 18225 Dixie Highway, Homewood, Illinois, 60430. 

1.2 All improvements on the Land, including, without limitation, 
landscaping, parking lot, and other improvements (collectively called the 
“Improvements”). 

1.3 All mineral, water, irrigation and other property rights of Seller, if any, 
running with or otherwise pertaining to such Land. 

1.4 All of Seller’s right, title and interest in any easements, covenants, 
declarations, reciprocal easement agreements, tenements, hereditaments, gaps, 
gores and appurtenances to the Land. 

The property interests described in Sections 1.1 through 1.4 hereof are hereinafter 
referred to as the “Property.” 

2. Purchase Price. 

2.1 The Purchase Price for the Property (the “Purchase Price”) shall be One 
Dollar ($1.00). 
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2.2 The Purchase Price shall be payable by delivery by Purchaser to Seller at 
Closing of good federal funds by check or wire transfer in an amount equal to 
the Purchase Price, subject to adjustment as provided herein and as set forth in 
the settlement statement. 

3. Seller’s Deliveries. 

On or before the Effective Date, Seller shall deliver to Purchaser copies of all the 
items on Exhibit C attached (the “Due Diligence Materials”) to the extent in Seller’s 
possession. If Seller obtains new or updated information or documentation regarding 
the Property before Closing, Seller shall immediately notify Purchaser of such fact and 
will promptly deliver all such supplemental information and documentation to 
Purchaser. Seller is not aware of any inaccuracies or incomplete documents in the Due 
Diligence Materials and Seller warrants that the copies delivered are true, correct and 
complete copies of the documents. 

4. Contingency for Inspection, Approvals and Third-Party End Users. 

4.1. Inspection Period. 

(a) During the period commencing on the Effective Date and ending at 
6:00 p.m. (CST) on the day which is thirty (30) days thereafter (the “Inspection 
Period”), Purchaser shall have the right, at Purchaser’s sole cost and expense, to: 
(i) review the Due Diligence Materials, (ii) inspect and test the Property, 
including, but not limited to, for engineering, environmental, zoning, appraisals, 
to obtain a new survey or update an existing survey, to perform marketing and 
cost studies and for any other purposes related to Purchaser’s determination of 
the feasibility of the Property, (iii) obtain any necessary zoning approvals, special 
use permits, conditional use approvals, variances, administrative approvals, 
subdivisions, consolidations, annexation agreements, parking agreements, 
easements, vacations, permits, plat of subdivisions, and similar approvals or 
documents with the municipality, county, any other governmental authority or 
any entity or agency, and (iv) obtain leases, agreements or contracts from any 
purchasers or third party end users, all for Purchaser’s intended use of the 
Property as rental apartments, hotel rooms, commercial space or otherwise. 
Seller shall cooperate with Purchaser’s efforts to obtain any approvals and shall 
diligently sign any zoning applications, permit applications, ownership 
authorization and provide any documentation or information required by the 
applicable governmental authority or agency as part of Purchaser’s process to 
obtain its approvals. 

(b) Purchaser shall give Seller reasonable advance notice of the dates 
and times of its inspections of the Property. Seller or its representative and 
Purchaser, its representatives, agents, and independent contractors shall have the 
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right to be present at any such inspections. If Purchaser is satisfied with the 
Property, including, but not limited to, its review and inspections, in Purchaser’s 
sole and absolute discretion, Purchaser shall provide written notice to Seller that 
it is proceeding with the Agreement before the expiration of the Inspection 
Period. If Purchaser fails to deliver such notice of election to proceed with the 
Agreement before expiration of the Inspection Period, Purchaser shall be deemed 
to have elected to terminate the Agreement, the Agreement shall terminate and 
neither party shall have any further liability under this Agreement except for 
those obligations which expressly survive the termination of this Agreement. 

(c) Purchaser and Seller acknowledge that the inspections, 
investigations, survey and environmental inspections made by Purchaser and 
Purchaser’s agents before Closing are for the benefit and at the instance of 
Purchaser. Purchaser expressly acknowledges that nothing in this Agreement 
authorizes Purchaser, or any person dealing with, through or under Purchaser to 
subject Seller’s interest in the Property to mechanic’s or materialmen’s liens 
before Closing. Purchaser shall indemnify, hold harmless and defend Seller from 
any claim, liability, loss, damage, cost or expense (including reasonable 
attorney’s fees, but expressly excluding any punitive, speculative or 
consequential damages) which Seller incurs solely due to the entry on the 
Property by Purchaser, its employees, agents or independent contractors before 
Closing, or damage to or liens placed on the Property caused by Purchaser, its 
agents, employees, or independent contractors for any such entry. Purchaser’s 
indemnification obligations shall not extend or apply to and Purchaser shall not 
be liable to Seller for: (i) any release of pre-existing hazardous substances arising 
from the conduct of any investigation or testing of the Property or for any 
diminution in the market value of the Property resulting from the information 
disclosed by any such investigation or tests, (ii) for any negligence or misconduct 
of Seller or any agent, contractor, or employee of Seller, or (iii) any pre-existing 
conditions on or about the Property. Purchaser’s obligations shall survive any 
termination of this Agreement. Before Purchaser or its agents or contractors 
entering the Property, Purchaser shall obtain commercial general liability 
insurance in the amount of not less than $1,000,000.00 naming the Village of 
Homewood as an additional insured on an ISO CG 20 10 form endorsement from 
an Illinois licensed insurance company. Purchaser shall maintain this coverage 
from the Effective Date through the Closing Date. 

(d) Notwithstanding the expiration of the Inspection Period, Purchaser 
shall have access to the Property through the Closing Date for inspections, 
obtaining any reports, surveys, appraisals, and engineering and environmental 
tests and reports. 
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5. Commitment for Title Insurance/Title and Survey Matters. 

5.1 Within ten (10) days after the Effective Date, Seller, at its sole cost and 
expense, shall cause ________________ Title Insurance Company, (“Title 
Company” and “Escrow Agent”) to deliver to Purchaser a commitment for an 
ALTA owner’s policy of title insurance (the “Commitment”), showing Seller as 
fee title owner, naming Purchaser as the insured in the amount of the Purchase 
Price (or minimum amount required), issued by the Title Company, insuring the 
Property, together with legible copies of all recorded title documents referred to 
in the Commitment (“Title Documents”). The Commitment shall be subject to 
only the: (i) “Permitted Exceptions” (defined in Section 5.2 below), (ii) any 
mortgages and similar liens of a definite or ascertainable amount which must be 
paid by Seller out of the closing proceeds (“Monetary Encumbrances”) and (iii) 
any maters not objected to by Purchaser. If Seller has an existing survey, and 
Purchaser uses Seller’s existing survey, and Seller’s existing survey is approved 
by Purchaser’s lender, if any, and the Title Company, subject to execution of a 
survey affidavit allowing it to issue extended coverage on the Purchaser’s 
owner’s title policy, then Seller shall sign a customary survey affidavit at Closing 
in a form approved by all parties. 

5.2 The term “Permitted Exceptions” shall mean: (i) all non-delinquent taxes 
and assessments not yet due at the time of Closing, and (ii) any other title matters 
not objected to, waived or deemed waived by Purchaser. 

5.3 If Purchaser objects to the Commitment and/or any survey, Purchaser 
shall give written notice to Seller before the expiration of the Inspection Period, 
specifying Purchaser’s objections to such title exceptions and/or survey matters 
(the “Unpermitted Exceptions”). Seller shall at its option have five (5) days from 
receiving such notice to notify Purchaser in writing of any Unpermitted 
Exceptions that Seller shall cure, insure over or have removed from the 
Commitment before Closing. If Seller notifies Purchaser within such five (5) day 
period, or fails to notify Purchaser, that it is unable or unwilling to have the 
Unpermitted Exceptions removed before Closing, Purchaser shall, as Purchaser’s 
sole remedy, have the option either to (i) terminate this Agreement, whereupon 
neither party shall have any further liability or obligation to the other, except as 
expressly provided herein; or (ii) proceed with the Closing and accept title to the 
Property as reflected in the Commitment and survey, whereupon such 
exceptions shall be deemed Permitted Exceptions, other than Monetary 
Encumbrances which shall be paid by Seller out of Closing proceeds. Purchaser 
shall exercise such option by delivery of written notice of such exercise to Seller 
within five (5) days after the earlier of: (a) the expiration of Seller’s notice period 
for responding to Purchaser’s title and survey objections, or (b) the date Seller 
gives Purchaser notice of its unwillingness or inability to remove any the 
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Unpermitted Exceptions. If any title exceptions or survey matters are disclosed 
or modified by updates of the Commitment and/or the survey or other title 
"date-downs" that affect the marketability or insurability of the title to the 
Property or that adversely affect the use of the Property for its intended purposes 
or are objectionable to Purchaser, then Purchaser may after the discovery thereof 
notify Seller in writing, in which event Seller shall promptly employ its good 
faith best efforts to procure a cure for same, as required above, and upon the 
failure of Seller to effectuate a cure or Seller’s failure to respond to Purchaser in 
writing, then Purchaser may elect any of the options set forth in subclauses (i) 
and (ii) above. If Purchaser fails to notify Seller of Purchaser’s election within the 
five-day period required for Purchaser’s notification of its election, then 
Purchaser shall be deemed to have elected option (ii). 

6. Closing, Possession and Conditions Precedent to Closing. 

6.1 Closing. The closing (the “Closing”) of the transaction contemplated shall 
take place within 60 days after the date a redevelopment agreement is executed 
between the Village of Homewood and Homewood Brewing, LLC; provided, 
however, if such date has not occurred before twelve (12) months after the 
Effective Date, then either Purchaser or Seller may terminate the Agreement after 
that date by written notice to the other party, in which event neither party shall 
have any further liability under this Agreement except for those obligations 
which expressly survive the termination of this Agreement. The date upon which 
the Closing actually occurs shall be referred to herein as the “Closing Date.” 
Seller shall give sole and exclusive possession of the Property to Purchaser at 
Closing, subject only to the Permitted Exceptions. The Closing shall take place at 
the Chicago office of the Title Company (which shall allow delivery of 
documents into escrow) by means of a "New York Style Closing" with the parties 
delivering their closing documents, the Title Company’s concurrently delivering 
the closing documents, committing to delivery of the Title Policy described in 
Section 6.4(b) below to Purchaser, and the concurrent payment of the Purchase 
Price, all with no parties required to be present. 

6.2 At Closing, Seller shall deliver to the Escrow Agent, with copies to 
Purchaser: 

(a) A duly executed and acknowledged Special Warranty Deed (the 
“Deed”) conveying to Purchaser the fee simple interest in the Property, subject 
only to the Permitted Exceptions. 

(b) A duly executed affidavit of Seller, stating Seller’s United States 
taxpayer identification number and that Seller is not a foreign person as defined 
in Internal Revenue Code Section 1445. 
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(c) A MyDec transfer tax declaration in form customary for the State, 
County City of the Property (“Transfer Tax Declaration”) and any municipal 
transfer tax declarations. 

(d) A resolution from Seller approving and authorizing it to sell the 
Property and granting authority to a specific person to bind the Seller. 

(e) A settlement statement agreed to between Seller and Purchaser 
(“Settlement Statement”), signed by Seller, setting forth the Purchase Price, 
credits, prorations, and disbursements under this Agreement. 

(f) An owner’s affidavit. 

(g) Documents requested by the Title Company for obligations 
required of Seller under this Agreement or to provide extended coverage, 
including, without limitation, Owner’s Affidavit, Survey Affidavit of no change, 
if required by the Title Company to provide extended coverage, Gap Indemnity, 
formation documents and any other reasonable documentation. 

6.3 At Closing, Purchaser shall deliver to the Escrow Agent: 

 (a) The balance of the Purchase Price, subject to adjustment on the 
Settlement Statement, by wire transfer of federal funds. 

 (b) The Settlement Statement signed by Purchaser, setting forth the 
Purchase Price, credits, prorations, and disbursements under this Agreement. 

(c) A counterpart of the Transfer Tax Declaration and any applicable 
municipal transfer tax declarations. 

(d) Any other document requested by the Title Company to close the 
transaction. 

6.4 Conditions to Obligations to Close. The obligations of Purchaser to 
consummate the transactions contemplated shall be subject to fulfilling these 
conditions (“Purchaser’s Conditions”), any of which may be waived in writing 
by Purchaser in its sole and absolute discretion: 

(a) At Closing, Seller will cause the Title Company to issue (or commit 
irrevocably and unconditionally to issue) to Purchaser an owner’s policy of title 
insurance in accordance with the requirements of the Commitment subject only 
to the Permitted Exceptions (the “Title Policy”). 

(b) The representations and warranties of Seller in this Agreement 
shall be true and correct on and as of the Closing Date with the same force and 
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effect as though such representations and warranties had been made on and as of 
the Closing Date, and Seller will so certify. 

(c) Seller shall have performed the agreements, covenants and 
obligations made and contained in this Agreement to be performed or complied 
with by Seller on or before the Closing Date. 

(d) Delivery of sole and exclusive possession of the Property to 
Purchaser subject only to the Permitted Exceptions. 

7. Prorations; Closing Adjustments. 

7.1 All real estate taxes and assessments, due and owing or delinquent before 
Closing, whether or not they have become liens, shall be the responsibility of 
Seller and paid by Seller before the due date and at or before Closing. This 
obligation shall survive Closing. All real estate taxes not yet due and owing at 
the time of Closing shall be prorated on the Closing Date based on the most 
recent ascertainable tax bill, and Seller shall be responsible to credit Purchaser for 
all such real estate taxes through and including the day of Closing. All tax 
prorations shall be final as of Closing. 

7.2 In the event any special assessments, water or sewer assessment, code 
violations, fines or other assessments have been levied against the Property for 
any period on or  before the Closing Date, Seller shall pay the same at or before 
Closing. These obligations shall survive Closing. All water, sewer, and other 
utility charges currently due shall be adjusted as of the Closing Date. Any of 
these payments due and owing as of the Closing Date shall be credited to 
Purchaser from Seller at Closing and any prepaid amounts shall be credited to 
Seller form Purchaser. 

7.3 Seller shall pay: (i) the cost of the Title Commitment, (ii) the costs for the 
standard coverage portion of the Purchaser’s owner’s Title Policy premium, (iii) 
all State, County and municipal transfer taxes, (iv) half of all escrow and closing 
costs, and (v) all costs for any endorsements to cure, remove or insure over any 
title exceptions agreed to be cured by Seller. Purchaser shall pay: (i) the cost of 
the extended coverage portion of the Title Policy premium and all endorsements 
to the Title Policy requested by Purchaser, (ii) half of all escrow costs, and (iii) the 
cost to record the deed. The parties shall pay their respective attorney’s fees. Any 
other costs and charges in connection with the Closing shall be paid by Seller or 
Purchaser, respectively, as is customary in the area in which the Property is 
located. 

7.4 All CAM and other charges due under any REA, Declaration or other 
agreements shall be prorated on the Closing Date with Seller being responsible 
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for any costs prior to Closing and Purchaser being responsible for any costs on 
and after Closing. Any of these payments due and owing as of the Closing Date 
shall be credited to Purchaser from Seller at Closing and any prepaid amounts 
shall be credited to Seller from Purchaser. These obligations shall survive Closing. 

8. Representations, Warranties, Covenants and Agreements of Seller and Purchaser. 

8.1 Seller represents, covenants and warrants to Purchaser and agrees, as of 
the date of this Agreement and, without further writing as of the Closing Date, as 
follows: 

(a) Seller holds fee title to the Property subject only to those rights-of-
way, easements, conditions, covenants and restrictions of record. There are no 
persons in possession or occupancy of the Property or any part thereof, nor are 
there any persons who have possessory rights regarding the Property or any part 
thereof through written agreement, orally or by operation of law. 

(b) All required payments of Seller have been made and there is no 
default by Seller, nor has Seller received any written notice of default from any 
property owner, tenant or other party under any reciprocal easement agreements 
or declarations or similar documents, nor are there any state of facts with the 
giving of notice or the passage of time which may constitute a default by Seller 
or, to Seller's knowledge, by any property owner or tenant under any reciprocal 
easement agreements or declarations or similar documents. 

(c) There is no lawsuit or similar proceeding filed, or to the best of 
Seller’s knowledge, threatened to be filed, against Seller regarding the Property 
before any court, tribunal, mediator, arbitrator, governmental or administrative 
agency. Seller has received no notices and is not aware of any pending or 
threatened: (a) condemnation, eminent domain or similar proceeding against the 
Property, (b) special assessments against the Property, or any real estate tax 
protest, or similar proceeding; or (c) any public plans or proposals for changes in 
road grade, access or other municipal improvements or for any adjacent 
developments that may affect the Property. There is no bankruptcy, assignment 
for the benefit of creditor or insolvency proceedings filed against or by Seller 
wherein Seller is identified as the debtor. 

(d) Seller has taken all required measures to approve the sale and has 
all requisite power and authority to enter into and carry out Seller’s obligations 
under this Agreement and to sell the Property. The execution of this Agreement 
has been duly authorized by all requisite actions and this Agreement is 
enforceable against Seller under its terms. 
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(e) The Property has utilities necessary for the operation of the 
Property and no fact or condition exists that would cause the termination of 
access to and from the Property or the cessation of utilities for the operation of 
the Property. 

(f) Seller shall not, without the prior written consent of Purchaser, 
enter into, amend, extend or grant any concessions regarding any lease, 
reciprocal easement agreement, declaration or any other documents affecting the 
property, or accept any prepayment of rent for more than one month in advance. 
Seller shall promptly deliver to Purchaser a copy of any notice (including 
without limitation, a notice of default) received from any property owners under 
any easement agreements, declarations or from any governmental authority or 
from any tenant or adjacent property owners. Seller shall not intentionally do 
anything, or permit anything to be done, that would impair or modify the status 
of title as shown on the Commitment or the survey. 

(g) Seller is not a foreign person or entity under the Foreign 
Investment and Real Estate Property Tax Act or the Tax Reform Act of 1984. 

(h) As of the Closing Date, the Property will be free and clear of any 
encumbrances or liens of an ascertainable amount which can be removed by the 
payment of a liquidated amount of money, except for the Permitted Exceptions, 
and such encumbrances and liens as paid by Seller at Closing. 

(i) From the Effective Date until Closing, Seller shall continue to 
manage and operate the Property in a reasonable manner consistent with other 
similar commercial properties in Homewood, Illinois, including, but not limited 
to, performing all maintenance and snow removal, paying all operating 
expenses, real estate taxes, insurance and utilities before their due date, keeping 
the Property free of liens and code violations, and maintaining property and 
liability insurance in commercially reasonable amounts. 

(j) Except as set forth in the Due Diligence Materials, the Property 
complies with all environmental laws relating to “hazardous materials or toxic 
materials or substances” (as those terms are defined under all applicable 
environmental laws, rules, regulations and ordinances in Illinois (hereinafter 
referred to as “Environmental Laws”)) and Seller has received no notice from 
any person, property owner, or governmental agency that the Property is in 
violation or may violate any Environmental Laws or of any release or suspected 
release of hazardous materials on the Property or adjacent properties. There are 
no underground storage tanks at the Property. The Property is not being used, 
and to the best of Seller’s knowledge, has never been used, for the storage or 
disposal of any hazardous materials or toxic waste or as a dump site, the Property 
is not currently subject to any grading, slope or drainage restrictions which would 
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obligate or require any owner of the Property to accept, supply, deliver or collect 
drainage water, surface water or irrigation water to or from any real property 
within the reasonable vicinity of the Property and there are no unrecorded share 
expense agreements, repayment agreements, reimbursement agreements, tax 
increment financing or development agreements that affect all or any portion of 
the Property and that could require Purchaser to pay any money in full or partial 
satisfaction of any such agreements. 

(k) Seller owns no personal property located on the Property or to the 
extent it does will remove it by Closing. 

(l) Seller is not a party to any management, service or other contracts 
or agreements that will be binding on Purchaser or the Property after Closing. 

(m) Seller will (1) continue to operate the Property as heretofore 
operated; (2) maintain the Property in its current condition and perform routine 
and required maintenance and replacements; (3) pay before Closing all sums due 
for work, materials or services furnished or otherwise incurred in the ownership, 
use or operation of the Property; (4) comply with all governmental requirements 
applicable to the Property; (5) not place or permit to be placed on any portion of 
the Property any new improvements of any kind or remove or permit any 
improvements to be removed from the Property; and (6) not cause or create any 
easements, encumbrances, or liens to arise or to be imposed upon the Property or 
to allow any amendment or modification to any existing easements or 
encumbrances. 

(n) To Seller’s knowledge, the Due Diligence Materials are true, correct 
and complete in all material respects. Seller has delivered to Purchaser all Due 
Diligence Materials its possession or control. 

(o) There are no rights of first refusal or options to purchase the 
Property (or any part thereof) contained in any agreement affecting the Property 
(or any part thereof). 

8.2 Seller shall indemnify and hold Purchaser harmless from and against any 
costs, fees, charges, penalties or liabilities of any kind resulting from any “bulk 
sales” taxes, fees or charges assessed by any applicable governmental authority 
or agency related solely to the period of Seller’s ownership of the Property. This 
indemnification shall survive the Closing. 

8.3 Purchaser represents and warrants to Seller, as of the date of this 
Agreement and without further writing as of the Closing that Purchaser is 
authorized and permitted to enter into this Agreement, to execute any 
documentation required, and to perform this Agreement, none of which conflicts 
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with any provision of any law, rule or regulation applicable to Purchaser. This 
Agreement is a valid and binding obligation of Purchaser under its terms. 

8.4 All representations and warranties of Seller or Purchaser in this 
Agreement shall survive the Closing for twelve (12) months. 

9. Damage or Condemnation. 

9.1 In the event of any eminent domain or condemnation action before or on 
the Closing Date Seller shall immediately notify Purchaser and Purchaser may 
elect, in its sole discretion, to (a) terminate this Agreement, in which event 
neither party shall have any further liability under this Agreement except for 
those obligations which expressly survive the termination of this Agreement, or 
(b) proceed to Closing, whereupon at Closing Seller shall transfer the Property 
less any portion of the Property taken by eminent domain or condemnation or 
conveyed in lieu of condemnation. If Purchaser elects to close on the Closing 
Date, Seller shall assign to Purchaser, all of Seller’s interest in any proceeds or 
awards that may thereafter be made for any taking or condemnation. The 
Purchase Price shall be reduced by any such proceeds or awards collected and 
retained by Seller before the Closing Date, provided, however, Seller shall not 
negotiate and agree to any settlement or payment without Purchaser’s prior 
written approval, which shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed. 

9.2 if the Property suffers any damage or destruction before Closing, 
Purchaser may elect, at Purchaser’s sole option, to: (a) proceed to Closing and 
take the Property subject to such damage or destruction and Seller shall assign 
any insurance proceeds to Purchaser (but only to the extent of Seller’s rights in 
same) and Purchaser shall receive a credit at Closing in the amount of any 
deductible being carried under such insurance policy, or (b) terminate this 
Agreement in which event neither party shall have any further liability under 
this Agreement except for those obligations which expressly survive the 
termination of this Agreement. 

10. Brokerage. 

Each party represents and warrants to the other, as of the date of this Agreement 
and without further writing as of the Closing, there are no real estate agents or brokers 
involved that are owed a commission or finder’s fee in connection with this transaction. 
Each party agrees to indemnify, defend, and hold harmless the other party regarding 
any claim made for any commission or finder’s fee arising out of the warranting party’s 
conduct. This Section 10 shall survive the Closing. 
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11. Default. 

11.1 If this transaction does not close due to purchaser's default or Purchaser is 
otherwise in default of its obligations under this Agreement, then Seller shall 
have the right, as its sole and exclusive remedy, to terminate this Agreement by 
written notice to Purchaser and upon such termination this Agreement shall be 
of no further force and effect and neither party shall have any further rights, 
duties, or obligations except regarding the provisions hereof which expressly 
survive the termination of this Agreement. Purchaser shall not be liable to Seller 
for any punitive, speculative, incidental, consequential or damages for loss of 
opportunity or lost profit if Purchaser’s default occurs. 

11.2 If this transaction is not closed due to a default of Seller or Seller is 
otherwise in default of its obligations under this Agreement, then Purchaser shall 
have the option of (i) terminating this Agreement by written notice to Seller, and 
neither party shall have any further liability under this Agreement, except for 
those obligations which expressly survive the termination of this Agreement, or 
(ii) enforcing this Agreement by specific performance, or (iii) Purchaser shall 
have all rights and remedies at law and in equity if any intentional default by 
Seller occurs that renders specific performance unavailable. 

11.3 Before exercising any remedy under this Agreement, the non-defaulting 
party shall provide notice to the defaulting party and the defaulting party shall 
have three (3) days to cure such default. 

12. Notices. 

All notices permitted or required under this Agreement may be made by a party 
or the party’ attorney to the other party or the other party’s attorney and shall be in 
writing and shall be served by one of these methods: (a) hand delivery, or (b) deposit 
thereof with Federal Express or other nationally recognized overnight delivery service 
for next day delivery, or (c) by facsimile transmission, or (d) by email transmission. All 
notices shall be addressed to the parties to whom such notices are intended as set forth 
below: 

If to Seller:  
Village of Homewood 
2020 Chestnut Road 
Homewood, IL 60430 
Attention: Village Manager 
Email: jmarino@homewoodil.gov 

 

with a copy to: 
Christopher J. Cummings 
Village Attorney 
2024 Hickory Road, #205 
Homewood, IL 60430 
Email: chris@cjcummingslaw.com 
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If to Purchaser: 

__________________________ 

__________________________ 

__________________________ 

With a copy to: 

__________________________ 

__________________________ 

__________________________ 

Either party may change its address by giving notice to the other under this 
Section. Notice sent by an attorney on behalf of their client shall be deemed proper 
notice from the party. Notice personally delivered shall be effective on the date of 
delivery. Notices sent by a nationally recognized overnight courier shall be effective on 
the date of delivery as indicated by the carrier’s on-line record. Notice sent by facsimile 
shall be effective on the date of delivery during the hours of 8am to 6pm CST, Monday 
through Friday, with proof of successful transmission which shall be retained by the 
sender. Notice sent by email shall be effective on the date of delivery during the hours 
of 8am to 6pm CST, Monday through Friday. 

13. Miscellaneous. 

13.1 Section Headings. The Section headings of this Agreement are for 
convenience only and in no way limit or enlarge the scope or meaning of the 
language thereof. 

13.2 Entire Agreement. All previous negotiations and agreements between the 
parties, regarding the transaction set forth herein, are merged in this instrument 
which alone fully and completely expresses the parties’ rights and obligations. 
This Agreement is the entire agreement between the parties regarding the 
Property and supersedes any other prior agreements and understandings, 
whether written or oral, formal or informal. 

13.3 Governing Law. This Agreement shall be governed by the internal laws of 
the State of Illinois without reference to its conflict of law provisions. 

13.4 Invalidity of Terms. If any term or provision of this Agreement is held 
illegal, invalid or unenforceable as a matter of law, the remaining terms and 
provisions of this Agreement shall not be affected, but each such term and 
provision shall be valid and shall remain in full force and effect. 

13.5 Time/Dates. Time is of the essence of this Agreement. If any date in this 
Agreement for the delivery of any document or the happening of any event 
should, under the terms hereof, fall on a weekend or holiday, then such date 
shall be automatically extended to the next succeeding weekday that is not a 
holiday. 
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13.6 Dispute/Attorney’s Fees. If a dispute arises between the parties regarding 
the enforcement of either party’s obligations contained herein, the prevailing 
party shall be entitled to reimbursement of its reasonable attorney’s fees, court 
costs, and expenses incurred in connection therewith. This Section 13.6 shall 
survive the early termination or closing of this transaction. 

13.7 Amendment. This Agreement may be amended, modified or terminated 
only by a written instrument executed by Seller and Purchaser. 

13.8 Termination at Closing. Except as expressly provided for herein, the 
provisions of this Agreement shall terminate with the Closing and shall be of no 
further force or effect. 

13.9 Waiver of Rights. No right under this Agreement may be waived, except 
by written instrument executed by the party waiving such right. No waiver of 
any breach of any provision in this Agreement shall be deemed a waiver of any 
preceding or succeeding breach of that provision or of any other provision in this 
Agreement. No extension of time for performance of any obligations or acts shall 
be deemed an extension of the time for performance of any other obligations or 
acts. 

13.10 Assignment. Purchaser may assign this Agreement to any assignee or 
single purpose entity; provided that: (i) such assignee shall expressly assume all 
of Purchaser’s obligations; and (ii) Purchaser shall provide Seller with written 
notice of such assignment. 

13.11 1031 Exchange. At either party’s option and at no loss, cost, liability, or 
expense to the other party, both parties agree to cooperate with one another in 
closing this transaction as a like-kind exchange under Section 1031 of the Internal 
Revenue Code, provided that (a) no party making such accommodation shall be 
required to acquire any substitute property, (b) such exchange shall not affect the 
representations, warranties, liabilities and obligations of the parties to each other 
under this Agreement, (c) no party making such accommodation shall incur any 
additional cost, expense or liability in connection with such exchange (other than 
expenses of reviewing and executing documents required in connection with 
such exchange), and (d) no dates in this Agreement will be extended as a result 
thereof. Each party’s right, title and interest under this Agreement, but not its 
obligations, shall be assignable to a “Qualified Intermediary” of its choice. For 
purposes of this Agreement, the term “Qualified Intermediary” shall have the 
same meaning as that found in Section 1.103(k)-(g)(4)(iii), Income Tax 
Regulations. 

13.12 Binding Agreement. Purchaser and Seller acknowledge and agree that 
they intend this Agreement to be a binding and enforceable agreement, subject to 
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the terms set forth herein, and each party waives any right to hereafter challenge 
the enforceability of this Agreement because the inspection and due diligence 
contingencies in this Agreement are not sufficient consideration to make this 
Agreement a valid contract. Purchaser agrees to use its good faith efforts to 
perform its due diligence activities regarding the Property. Seller agrees that 
Purchaser’s due diligence efforts will require Purchaser to expend significant 
time and money, and that the expenditure of such time and money by Purchaser 
constitutes good and sufficient consideration to Seller for Seller granting 
Purchaser the time set forth in this Agreement to investigate and resolve all of its 
contingencies and agreeing to be bound by this Agreement. 

13.13. Counterpart Signatures. This Agreement may be executed in several 
counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original, but all such 
counterparts shall together constitute the same Agreement. Any counterparts of 
this Agreement and any subsequent amendments may be executed and delivered 
by any party by email transmission in portable document format “(PDF”) and 
any document so executed and delivered shall be considered an original for all 
purposes 

14. Confidentiality. 

14.1 Either party (the “Providing Party”) may provide the other party (the 
“Receiving Party”) with confidential or proprietary information, including 
intended future use site plans and identification of proposed future users, 
whether disclosed orally, in writing or upon inspection of documents or other 
tangible property (such information, together with any documents or records 
prepared by the Providing Party or Receiving Party or any of its affiliates, which 
contain or otherwise reflect or are generated from such information, the 
“Confidential Information”). The term “Confidential Information” shall not 
include information that (i) is or becomes generally available to the public other 
than because of a disclosure by the Receiving Party; (ii) is specifically permitted 
in writing by the Providing Party, before any disclosure by the Receiving Party, 
to be so disclosed; or (iii) is disclosed in compliance with the requirements of any 
law, subpoena or administrative, regulatory or judicial process (provided that, to 
the extent reasonably feasible under the circumstances, prior written notice of 
such disclosure is furnished to the other party Providing Party to afford the 
Providing Party an opportunity to seek a protective order). 

14.2 The Receiving Party’s review and inspection of the Confidential 
Information shall be undertaken solely to evaluate the transaction contemplated 
herein. The Receiving Party shall use the Confidential Information solely for such 
purpose. Except as specifically provided, the Receiving Party shall not disclose, 
and shall use reasonable efforts to prevent any other person or entity from 
disclosing, any Confidential Information to any other party without the 
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Providing Party’s prior written consent; provided, however, that the Receiving 
Party may share Confidential Information with its advisors, consultants, 
attorneys, investors, accountants and lenders in connection with evaluating and 
financing the transaction contemplated. 

14.3 if the Closing does not occur, the Receiving Party shall promptly deliver to 
the Providing Party or destroy all documents furnished by the Providing Party 
constituting Confidential Information. 

14.4 Notwithstanding the foregoing, the parties acknowledge that Seller is a 
public body subject to the Illinois Freedom of Information Act (FOIA). If the 
Seller receives a FOIA request, Seller shall have the sole authority to determine 
what records concerning this transaction, if any, are responsive to the FOIA 
request and shall be tendered to the requestor. If Purchaser provides Seller with 
information, documents, or data it believes to be proprietary, privileged, or 
confidential as defined by Section 7, paragraph (1)(g) of the FOIA (5 ILCS 
140/7(1)(g)), it shall identify them as such when tendered to the Seller. 

15. Exclusivity. 

Seller acknowledges that Purchaser will expend substantial time, effort and 
resources to consummate the transaction contemplated by this Agreement. In 
consideration of such effort, unless this Agreement is terminated, during the period 
from the Effective Date until the Closing Date (the “Exclusivity Period”), Seller shall not 
(and shall cause its affiliated and associated entities, and its and its affiliated and 
associated companies’ principals, officers, directors, managers, members, employees, 
agents, brokers and representatives and any other person acting for it or them, not to) 
enter into any agreement or discussion with any other party regarding, or solicit or 
entertain proposals for or about the sale or lease of any part of the Property or any other 
transactions or negotiations that would prohibit or adversely affect the sale of the 
Property to Purchaser or any other aspect of the transaction contemplated. 

(Signatures on next page) 
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Agreement to be 
effective as of the date of mutual execution and delivery. 

 

Purchaser Seller 

Homewood Brewing, LLC  Village of Homewood 

By: ______________________ By: ______________________ 

Name: ___________________ Richard A. Hofeld 

Title: ____________________ Village President 

Date: ___________________ Date: ___________________ 
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EXHIBIT A 

Legal Description of Property 

Parcel 1: Lot 2, 3 and 4 in the resubdivision of Lot 6 in the County Clerk’s 
Division of the West½ of the Southeast ¼ of Section 31, Township 36 North, Range 14, 
East of the Third Principal Meridian, in Cook County, Illinois. 

Parcel 2: The East 99 feet of Lot 1 in the subdivision of Lot 6 in the County Clerk’s 
Division of the West ½ of the Southeast¼ of Section 31, Township 36 North, Range 14, 
East of the Third Principal Meridian, according to the Plat thereof recorded October 21, 
1927 as document 9816722, in Book 253 of Plats, Page 2; also the East 99 feet of that part 
of the West ½ of the Southeast ¼ of Section 31 bounded and described as follows: 
Beginning at the Northeast corner of Lot 1 in the South of Lot 6 aforesaid; thence West 
along the North line of said Lot 1, 297 feet to the East line of Dixie Highway; thence 
North along said East line of Dixie Highway, 27.07 feet; thence East parallel with the 
North line of Lot 1 aforesaid, 297 feet; thence South parallel with the West line of the 
Southeast ¼ of said Section 31, 27.07 feet to the point of beginning, in Cook County, 
Illinois. 

Parcel 3: The East 99 feet of the North 53.93 feet of the South 81 feet of that part of 
the West ½ of the Southeast ¼ of Section 31, Township 36 North, Range 14, East of the 
Third Principal Meridian, bounded and described as follows: Beginning at the 
Northeast corner of Lot 1 in the subdivision of Lot 6 in the County Clerk’s Division of 
the West ½ of the Southeast ¼ of said Section, according to the Plat thereof recorded 
October 21, 1927, as document 9816722, in Book 253 of Plats, Page 2; thence West along 
the North line of said Lot 1, 297 feet to the East line of Dixie Highway; thence North 
along said East line of Dixie Highway, 346 feet; thence East parallel with the North line 
of Lot 1 aforesaid, 297 feet; thence South parallel with the West line of the Southwest ¼ 
of said Section, 346 feet to the place of beginning in Cook County, Illinois. 

Property Index Numbers: 
29-31-409-037-0000 
29-31-409-038-0000 
29-31-409-010-0000 
29-31-409-041-0000 
29-31-409-072-0000 

Common address: 18225 Dixie Highway, Homewood, Illinois  
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EXHIBIT B 

Diagram of Property 
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EXHIBIT C 

Due Diligence Materials 

1. A copy of any leases for the Property and all schedules, exhibits, riders, 
amendments, guaranties and memorandums of lease related thereto. 

2. A copy of all vendor, property management and third-party agreements 
or contracts for the Property, including any maintenance agreements. 

3. A copy of any and all environmental reports from Seller or its 
predecessor, in Seller’s possession, including, but not limited to, any existing phase I 
environmental site assessments reports, Phase II reports, asbestos reports, asbestos 
correspondence, and any other environmental reports, and correspondence with any 
governmental agencies relating to the Property. 

4. Copies of any surveys of the Property. 

5. Copies of any soils reports or geotechnical reports, and engineering 
studies, if any. 

6. Copy of Seller’s owner’s title policy and any current title commitments for 
the Property and all recorded title documents referenced therein. 

7. Copies of any plats or proposed plats related to the subdivision or 
consolidation of the Property and surrounding parcels. 

8. Copies of the current real estate tax bills for the Property. 

9. Copies of any declarations, reciprocal easement agreements, development 
agreements, easement agreements, use restrictions, deed restrictions, rights of first 
refusal, property owner’s association documents, property owner’s rules and 
regulations, bylaws and articles of organization. 
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VILLAGE OF HOMEWOOD 
 

 
 
BOARD AGENDA MEMORANDUM        DATE OF MEETING:   October 26, 2021   
 
 
To:  Jim Marino, Village Manager 
 
From:  Dennis Bubenik, Director of Finance 
 
Topic:  Fiscal Year End 2020-2021 Audit Presentation and Acceptance 
 
PURPOSE  
The audit for the fiscal year ending April 30, 2021 is complete and ready for presentation and 
acceptance. Don Shaw from the accounting firm of Lauterbach and Amen (L&A) will lead the 
discussion of the audit presentation.   
 
PROCESS   
Each year in June and July, we generally contract with an independent accounting firm to audit 
our financial records and controls for the most recently finished fiscal year ending April 30. The 
auditors evaluate all of our data, process the information through their audit standards and 
software, then provide a report to the Village. The audit was delayed a bit this year as we 
waited for Cook County to complete the data needed on EAV and other statistics for use in our 
audit. 
 
OUTCOME  
Audits are of greater importance to local governments in the past 10 years. Results of those 
audits were critical in the development of budgets in local governments around the United 
States including here in Homewood.  
 
There is no better example than this past year when COVID-19 and its effect on the economy, 
thus its effect on our local government operation, occurred. COVID-19 hit late in our 2019-2020 
fiscal year so the April 30, 2020 audit was in healthy shape. Due to the many COVID-19 changes 
made to our current 2020-2021 budget, plus the unknown final effects of COVID-19 on our local 
government operation, the expectation was that the April 20, 2021 audit would be memorable 
in a negative way both here in Homewood and local governments across the United States.  
 
It turns out that COVID-19 decreases in our revenue items were offset by unexpected revenue 
increases in items such as sales tax. Homewood’s basic vendor mix of grocery stores, 
restaurants, home improvement, and big box retail did very well as people looked for ways to 
take on projects during the lockdown of the past year, or picked up a meal from a local 
restaurant. That consumer spending was unexpected, but a welcome occurrence as it had a 
positive effect to revenues we see in our April 30, 2021 audit. 
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VILLAGE OF HOMEWOOD 
 

 
 
 
 
   
FINANCIAL IMPACT 
 
 Funding Source:  No Financial Impact 
 Budgeted Amount: N/A 
 Cost: N/A 
 
LEGAL REVIEW  
Not required 
 
RECOMMENDED BOARD ACTION  
Accept the April 30, 2021 Village of Homewood Annual Financial Report (AFR). 
 
ATTACHMENT(S) 
Annual Financial Report 
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INTRODUCTORY SECTION 

This section includes miscellaneous data regarding the Village of Homewood including: 

• List of Principal Officials

• Transmittal Letter
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VILLAGE OF HOMEWOOD, ILLINOIS 
 
List of Principal Officials 
April 30, 2021 
 

 

 
 

 
VILLAGE PRESIDENT 

 
Richard A. Hofeld 

 
BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

 
Lawrence Burnson   Jay Heiferman 
Lauren Roman   Lisa Purcell 
Barbara Dawkins Karen Washington 
 

VILLAGE CLERK 
 

Marilyn Thomas 
 
 

VILLAGE MANAGER VILLAGE ATTORNEY 
 
Jim Marino Christopher Cummings 
 
DIRECTOR OF FINANCE POLICE CHIEF 
 
Dennis Bubenik Denise McGrath 
 
DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC WORKS FIRE CHIEF 
 
John Schaefer Bob Grabowski 
 
ECONOMIC AND COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
DIRECTOR ASSISTANT DIRECTOR OF FINANCE 
 
Angela Mesaros Amy Zukowski 
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In conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, the Village’s 
Police and Fire Pension Funds have been included as component units in the Village’s basic financial 
statements. Although these funds are separate legal entities, these funds exist to provide pension benefits 
for the Village’s sworn police officers and firefighter/EMT. Thus, their financial information has been blended 
within the Village’s basic financial statements. 
 
GENERAL INFORMATION 
 
The Village of Homewood is a residential, commuter suburb 25 miles south of the City of Chicago downtown 
with a 2020 estimated Census population of 18,703. The Village of Homewood is 5.27 square miles in size 
and is substantially developed. At fiscal year-end April 30, 2021 the Village government is organized as 
follows: 
 
 

 
 
Manager’s Office 
 Information Technology 
 Labor Management Relations 
 Human Resources 
 Public Communications 

Legal Review 
 Administrative Day-to-Day Functioning 

Planning and Zoning Administration 
 Economic Development 
 TIF Redevelopment Projects 
 
Finance Department: 
 Customer/Employee Services 
 Accounting System/Records 
 Billing and Collection 
 FOI 
 Election Support 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Village President 
And

Board of Trustees

Manager's Office Finance 
Department Public Works Fire Protection Law Enforcement 

Services

Village Manager
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Public Works - Maintenance and Development of Public Facilities 
 Administration and Engineering 
 Traffic Control and Street Lights 
 General Street Maintenance 
 Snow and Ice Control 
 Street Repair and Construction 
 Storm Water Management 
 Sidewalks 
 Water Delivery 
 Water Acquisition 
 Water Distribution 
 Wastewater Collection 
 Major System Improvements and Extensions 
 Fleet and Building Maintenance 
 Maintenance of Public Lands 
 
Fire Protection: 
 Fire Prevention/Public Education 
 Fire Suppression, Emergency Medical Assistance 
 Administration 
 Emergency Preparedness 

Building Inspection 
 Code Enforcement/Coordinate Health Inspections 
 
Law Enforcement Services: 
 Patrol Services 
 Criminal Investigations & Juvenile 
 Support Services & Administration 
  
 
ECONOMIC CONDITION AND OUTLOOK 
 
The Village of Homewood enjoys a diversified commercial and residential tax base that contributes toward 
opportunities for continued economic growth. Opportunity is further enhanced by the development of TIF 
locations in various sections of the Homewood business community.  
 
Homewood continues to attract new businesses and reinvestment in the commercial areas.  Homewood 
continues to attract new businesses and reinvestment in commercial areas.  In the Halsted Street 
area,  MOD Pizza has replaced the closed Payless Shoe Source and opened after extensive renovations 
in 2021.  Two other new food options include: Saucy Crab which opened in 2020 in the former Roberto’s 
space; and Seafood Basked opened in 2021 in the Shell Station Plaza.  Several other new businesses 
opening in 2021 include Aspen Dental, Xfinity Store, University of Chicago Medicine and Small Cakes 
cupcakery. 
 
Starbuck’s and Chili’s completed renovations to their locations on Halsted Street. Pep Boys divided its 
space to include a retail location for Auto Zone. 
 
In the industrial area, Feldco opened a show room in the Prairie Lakes Business Park. 
 
After a long tenure in Homewood near the intersection of Kedzie & 183rd Street, Van Drunen Ford was 
sold to the owner of Chevrolet of Homewood.  The facility has been re-named Ford of Homewood and the 
owner plans major renovations in order to boost sales. 
 
In the Downtown area, Boutique restaurants and stores opening this year include Serendipity Yoga, BSW 
Cosmetics and Parks Pastries.  EMPANADUS purchased and completed construction of a major renovation 
to open a new food production facility and store front on Ridge Road. The Village is working with a developer 
to begin demolition of the former Triumph Building at 2033 Ridge Road.  The new Hartford Building will be 

4
53

Item 8. B.



 

a four-story mixed use building with a first floor restaurant, Stoney Point Grill and three floors of 
apartments.  In addition, the Village is marketing four sites in downtown Homewood including the Savoia’s 
and Bogart’s sites for Transit Oriented Development.  The Village will soon demolish the vacant Bogart’s 
restaurant and is working with a developer for a new restaurant.  The Village engaged a consultant to 
conduct a feasibility study for a performing arts center in downtown Homewood and is working with the 
Homewood Arts Council to establish an arts center at the VH Auditorium.  
 
Culture Food & Entertainment is renovating the former Grape & Grain on Dixie Highway to add a new 
restaurant concept for comfort food, drinks and entertainment. 
 
A new Mediterranean restaurant purchased the former Delanoe’s on Dixie Highway from the Village. Plan 
review is underway for a renovation to the facility. 
 
Metra & Amtrak are in the process of major renovations to the railroad station platforms and parking lot. 
 
In the Southwest CBD, the Village is in the process of acquisition of the former Citgo property at 2124 
183rd Street for remediation and redevelopment. 
 
In Southgate, Maple Tree Inn renovated the former Cottage on Dixie to open a new restaurant. 
 
In the Cherry Creek Shopping Center on Governor’s Highway, Gloria Jeans coffee will add food to their 
menu for a new concept. 
 
Economic redevelopment is critical for an older, land locked, established municipality like Homewood. We 
do not have new land to grow into like many of our neighbors to the southwest of us have. Economic 
development is ongoing in Homewood.  We have a number of projects underway around town.   
 
The Village’s equalized assessed property value, as reported by Cook County, showed  decreases 2012-
2015 as the downturn in the housing market was a major factor in that recession. The effect of the recession 
on the EAV in Homewood is seen in the EAV reports from Cook County. 2016 and 2017 shows EAV 
beginning to rise again; however, 2018-2019 show another decrease. But with the 2020 reassessment of 
the south Cook County suburbs we see very good growth in EAV for 2020 for the Village of Homewood. 
 
 

YEAR EQUALIZED ASSESSED VALUATION 
2011 $407,376,980 
2012 $367,955,809 
2013 $343,351,423 
2014 $327,584,466 
2015 $317,131,679 
2016 $336,484,951 
2017 $372,186,168 
2018 $361,124,411 
2019 $358,598,079 
2020 $415,209,742 
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The value of building permits is a good barometer to determine the vitality of new construction and 
investment in existing properties in Homewood. But the recession took a toll on building permit 
volumes/values as seen in the table below.  2013-2017 shows a good recessionary bounce back. The 
following table shows the value of all building permits issued over the past ten fiscal years. 
 

YEAR VALUE OF ALL BUILDING PERMITS 
2011 $ 8,228,247 
2012 $10,717,032 
2013 $27,587,957 
2014 $13,471,310 
2015 $17,469,606 
2016 $26,406,354 
2017 $11,655,359 
2018 $19,057,768 
2019 $19,866,994 
2020 $14,204,563 

 
 
2011 is highlighted with 6 remodel projects (Jewel, McDonalds, TJ Maxx, Buffalo Wild Wings, Dollar Tree, 
ManorCare Health Services, and Dedirt Corp) totaling $3,229,000. 2012 represents a bounce back from 
recessionary numbers. Highlights of 2012 are Halsted street projects of $500,000 for Chipotle, and 
$850,000 for Homewood Chevy. At 18243 Harwood is $1,430,000 for dental/orthodontic building. Lastly, 
$1,000,000 for the restaurant called The Cottage in the Southgate TIF on Dixie Highway. Highlights for the 
bounce back year of 2013 include $5,800,000 for Canadian National (CN) Railroad Training Center. Also, 
on the CN site was $4,280,000 for the Build-out of their High-bay building. The LaBanque Hotel in downtown 
Homewood added $3,254,853 to the total. Lastly, $2,400,000 for the Sertoma muli-family building.  2014 
sees highlights of $1,249,000 project at CN Railroad, and $689,000 for a new 3-unit commercial strip at 
17575 Halsted. 2015 highlights were $3,000,000 Park District renovation of Dolphin Lake Clubhouse, 
$1,400,000 for Portillo’s Restaurant, and $500,000 for Homewood Disposal CNG fuel station.  2016 
highlights were Menards addition/remodel $6,000,000, Walmart commercial buildout $2,200,000, Walmart 
fuel center $2,000,000, Canadian National Railroad data center renovation $2,085,800, Ross Dress for 
Less buildout $1,420,000 and Krispy Kreme new building $900,000. Highlighting 2018 was Illinois Central 
Railroad renovations at $1,375,000 and $2,500,000 for new construction of the Shirley Ryan physical 
rehabilitation building on Halsted Street.  Highlights for 2019 include the University of Chicago Medical 
building $1,600,000. Highlights for 2020 were limited to smaller projects due to COVID with nothing to note 
over $1,000,000. 
 
VILLAGE INITIATIVES AND ACCOMPLISHMENTS 
 
Strategic Plan. A strategic plan to establish a five-year vision for the Village and to identify action steps for 
achieving stated goals was completed and is being implemented.  An updated strategic plan is being put 
together as of 4/30/20. 
 
Over 170 action steps have been reviewed, prioritized, and assigned to staff for implementation. Our 
Mission Statement is as follows: 
 
The Village of Homewood is a vital, dynamic community committed to maintaining a high level of 
services within a framework of fiscal responsibility and the fostering of a successful business 
environment. A safe, clean, beautiful, progressive, friendly, neighborly community, the Village lives 
by its motto of Home, Sweet Homewood. 
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Information Technology Upgrades. Two projects over the past year highlight the Village’s efforts to stay 
up-to-speed in the ever-changing world of Information Technology (IT). 
 
Fiber Internet/Network Upgrade 
With many of the village’s software programs moving to cloud-based solutions, the village needed to 
upgrade its Internet infrastructure and bandwidth. This was especially true at the Public Works facility. A 
dedicated 100mb asynchronous fiber Internet connection was installed in the Village Hall which also 
provides Internet services to the Police and Fire Departments. In addition, a dedicated 100mb 
asynchronous fiber network connection was installed between the Village Hall and the Public Works facility. 
This connection provides Public Works with Internet service as well as access to all village network 
resources. The fiber Internet connection has improved the performance of the cloud-based software 
solutions used daily at  Village Hall, Police, Fire and Public Works. The fiber Internet solution is also scalable 
and can grow with any future needs of the village.  This fiber upgrade also included moving the village’s 
telephone service provider from CallOne to Comcast which offers 99.9% uptime and significant cost 
savings. 
 
Telephone Voice Recording System 
The police department has the need to record incoming and outgoing telephone calls on certain extensions 
in the department. The existing system was unreliable and outdated, had no search and retrieval 
capabilities, and required a recording device attached to each handset. A new Mitel voice recording system 
was directly attached to the telephone system and programmed to record all calls for certain 
extensions.  Software was also installed for the Chief and Deputy Chiefs to allow easy search and retrieval 
of phone recordings should they be required for a police investigation or FOIA request. Should the need 
arise, any extension in the village can be programmed to record calls.  
 
Department of Public Works Change in Water Suppliers for 2021   
 
In 1982, Homewood began receiving Lake Michigan water from the City of Chicago via the City of Harvey.  
Homewood supplies water to 7,000 customers and is currently under a 10-year water contract with Harvey 
that expires in December 2022. Due to the high and unpredictable cost of Chicago water and the distressed 
financial condition of Harvey’s water fund, the Village of Homewood intends to purchase water from 
Hammond via Chicago Heights.  Homewood is in the process of negotiating a contract with Chicago Heights 
and has completed a preliminary assessment of their water system and anticipated water rate.   
 
The objective of the Homewood Water Delivery Project (Project) is for the Village of Homewood (Village) 
to receive Lake Michigan water treated by the City of Hammond from the City of Chicago Heights at a new 
connection point in the Village of Thornton from where the treated water will be conveyed by a new 
transmission main to the Village’s Water Plant No. 1 and Water Plant No. 2.   Key components of the project 
included: 
 

• Connection to Chicago Heights’ existing transmission main in Thornton; 
• Approximately 2.4 miles of new 30-inch diameter water transmission main to convey water to 

the Village; 
• A new pump station to convey water through the new transmission main; 
• Connection to the Village’s existing Water Plant No. 1 and Water Plant No. 2  
• Water treatment, if required, at the new Water Plant for corrosion control and disinfection, if 

needed; 
• Review the contract between Chicago Heights and the Village of Homewood; 
• Design activities required to determine the size of the new system components to serve 

Homewood and other customers; 
• Public relations support with regard to the project and water quality. 
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Fire Dept. Vehicle Replacement. Fire Department vehicles represent a major expenditure easily over 
$500,000 depending on the vehicle being purchased. But these Fire Department vehicles serves as the 
staging point when public safety emergency response is required. This past year saw the Village of 
Homewood Fire Department replace its 2007 ambulance.  This ambulance had continuous breakdowns 
and needed necessary repairs.  The new ambulance was purchased in February 2020.   
 
Fire Dept. FEMA Safer Grant. The Fire Department was awarded a grant through the FEMA SAFER 
(Staffing for Adequate Fire and Emergency Response) grant program.  This grant funding is designed to 
assist fire departments and the associated municipality with the costs of hiring and maintaining adequate 
staffing within their organization.  The grant awarded to the Homewood Fire Department has provided the 
Village with $537,517.50 over a three year period.  The funding is designed to cover 75% of a starting 
firefighter pay and benefits for the first two years and 35% of these costs in the third and final year.  The 
current period of performance allotted for this grant began October 1, 2019 and closes September 30, 2022.  
The Fire Department hired 3 firefighters that will be paid partially out of this grant program.   
 
Police Department Upgrades. Two projects over the past year highlight the Village’s efforts in our largest 
operating department. 
 
Motorola APX 6000 Radios 
The Police Department had Motorola high band radios and station consoles which had been obtained from 
the Cook County Sheriff’s Department via a UASI Grant (Urban Area Security Initiate).  That grant was not 
extended or renewed and the radios were rapidly approaching end of life with that technology no longer 
being supported and replacement parts unavailable.  As Cook County made the switch from DDM (delay 
division multiplexing) to TDMA (time division multi access), the Motorola XTS 5000 radios needed to be 
replaced with APX 6000 radio.  In anticipation of this transition, the Police Department began budgeting 
and purchasing 6 radios with accessories in fiscal year 2017-18. The remaining radios, accessories and 
station consoles were purchased and the XTS 5000 radios and consoles returned to CCSPD. The radios 
were purchased on a 5 year lease agreement.  At the end of the agreement the Village owns the radios. 
 
Ballistic Helmets, Ballistic Shields, Hydration Packs & Riot Shields 
During the 2020-21 Fiscal Year the Police Department purchased Ballistic Helmets, Ballistic Shields and 
Hydration packs to replace aging equipment. The Department also purchased Riot Shields, a new 
equipment item for the police department. The old Ballistic Helmets were obtained between 2005 and 2007 
and were used when the department obtained them. The age of the old Ballistic Shields was 
unknown.  Generally speaking, that type of equipment has a 5 year span, after which the effectiveness 
drops exponentially.The hydration packs were also obtained in the early 2000’s but they did not have a 
holder for the bladder.  The new purchase contained both the bladder and a backpack  
Style bladder holder.   The Riot Shields are a new purchase item. 
 
General Obligation (GO) Bond Issue.  This past year saw an opportunity to issue a $1.8 million dollar GO 
Bond. State statutes for non-home rule communities like the Village of Homewood restrict how often GO 
Bonds can be issued. The Village received a record low interest rate of 0.85% on this private placement of 
the GO Bond. Proceeds will be used to address the most pressing capital infrastructure and capital 
equipment needs around town. 
 
FISCAL INTRODUCTION 
 
The Village’s accounting records for Village-wide financial are maintained on a full accrual basis.  The 
governmental funds are maintained on a modified accrual basis that is fully described in Note 1 to the 
financial statements. Accounting records for the Village’s Proprietary and similar Trust fund types are 
maintained on a full accrual basis. 
 
Quarterly expenditure and revenue reports are reviewed by department heads and reported to the Board 
of Trustees. Encumbrances are recorded until the end of the fiscal year. At the end of the fiscal year, the 
encumbrances are expended to the applicable program numbers and as a payable in each respective fund. 
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FINANCIAL REPORTING 
 
The enclosed financial statements and supporting schedules were prepared in accordance with accounting 
principals generally accepted in the United States of America. They fairly represent the financial standing 
of the Village of Homewood as of April 30, 2021 and the financial activities that occurred during the fiscal 
year ending on that date.  The statistical tables provide a broader picture of the Village of Homewood and 
its financial affairs. The statistical data generally covers more than one year and includes nonfinancial and 
demographic data. The information in the statistical tables has been prepared with the best available data. 
 
ACCOUNTING SYSYTEM 
 
The Village’s accounting system considers the adequacy of internal accounting controls in its development 
and evaluation. Internal accounting controls are designed to provide reasonable, but not absolute, 
assurance regarding the safeguarding of assets from loss due to unauthorized use or disposition and the 
reliability of financial records for preparing financial statements and maintaining accountability for assets. 
The concept of reasonable assurance recognizes that the cost of the control should not exceed the benefits 
likely to be derived and the evaluations of costs and benefits require estimates and judgment by those with 
management responsibility. All evaluations of internal control occur within this framework. We believe that 
the Village’s internal accounting controls adequately safeguard assets and provide reasonable assurances 
of proper recording of financial transactions. 
 
CASH MANAGEMENT 
 
Idle cash during the year including pension funds was invested in time deposits and government securities. 
On April 30, 2021 the cash resources were invested as follows: 
 

US/State/Local Securities 18%  
Investment Pooling Arrangements 33% 
Equities/Mutual Funds 42%  
Corporate & Muni Bonds 7% 
Cash & Equivalents Less Than 1% 
TOTAL 100% 

 
The yield on investments during the year ranged from 0.001% on checking cash accounts to 7% on 
government securities. Investment earnings were a positive $12,424,280 this fiscal year for the police and 
fire pension funds.  The 2008 recession hit investment earnings hard in prior years, but pension funds, by 
their nature, have a 30-year horizon so there will be years where investment income is negative. Recent 
years have seen positive investment returns for the pension funds. With a 30-year investment horizon the 
pension funds are allowed to have some of their investments in equities more commonly referred to as the 
stock market.  Funds other than the pension funds earned $2,765 of interest income this past fiscal year.  
 
INDEPENDENT AUDIT 
 
An independent audit of this year’s comprehensive annual financial report was conducted by Lauterbach & 
Amen, LLP of Naperville, Illinois. Their audit included tests of the accounting records and accounting 
procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. They 
are not responsible for presentation of the financial statements nor the information contained in them. 
However, their tests have allowed them to issue an unmodified opinion on the comprehensive annual 
financial report. 
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10
59

Item 8. B.



 

 
 

FINANCIAL SECTION 
 
 

This section includes: 
 

• Independent Auditors’ Report 
 

• Management’s Discussion and Analysis 
 

• Basic Financial Statements 
 

• Required Supplementary Information 
 

• Other Supplemental Information 
 

• Supplemental Schedules 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT 
 

 

September 16, 2021 
 

The Honorable Village President 

Members of the Board of Trustees 

Village of Homewood, Illinois 
 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type 

activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the Village of Homewood, 

Illinois, as of and for the year ended April 30, 2021, and the related notes to the financial statements, which 

collectively comprise the Village’s basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents. 
 

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 
 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in 

accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the 

design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation 

of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 

Auditor’s Responsibility 
 

Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit. We did not audit 

the financial statements of the Police Pension Fund and Firefighters’ Pension Fund. Those statements were 

audited by other auditors whose report has been furnished to us, and our opinion, insofar as it relates to the 

amounts included for the Police Pension Fund and Firefighters’ Pension Fund, is based solely on the report 

of the other auditors. We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in 

the United States of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government 

Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards require that 

we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are 

free of material misstatement. 
 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 

financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment 

of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making 

those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the Village’s preparation and fair 

presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 

circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Village’s internal 

control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of 

accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, 

as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.  
 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 

audit opinions. 
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Village of Homewood, Illinois 

September 16, 2021 

Page 2 

 

 

Opinions 
 

In our opinion, based on our audit and the report of other auditors, the financial statements referred to above 

present fairly, in all material respects, the respective financial position of the governmental activities, the 

business-type activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the Village of 

Homewood, Illinois, as of April 30, 2021, and the respective changes in financial position and, where 

applicable, cash flows thereof for the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally 

accepted in the United States of America. 

 

Other Matters 

 

Required Supplementary Information 

  

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management’s 

discussion and analysis as listed in the table of contents and budgetary information reported in the required 

supplementary information as listed in the table of contents, be presented to supplement the basic financial 

statements. Such information, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the 

Governmental Accounting Standards Board, who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting 

for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. We 

have applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance with 

auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of 

management about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency 

with management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we 

obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any 

assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to 

express an opinion or provide any assurance. 

 

Other Information 

 

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively 

comprise the Village of Homewood, Illinois’ basic financial statements. The introductory section, other 

supplementary information, supplemental schedules, and statistical section are presented for purposes of 

additional analysis and are not a required part of the basic financial statements.  

 

The other supplementary information and supplemental schedules are the responsibility of management and 

were derived from and relate directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the 

basic financial statements. Such information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the 

audit of the basic financial statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and 

reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the 

basic financial statements or to the basic financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures 

in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, 

the other supplementary information and supplemental schedules are fairly stated, in all material respects, 

in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole.  
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Village of Homewood, Illinois 

September 16, 2021 

Page 3 

 

 

Other Matters – Continued  

 

Other Information – Continued  

 

The introductory and statistical sections have not been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the 

audit of the basic financial statements and, accordingly, we do not express an opinion or provide any 

assurance on them. 

 

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 

 

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated September 16, 

2021, on our consideration of the Village’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its 

compliance with certain provision of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other matters. 

The purpose of that report is to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting 

and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the 

Village’s internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an 

audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the Village’s internal 

control over financial reporting and compliance. 

 

 

Lauterbach & Amen, LLP 
LAUTERBACH & AMEN, LLP 
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VILLAGE OF HOMEWOOD, ILLINOIS 
 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis 
April 30, 2021 
 
 
Our discussion and analysis of the Village of Homewood’s (Village) financial performance provides an 
overview of the Village’s financial activities for the fiscal year ended April 30, 2021. Please read it in 
conjunction with the transmittal letter which can be found in the introductory section of this report and 
the Village’s financial statements, which can be found in the basic financial statements section of this 
report.  
 
FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS 
 

• The Village’s net position of the governmental activities decreased by $335,834 or 1.1 
percent and the net position of business-type activities increased by $427,550 or 1.0 percent. 

 
• During the year, government-wide revenues for the primary government totaled $33,427,979, 

while expenses totaled $33,336,263, resulting in an increase to net position of $91,716.  
 

• The Village’s net position totaled $13,704,703 on April 30, 2021, which includes 
$49,046,772 net investment in capital assets, $13,135,508 subject to external restrictions, and 
$48,477,577 unrestricted deficit net position that may be used to meet the ongoing 
obligations to citizens and creditors, within the framework of each funds purpose. 

 
• The General Fund reported a surplus, mainly due to a transfer in of $1,217,239, resulting in 

ending fund balance of $8,828,960, an increase of 15.1 percent. 
 
USING THIS ANNUAL REPORT 
 
This annual report consists of a series of financial statements. The Statement of Net Position and the 
Statement of Activities provide information about the activities of the Village as a whole and present a 
longer-term view of the Village’s finances. For governmental activities, these statements tell how these 
services were financed in the short term as well as what remains for future spending. Fund financial 
statements also report the Village’s operations in more detail than the government-wide statements by 
providing information about the Village’s most significant funds. The remaining statements provide 
financial information about activities for which the Village acts solely as a trustee or agent for the 
benefit of those outside of the government. 
 
Government-Wide Financial Statements 
 
The government-wide financial statements provide readers with a broad overview of the Village’s 
finances, in a matter similar to a private-sector business.  
 
The Statement of Net Position reports information on all of the Village’s assets/deferred outflows and 
liabilities/deferred inflows, with the difference between the two reported as net position. Over time, 
increases or decreases in net position may serve as a useful indicator of whether the financial position of 
the Village is improving or deteriorating. Consideration of other nonfinancial factors, such as changes in 
the Village’s property tax base and the condition of the Village’s infrastructure, is needed to assess the 
overall health of the Village. 
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VILLAGE OF HOMEWOOD, ILLINOIS 
 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis 
April 30, 2021 
 
 
USING THIS ANNUAL REPORT – Continued 
 
Government-Wide Financial Statements – Continued 
 
The Statement of Activities presents information showing how the government’s net position changed 
during the most recent fiscal year. All changes in net position are reported as soon as the underlying 
event giving rise to the change occurs, regardless of the timing of related cash flows. Thus, revenues and 
expenses are reported in this statement for some items that will only result in cash flows in future fiscal 
periods (e.g., uncollected taxes and earned but unused vacation leave). 
 
Both of the government-wide financial statements distinguish functions of the Village that are 
principally supported by taxes and intergovernmental revenues (governmental activities) from other 
functions that are intended to recover all or a significant portion of their costs through user fees and 
charges (business-type activities). The governmental activities of the Village include general 
government, public safety, and highways and streets. The business-type activities of the Village include 
water and sewer operations. 
 
Fund Financial Statements 
 
A fund is a grouping of related accounts that is used to maintain control over resources that have been 
segregated for specific activities or objectives. The Village, like other local governments, uses fund 
accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance-related legal requirements. All of the 
funds of the Village can be divided into three categories: governmental funds, proprietary funds, and 
fiduciary funds.  
 
Governmental Funds 
 
Governmental funds are used to account for essentially the same functions reported as governmental 
activities in the government-wide financial statements. However, governmental fund financial 
statements focus on near-term inflows and outflows of spendable resources, as well as on balances of 
spendable resources available at the end of the fiscal year. Such information may be useful in evaluating 
the Village’s near-term financing requirements.  
 
Because the focus of governmental funds is narrower than that of the government-wide financial 
statements, it is useful to compare the information presented for governmental funds with similar 
information presented for governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements. By 
doing so, readers may better understand the long-term impact of the government’s near-term financing 
decisions. Both the governmental fund balance sheet and the governmental fund statement of revenues, 
expenditures, and changes in fund balances provide a reconciliation to facilitate the comparison between 
governmental funds and governmental activities.  
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VILLAGE OF HOMEWOOD, ILLINOIS 
 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis 
April 30, 2021 
 
 
USING THIS ANNUAL REPORT – Continued 
 
Fund Financial Statements – Continued 
 
Governmental Funds – Continued  
 
The Village maintains fifteen individual governmental funds. Information is presented separately in the 
governmental fund balance sheet and in the governmental fund statement of revenues, expenditures, and 
changes in fund balances for the General and Downtown TOD TIF Funds, both of which are considered 
major funds. Data from the other thirteen governmental funds are combined into a single, aggregated 
presentation. Individual fund data for each of these nonmajor governmental funds is provided in the 
form of combining statements elsewhere in this report.  
 
The Village adopts an annual appropriated budget for all of the governmental funds, except the Police 
Pension, Firefighters Pension, East CBD TIF, and CIP General Funds. A budgetary comparison 
schedule for the remaining funds has been provided to demonstrate compliance with this budget.  
 
Proprietary Funds 
 
The Village maintains one proprietary fund type: enterprise funds. Enterprise funds are used to report 
the same functions presented as business-type activities in the government-wide financial statements. 
The Village utilizes enterprise funds to account for its water and sewer operations.  
 
Proprietary fund financial statements provide the same type of information as the government-wide 
financial statements, only in more detail. The proprietary fund financial statements provide separate 
information for the Water and Sewer Fund, a major fund. 
 
Fiduciary Funds 
 
Fiduciary funds are used to account for resources held for the benefit of parties outside the government. 
Fiduciary funds are not reflected in the government-wide financial statements because the resources of 
those funds are not available to support the Village’s own programs. The accounting use for fiduciary 
funds is much like that used for proprietary funds.  
 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
 
The notes provide additional information that is essential to a full understanding of the data provided in 
the government-wide and fund financial statements.  
 
Other Information 
 
In addition to the basic financial statements and accompanying notes, this report also presents certain 
required supplementary information concerning the Village’s employer pension obligation for I.M.R.F., 
Sheriff’s Law Enforcement Personnel, Police Pension, Firefighters’ Pension, and Other-Post 
Employment Benefit Plan, and the budgetary comparison schedules for the General and Downtown 
TOD TIF Funds.   
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VILLAGE OF HOMEWOOD, ILLINOIS 
 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis 
April 30, 2021 
 
 
USING THIS ANNUAL REPORT – Continued 
 
Fund Financial Statements – Continued 
 
GOVERNMENT-WIDE FINANCIAL ANALYSIS 
 
Net position may serve over time as a useful indicator of a government’s financial position. The 
following tables show that in the case of the Village, assets/deferred outflows exceeded 
liabilities/deferred inflows by $13,704,703.  
 

2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020

Current and Other Assets $ 20,746,464 14,938,031 15,503,061 16,325,186 36,249,525 31,263,217
Capital Assets 15,835,464 16,410,481 33,872,005 30,516,884 49,707,469 46,927,365

Total Assets 36,581,928 31,348,512 49,375,066 46,842,070 85,956,994 78,190,582
Deferred Outflows 21,952,707 23,553,547 262,444 387,728 22,215,151 23,941,275

Total Assets/ Def. Outflows 58,534,635 54,902,059 49,637,510 47,229,798 108,172,145 102,131,857

Long-Term Debt 68,606,093 70,926,363 1,199,798 1,559,699 69,805,891 72,486,062
Other Liabilities 1,646,019 1,364,396 2,994,929 775,269 4,640,948 2,139,665

Total Liabilities 70,252,112 72,290,759 4,194,727 2,334,968 74,446,839 74,625,727
Deferred Inflows 19,638,169 13,631,112 382,434 262,031 20,020,603 13,893,143

Total Liabilities/Def. Inflows 89,890,281 85,921,871 4,577,161 2,596,999 94,467,442 88,518,870

Net Position
Net Investment in

Capital Assets 15,217,542 15,528,743 33,829,230 30,432,519 49,046,772 45,961,262
Restricted 5,615,145 3,228,573 7,520,363 10,391,715 13,135,508 13,620,288
Unrestricted (52,188,333) (49,777,128) 3,710,756 3,808,565 (48,477,577) (45,968,563)

Total Net Position (31,355,646) (31,019,812) 45,060,349 44,632,799 13,704,703 13,612,987

Net Position
Governmental Business-Type

Activities Activities Totals

 
 

A large portion of the Village’s net position, $49,046,772, reflects its investment in capital assets (for 
example, land, construction in progress, buildings and improvements, vehicle and equipment, and 
infrastructure), less any related debt used to acquire those assets that is still outstanding. The Village 
uses these capital assets to provide services to citizens; consequently, these assets are not available for 
future spending. Although the Village’s investment in its capital assets is reported net of related debt, it 
should be noted that the resources needed to repay this debt must be provided from other sources, since 
the capital assets themselves cannot be used to liquidate these liabilities.  
 
An additional portion, $13,135,508, of the Village’s net position represents resources that are subject to 
external restrictions on how they may be used. The remaining ($48,477,577), represents unrestricted net 
position and may be used to meet the government’s ongoing obligations to citizens and creditors.  
 
  

17
69

Item 8. B.



VILLAGE OF HOMEWOOD, ILLINOIS 
 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis 
April 30, 2021 
 
 
GOVERNMENT-WIDE FINANCIAL ANALYSIS – Continued 
 

    

2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020

Revenues
Program Revenues

Charges for Services $ 2,046,697 2,448,821 8,513,684 8,783,964 10,560,381 11,232,785
Operating Grants/Contrib. 2,166,052 685,674 -     -     2,166,052 685,674

General Revenues
Property Taxes 6,259,235 6,613,258 -     -     6,259,235 6,613,258
Income Taxes 2,345,471 1,901,093 -     -     2,345,471 1,901,093
Sales Taxes 5,603,418 5,038,077 -     -     5,603,418 5,038,077
Replacement Taxes 86,142 80,610 -     -     86,142 80,610
Other Taxes 4,735,210 4,101,635 -     -     4,735,210 4,101,635
Interest Income 2,123 47,793 642 24,459 2,765 72,252
Miscellaneous 1,669,305 2,168,812 -     -     1,669,305 2,168,812

Total Revenues 24,913,653 23,085,773 8,514,326 8,808,423 33,427,979 31,894,196

Expenses
General Government 7,543,609 7,322,355 -     -     7,543,609 7,322,355
Public Health/ Environment Protection 619,498 747,625 -     -     619,498 747,625
Maintenance/Development of
    Public Facilities 3,664,557 3,382,539 -     -     3,664,557 3,382,539
Protect of Persons/Property 13,978,493 15,158,189 -     -     13,978,493 15,158,189
Community Development 362,759 853,061 -     -     362,759 853,061
Interest on Long-Term Debt 24,037 20,639 -     -     24,037 20,639
Water and Sewer -     -     6,373,074 6,370,704 6,373,074 6,370,704
Depreciation -     -     770,236 655,219 770,236 655,219

Total Expenses 26,192,953 27,484,408 7,143,310 7,025,923 33,336,263 34,510,331

Change Before Transfers (1,279,300) (4,398,635) 1,371,016 1,782,500 91,716 (2,616,135)

Internal Activity-Transfers 943,466 974,480 (943,466) (974,480) -     -     

Change in Net Position (335,834) (3,424,155) 427,550 808,020 91,716 (2,616,135)

Net Position-Beginning (31,019,812) (27,595,657) 44,632,799 43,824,779 13,612,987 16,229,122

Net Position-Ending (31,355,646) (31,019,812) 45,060,349 44,632,799 13,704,703 13,612,987

Changes in Net Position
Governmental Business-Type

Activities Activities Totals

 
 
Net position of the Village’s governmental activities decreased by 1.1 percent [($31,019,812) in 2020 
compared to ($31,355,646) in 2021]. Unrestricted governmental activities net position, the part of net 
position that can be used to finance day-to-day operations without constraints, totaled ($52,188,333) at 
April 30, 2021. 
 
Net position of business-type activities increased by 1.0 percent ($44,632,799 in 2020 compared to 
$45,060,349 in 2021).  
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VILLAGE OF HOMEWOOD, ILLINOIS 
 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis 
April 30, 2021 
 
 
GOVERNMENT-WIDE FINANCIAL ANALYSIS – Continued 
 
Governmental Activities 
 
Revenues for governmental activities totaled $24,913,653, while the cost of all governmental functions 
totaled $26,192,953. This results in a deficit of $1,279,300 prior to transfers in of $943,466.  
 
The following table graphically depicts the major revenue sources of the Village. It depicts very clearly 
the reliance of charges for services, property taxes, and income taxes to fund governmental activities. It 
also clearly identifies the less significant percentage the Village receives from municipal utility taxes 
and sales taxes.  
 

 
 

The ‘Expenses and Program Revenues’ Table identifies those governmental functions where program 
expenses greatly exceed revenues.  
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VILLAGE OF HOMEWOOD, ILLINOIS 
 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis 
April 30, 2021 
 
 
GOVERNMENT-WIDE FINANCIAL ANALYSIS – Continued 
 
Governmental Activities – Continued 

 
Business-Type activities 
 
Business-Type activities posted total revenues of $8,514,326, while the cost of all business-type 
activities totaled $7,143,310.  This results in a surplus of $1,371,016, prior to transfers out of $943,466.  
The surplus is primarily due to capital projects which have not yet started, but will draw down current 
surplus when they do. There is a major project to change water suppliers on the table and when the 
Village moves forward, a significant amount of our surplus will be used for that project. The Village 
plans no debt issuance for these projects.  Monthly water/sewer bills contain a charge for capital 
projects. This pay-as-you-go cash funding of projects, without debt, began in 2005 with the payoff of the 
last water/sewer bonds. 

 
The above graph compares program revenues to expenses for utility operations. 
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VILLAGE OF HOMEWOOD, ILLINOIS 
 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis 
April 30, 2021 
 
 
FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE GOVERNMENT’S FUNDS 
 
As noted earlier, the Village uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance-
related legal requirements. 
 
Governmental Funds  
 
The focus of the Village’s governmental funds is to provide information on near-term inflows, outflows, 
and balances of spendable resources. In particular, unassigned fund balance may serve as a useful 
measure of a government’s net resources available for spending at the end of the fiscal year. 
 
The Village’s governmental funds reported combining ending fund balances of $14,310,551, which is 
$3,815,893, or 36.4 percent, higher than last year’s total of $10,494,658. Of the $14,310,551 total, 
$8,694,236 or approximately 60.8 percent, of the fund balance constitutes unrestricted fund balance.  
 
The General Fund, including the retirement IMRF Fund, reported a surplus change in fund balance for 
the year of $1,155,640, an increase of 15.1 percent.   
 
The General Fund is the chief operating fund of the Village. At April 30, 2021, unassigned fund balance 
in the General Fund was $7,029,846, which represents 79.6 percent of the total fund balance. As a 
measure of the General Fund’s liquidity, it may be useful to compare unassigned fund balance to total 
fund expenditures. Unassigned fund balance in the General Fund represents approximately 32.6 percent 
of total General Fund expenditures.  
 
The Downtown TOD TIF Fund reported a surplus change in fund balance of $38,839. The TIF is to be 
used for economic development & re-development within Homewood’s downtown area over the next 22 
years. 
 
Proprietary Funds 
 
The Village’s proprietary funds provide the same type of information found in the government-wide 
financial statements, but in more detail. 
 
The Village reports the Water and Sewer as a major proprietary fund, which accounts for all of the 
operations of the municipal water and sewer system. The spread between purchase and sale rates is 
intended to finance the operations of the utility system, including labor costs, supplies, and infrastructure 
maintenance.  
 
The Village intends to run the fund at a breakeven rate. Periodically, there will be an annual surplus or 
draw down due to timing of capital projects. Overall change in net position for the proprietary fund at 
year end was a surplus of $427,550. Capital project completion would draw down this surplus. 
Depreciation expense accounts for $770,236 of the total fund’s expenses of $7,143,310, or 10.8 percent. 
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VILLAGE OF HOMEWOOD, ILLINOIS 
 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis 
April 30, 2021 
 
 
GENERAL FUND BUDGETARY HIGHLIGHTS 
 
General Fund actual revenues for the year totaled $21,505,914 compared to budgeted revenues of 
$20,593,701. For the just completed current fiscal year, in the larger revenue categories, taxes were 
$672,442 below budget and intergovernmental was $2,306,927 over budget. 
 
The General Fund actual expenditures for the year were $1,310,323 lower than budgeted ($21,579,913 
actual compared to $22,890,236 budgeted). Retirements and other staffing movements in the public 
safety departments of Police & Fire this past year resulted in the public safety budget, the Village’s 
largest department budget, and actual expenditures coming in below budget. 
 
CAPITAL ASSETS AND DEBT ADMINISTRATION 
 
Capital Assets 
 
The Village’s investment in capital assets for its governmental and business type activities as of April 
30, 2021 was $49,707,469 (net of accumulated depreciation). This investment in capital assets includes 
land, buildings and improvements, vehicle and equipment, and infrastructure. 

 

2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020

Land $ 1,855,413 1,855,413 274,278 -     2,129,691 1,855,413
Construction in Progress -     -     4,006,090 385,185 4,006,090 385,185
Buildings and Improvements 2,829,061 2,945,986 729,968 796,491 3,559,029 3,742,477
Vehicles and Equipment 3,331,527 3,584,296 709,959 609,564 4,041,486 4,193,860
Infrastructure 7,819,463 8,024,786 28,151,710 28,725,644 35,971,173 36,750,430

Totals 15,835,464 16,410,481 33,872,005 30,516,884 49,707,469 46,927,365

 Capital Assets - Net of Depreciation
Governmental Business-Type

Activities Activities Totals

 
Capital asset additions for the year included: 
 

Land $ 274,278       
Construction in Progress 3,620,905    
Vehicles and Equipment 359,827       

4,255,010    
 

 
Additional information on the Village’s capital assets can be found in Note 3 of this report. 
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VILLAGE OF HOMEWOOD, ILLINOIS 
 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis 
April 30, 2021 
 
 
CAPITAL ASSETS AND DEBT ADMINISTRATION – Continued  
 
Debt Administration 
 
At year-end, the Village had total outstanding debt of $1,790,000. The following is a comparative 
statement of outstanding debt: 

 

2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020

General Obligation Bonds $ 1,790,000 537,000 -     -     1,790,000 537,000

Long-Term Debt Outstanding
Governmental Business-Type

Activities Activities Totals

 
 

The Village’s outstanding debt increased by $1,253,000 or 233.3 percent in this fiscal year. Additional 
information on the Village’s long-term debt can be found in Note 3 of this report. 
 
ECONOMIC FACTORS AND NEXT YEAR’S BUDGET AND RATES 
 
The Village of Homewood has been fortunate thus far through the COVID 19 pandemic. Our sales tax, 
places for eating tax and income tax revenue line items came in higher than budgeted.  Those higher 
figures helped to offset the reduced revenues seen in fines & fees and other smaller revenue items.  As 
we prepared the Village’s 2021/22 budget which went into effect 5/1/2021, we were careful to consider 
the ongoing COVID 19 pandemic and the effect that may have on the Village’s finances.  However, we 
were able to add back some of the expense reductions from the COVID 19 2020/21 budget.  The 
Village, like other local municipalities, is awaiting the release of the American Rescue Plan Act funds.  
The Village is expected to receive $2.5 million.  These funds were not budgeted for in the 2021/2022 but 
once the funds are received, we can look to bring back some of the items that were left out of the budget 
in order to balance our revenues & expenses.  The Village is faced with a similar economic environment 
as many of the other local municipalities, including COVID 19, a cycle of ups and downs for economic, 
unemployment, and residential housing.  While Homewood cannot solve COVID 19 and must wait it 
out like the rest of the country, the Village has many economic development initiatives moving forward 
that will help Homewood have continued fiscal success now and in the years to come. 
 
REQUESTS FOR INFORMATION 
 
This financial report is designed to provide a general overview of the Village of Homewood’s finances 
for all those with an interest in the government’s finances. Questions concerning any of the information 
provided in this report or requests for additional information should be directed to Finance Director, 
Village of Homewood, 2020 Chestnut Road, Homewood, Illinois, 60430. 

23
75

Item 8. B.



• Government-Wide Financial Statements

• Fund Financial Statements

Governmental Funds

Proprietary Fund

Fiduciary Funds

BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The basic financial Statements include integrated sets of financial statements as required by the GASB. The sets
of statements include:

In addition, the notes to the financial statements are included to provide information that is essential to a user’s
understanding of the basic financial statements.
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VILLAGE OF HOMEWOOD, ILLINOIS

Statement of Net Position

April 30, 2021

Business-Type

Activities Totals

 

 

Current Assets

Cash and Investments $ 11,720,524 13,645,602 25,366,126

Receivables - Net of Allowances 6,096,222 1,693,843 7,790,065

Inventories 173,428 -      173,428

Prepaids 1,437,041 -      1,437,041

Total Current Assets 19,427,215 15,339,445 34,766,660

Noncurrent Assets

Capital Assets

Nondepreciable Capital Assets 1,855,413 4,280,368 6,135,781

Depreciable Capital Assets 29,172,447 49,645,355 78,817,802

Accumulated Depreciation (15,192,396) (20,053,718) (35,246,114)

15,835,464 33,872,005 49,707,469

Other Assets

Net Pension Asset - IMRF 1,319,249 163,616 1,482,865

Total Noncurrent Assets 17,154,713 34,035,621 51,190,334

Total Assets 36,581,928 49,375,066 85,956,994

Deferred Items - IMRF 510,148 63,269 573,417

Deferred Items - SLEP 8,736 -      8,736

Deferred Items - Police Pension 11,765,650 -      11,765,650

Deferred Items - Firefighters' Pension 7,543,383 -      7,543,383

Deferred Items - RBP 2,124,790 199,175 2,323,965

Total Deferred Outflows of Resources 21,952,707 262,444 22,215,151

Total Assets and Deferred Outflows of Resources 58,534,635 49,637,510 108,172,145

ASSETS 

Primary Government

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES

Governmental

Activities

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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Business-Type

Activities Totals

Current Liabilities  

Accounts Payable $ 291,124 2,842,967 3,134,091

Accrued Payroll 231,998 20,464 252,462

Deposits Payable -      69,459 69,459

Accrued Interest Payable 9,446 1,067 10,513

Other Payables 302,330 -      302,330

Current Portion of Long-Term Debt 811,121 60,972 872,093

Total Current Liabilities 1,646,019 2,994,929 4,640,948

Noncurrent Liabilities

Compensated Absences Payable 324,439 72,789 397,228

Net Pension Liability - SLEP 165,864 -      165,864

Net Pension Liability - Police Pension 40,269,356 -      40,269,356

Net Pension Liability - Firefighters' Pension 14,528,390 -      14,528,390

Total OPEB Liability - RBP 12,022,871 1,127,009 13,149,880

General Obligation Bonds Payable 1,165,000 -      1,165,000

Installment Contract Payable 130,173 -      130,173

Total Noncurrent Liabilities 68,606,093 1,199,798 69,805,891

Total Liabilities 70,252,112 4,194,727 74,446,839

Deferred Items - IMRF 3,024,948 375,159 3,400,107

Deferred Items - SLEP 137,099 -      137,099

Deferred Items - Police Pension 8,714,806 -      8,714,806

Deferred Items - Firefighters' Pension 3,923,498 -      3,923,498

Deferred Items - RBP 77,606 7,275 84,881

Property Taxes 3,760,212 -      3,760,212

Total Deferred Inflows of Resources 19,638,169 382,434 20,020,603

Total Liabilities and Deferred Inflows of Resources 89,890,281 4,577,161 94,467,442

 

Net Investment in Capital Assets 15,217,542 33,829,230 49,046,772

Restricted - Employee Benefits 32,024 -      32,024

Restricted - TIF Development 1,418,300 -      1,418,300

Restricted - Law Enforcement 832,768 -      832,768

Restricted - Street Improvement 1,203,657 -      1,203,657

Restricted - Fire Department 86,293 -      86,293

Restricted - Telecommunication 594,125 -      594,125

Restricted - Capital Projects 1,447,978 7,520,363 8,968,341

Unrestricted (Deficit) (52,188,333) 3,710,756 (48,477,577)

Total Net Position (31,355,646) 45,060,349 13,704,703

LIABILITIES

Governmental

Activities

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES

NET POSITION

Primary Government

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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VILLAGE OF HOMEWOOD, ILLINOIS

Statement of Activities

For the Fiscal Year Ended April 30, 2021

 

Charges Operating Capital

for Grants/ Grants/

Services Contributions Contributions

Governmental Activities

General Government $ 7,543,609 751,172 837,479 -      

Public Health/Environment Protection 619,498 -      -      -      

Maintenance/Development of 

Public Facilities 3,664,557 87,183 1,328,573 -      

Protect of Persons/Property 13,978,493 936,568 -      -      

Community Development 362,759 271,774 -      -      

Interest on Long-Term Debt 24,037 -      -      -      

Total Governmental Activities 26,192,953 2,046,697 2,166,052 -      

Business-Type Activities

Water and Sewer 7,143,310 8,513,684 -      -      

Total Primary Government 33,336,263 10,560,381 2,166,052 -      

General Revenues

    Taxes

        Property Taxes

        Other Taxes

    Intergovernmental - Unrestricted

        Sales Taxes

        Income Taxes

        Replacement Taxes

        Other Intergovernmental Taxes

    Interest Income

    Miscellaneous

Transfers - Internal Activity

Change in Net Position

Net Position - Beginning

Net Position - Ending

Expenses

Program Revenues

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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Governmental Business-Type

Activities Activities Totals

(5,954,958) -      (5,954,958)

(619,498) -      (619,498)

(2,248,801) -      (2,248,801)

(13,041,925) -      (13,041,925)

(90,985) -      (90,985)

(24,037) -      (24,037)

(21,980,204) -      (21,980,204)

-      1,370,374 1,370,374

(21,980,204) 1,370,374 (20,609,830)

6,259,235 -      6,259,235

4,180,859 -      4,180,859

5,603,418 -      5,603,418

2,345,471 -      2,345,471

86,142 -      86,142

554,351 -      554,351

2,123 642 2,765

1,669,305 -      1,669,305

943,466 (943,466) -      

21,644,370 (942,824) 20,701,546

(335,834) 427,550 91,716

(31,019,812) 44,632,799 13,612,987

(31,355,646) 45,060,349 13,704,703

Net (Expenses)/Revenues

Primary Government

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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VILLAGE OF HOMEWOOD, ILLINOIS

Balance Sheet - Governmental Funds

April 30, 2021

Special

Revenue

Downtown

TOD

TIF Nonmajor Totals

Cash and Investments $ 5,578,842   606,720     5,534,962 11,720,524 

Receivables - Net of Allowances

Taxes 3,411,381   -            412,487    3,823,868   

Other Taxes 1,508,707   -            -            1,508,707   

Receivables 218,022      -            14,625      232,647      

Due from Other Funds 708,420      -            -            708,420      

Inventories 173,428      -            -            173,428      

Prepaids 1,437,041   -            -            1,437,041   

Total Assets 13,035,841 606,720     5,962,074 19,604,635 

Accounts Payable 261,172      1,000         28,952      291,124      

Accrued Payroll 231,998      -            -            231,998      

Other Payables 302,330      -            -            302,330      

Due to Other Funds -              638,223     70,197      708,420      

Total Liabilities 795,500      639,223     99,149      1,533,872   

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES

Property Taxes 3,411,381   -            348,831    3,760,212   

Total Liabilities and Deferred Inflows 

of Resources 4,206,881   639,223     447,980    5,294,084   

Nonspendable 1,610,469   -            -            1,610,469   

Restricted 32,024        -            5,584,291 5,616,315   

Assigned 156,621      -            -            156,621      

Unassigned 7,029,846   (32,503)     (70,197)     6,927,146   

Total Fund Balances 8,828,960   (32,503)     5,514,094 14,310,551 

Total Liabilities, Deferred Inflows of 

Resources and Fund Balances 13,035,841 606,720     5,962,074 19,604,635 

FUND BALANCES

LIABILITIES 

General

ASSETS 

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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VILLAGE OF HOMEWOOD, ILLINOIS

Reconciliation of Total Governmental Fund Balance to the

Statement of Net Position - Governmental Activities

April 30, 2021

 

Total Governmental Fund Balances $ 14,310,551

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the Statement of Net Position

are different because:

Capital assets used in governmental activities are not financial

resources and therefore, are not reported in the funds. 15,835,464

Deferred outflows (inflows) of resources related to the pensions not 

reported in the funds.

Deferred Items - IMRF (2,514,800)

Deferred Items - SLEP (128,363)

Deferred Items - Police Pension 3,050,844

Deferred Items - Firefighters' Pension 3,619,885

Deferred Items - RBP 2,047,184

Various Village tax revenues will be collected after year-end but are not available

soon enough to pay for the current period's expenditures and therefore,

are deferred in the funds. 531,000

Net Pension Asset - IMRF 1,319,249

Long-term liabilities are not due and payable in the current

period and therefore are not reported in the funds.

Compensated Absences Payable (405,549)

Net Pension Liability - SLEP (165,864)

Net Pension Liability - Police Pension (40,269,356)

Net Pension Liability - Firefighters' Pension (14,528,390)

Total OPEB Liability - RBP (12,022,871)

General Obligation Bonds Payable (1,790,000)

Installment Contract Payable (235,184)

Accrued Interest Payable (9,446)

Net Position of Governmental Activities (31,355,646)

A net pension asset is not considered to represent a financial resource and

therefore is not reported in the funds.

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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VILLAGE OF HOMEWOOD, ILLINOIS

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances - Governmental Funds

For the Fiscal Year Ended April 30, 2021

Special

Revenue

Downtown

TOD

TIF Nonmajor Totals

Revenues

Taxes $ 9,267,339 40,763 993,492 10,301,594

Intergovernmental 9,257,347 -      1,498,087 10,755,434

Charges for Services 1,128,298 -      -      1,128,298

Licenses and Permits 623,226 -      -      623,226

Fines and Forfeitures 295,173 -      -      295,173

Interest 453 60 1,610 2,123

Miscellaneous 934,078 -      722,827 1,656,905

Total Revenues 21,505,914 40,823 3,216,016 24,762,753

Expenditures

Current

General Government 7,757,589 -      41,234 7,798,823

Public Health/

Environment Protection 619,498 -      -      619,498

Maintenance/Development 

of Public Facilities 2,874,723 -      731,902 3,606,625

Protect of Persons/Property 9,922,765 -      714,102 10,636,867

Community Development 285,461 1,984 75,314 362,759

Debt Service

Principal Retirement  109,554 -      537,000 646,554

Interest and Fiscal Charges 10,323 -      11,277 21,600

Total Expenditures 21,579,913 1,984 2,110,829 23,692,726

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues

Over (Under) Expenditures (73,999) 38,839 1,105,187 1,070,027

Other Financing Sources (Uses)

Disposal of Capital Assets 12,400 -      -      12,400

Debt Issuance -      -      1,790,000 1,790,000

Transfers In 1,217,239 -      -      1,217,239

Transfers Out -      -      (273,773) (273,773)

1,229,639 -      1,516,227 2,745,866

Net Change in Fund Balances 1,155,640 38,839 2,621,414 3,815,893

Fund Balances - Beginning 7,673,320 (71,342) 2,892,680 10,494,658

Fund Balances - Ending 8,828,960 (32,503) 5,514,094 14,310,551

General

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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VILLAGE OF HOMEWOOD, ILLINOIS

Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances 

to the Statement of Activities - Governmental Activities

For the Fiscal Year Ended April 30, 2021

 

Net Change in Fund Balances - Total Governmental Funds $ 3,815,893

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the Statement of Activities

are different because:

Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures. However, in the

Statement of Activities the cost of those assets is allocated over their estimated

useful lives and reported as depreciation expense. 

Capital Outlays 129,653

Depreciation Expense (672,797)

Disposals - Cost (83,568)

Disposals - Accumulated Depreciation 51,695

The net effect of deferred outflows (inflows) of resources related to the pensions

not reported in the funds. 

Change in Deferred Items - IMRF (2,136,848)

Change in Deferred Items - SLEP (62,938)

Change in Deferred Items - Police Pension (5,611,266)

Change in Deferred Items - Firefighters' Pension 487,355

Change in Deferred Items - RBP 57,295

Because various revenues will not be collected for several months after the Village's

year-end, they are not considered available revenues and are deferred in 

governmental funds. 138,500

The issuance of long-term debt provides current financial resources to

governmental funds, while the repayment of the principal on long-term

debt consumes the current financial resources of the governmental funds.

Change in Compensated Absences Payable (12,166)

Change in Net Pension Liability - IMRF 2,748,706

Change in Net Pension Liability - SLEP 117,826

Change in Net Pension Liability - Police Pension 3,356,468

Change in Net Pension Liability - Firefighters' Pension (1,411,501)

Change in Total OPEB Liability - RBP (102,258)

Issuance of Debt (1,790,000)

Retirement of Debt 646,554

Changes to accrued interest on long-term debt in the Statement of Activities

does not require the use of current financial resources and, therefore, are not

reported as expenditures in the governmental funds. (2,437)

Changes in Net Position of Governmental Activities (335,834)

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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VILLAGE OF HOMEWOOD, ILLINOIS

Statement of Net Position - Proprietary Fund

April 30, 2021

Current Assets

Cash and Investments $ 13,645,602

Receivables - Net of Allowances

Accounts 1,693,843

Total Current Assets 15,339,445

Noncurrent Assets

Capital Assets

Nondepreciable Capital Assets 4,280,368

Depreciable Capital Assets 49,645,355

Accumulated Depreciation (20,053,718)

33,872,005

Other Assets

Net Pension Asset - IMRF 163,616

Total Noncurrent Assets

Total Assets 49,375,066

Deferred Items - IMRF 63,269

Deferred Items - RBP 199,175

Total Deferred Outflows of Resources 262,444

Total Assets and Deferred Outflows of Resources 49,637,510

Business-Type

Activities

ASSETS 

and 

Sewer

Water

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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Current Liabilities

Accounts Payable $ 2,842,967

Accrued Payroll 20,464

Deposits Payable 69,459

Accrued Interest 1,067

Compensated Absences Payable 18,197

Installment Contracts Payable 42,775

Total Current Liabilities 2,994,929

Noncurrent Liabilities

Compensated Absences Payable 72,789

Total OPEB Liability - RBP 1,127,009

Total Noncurrent Liabilities 1,199,798

Total Liabilities 4,194,727

Deferred Items - IMRF 375,159

Deferred Items - RBP 7,275

Total Deferred Inflows of Resources 382,434

Total Liabilities and Deferred Inflows of Resources 4,577,161

Net Investment in Capital Assets 33,829,230

Restricted - Capital Projectsu 7,520,363

Unrestricted 3,710,756

Total Net Position 45,060,349

NET POSITION

LIABILITIES

Business-Type

Activities

Water

and 

Sewer

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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VILLAGE OF HOMEWOOD, ILLINOIS

Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position - Proprietary Fund
For the Fiscal Year Ended April 30, 2021

Operating Revenues
Charges for Services $ 6,889,108
Sales to the Village of Flossmoor 1,405,203
Miscellaneous 219,373

Total Operating Revenues 8,513,684

Operating Expenses
Operations 6,373,074
Depreciation 770,236

Total Operating Expenses 7,143,310

Operating Income 1,370,374

Nonoperating Revenues
Interest Income 642

Income Before Transfers 1,371,016

Transfers Out (943,466)

Change in Net Position 427,550

Net Position - Beginning 44,632,799

Net Position - Ending 45,060,349

Activities

and 
Sewer

Water

Business-Type

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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VILLAGE OF HOMEWOOD, ILLINOIS

Statement of Cash Flows - Proprietary Fund
For the Fiscal Year Ended April 30, 2021

Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Receipts from Customers and Users $ 8,968,062
Payments to Employees (1,306,411)
Payments to Suppliers (3,083,243)

4,578,408

Cash Flows from Noncapital Financing Activities
Transfers Out (943,466)

Cash Flows from Capital and Related
Financing Activities

Purchase of Capital Assets (4,125,357)
Payment of Installment Contracts Principal (41,590)

(4,166,947)

Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Interest Income 642

Net Change in Cash and Cash Equivalents (531,363)

Cash and Cash Equivalents - Beginning 14,176,965

Cash and Cash Equivalents - Ending 13,645,602

Reconciliation of Operating Income to Net Cash 
Provided (Used) by Operating Activities
Operating Income  1,370,374
Adjustments to Reconcile Operating Income to

Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities:
Depreciation Expense 770,236
Other Income (248,294)
(Increase) Decrease in Current Assets 454,378
Increase (Decrease) in Current Liabilities 2,231,714

Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities 4,578,408

Activities

and 
Sewer

Water

Business-Type

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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VILLAGE OF HOMEWOOD, ILLINOIS

Statement of Fiduciary Net Position

April 30, 2021

 

Cash and Cash Equivalents $ 16,730

Investments

U.S. Government Obligations 2,699,084

U.S. Agency Obligations 12,373,590

Corporate Bonds 3,530,650

Municipal Bonds 2,883,620

Mutual Funds 34,595,205

Money Market Mutual Funds 211,142

Certificate of Deposits 326,630

Receivables - Net of Allowances

Accrued Interest 117,444

Prepaids 14,496

Total Assets 56,768,591

Accounts Payable 16,954

Net Position Restricted for Pensions 56,751,637

 ASSETS

   LIABILITIES

   NET POSITION

Pension

Trust

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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VILLAGE OF HOMEWOOD, ILLINOIS

Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position

For the Fiscal Year Ended April 30, 2021

Additions

Contributions - Employer $ 2,295,264

Contributions - Plan Members 1,065,629

Total Contributions 3,360,893

Investment Income

Interest Income 1,231,286

Net Change in Fair Value 11,282,576

12,513,862

Less Investment Expenses (89,579)

Net Investment Income 12,424,283

Total Additions 15,785,176

Deductions

Administration 82,899

Benefits and Refunds 4,009,940

Total Deductions 4,092,839

Change in Fiduciary Net Position 11,692,337

Net Position Restricted for Pensions

Beginning 45,059,300

Ending 56,751,637

Pension

Trust

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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VILLAGE OF HOMEWOOD, ILLINOIS 
 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
April 30, 2021  
 
 

 

NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  
 
The Village of Homewood, Illinois (the Village) was incorporated February 14, 1893. The Village 
operates under a Council-Manager form of government and provides services that include police, fire, 
water utility, sewer utility, street maintenance, health and environment, community development, and 
general administrative services. 
 
The government-wide financial statements are prepared in accordance with generally accepted 
accounting principles (GAAP). The Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) is responsible 
for establishing GAAP for state and local governments through its pronouncements (Statements and 
Interpretations). The more significant of the Village’s accounting policies established in GAAP and used 
by the Village are described below. 
 
REPORTING ENTITY 
 
The Village’s financial reporting entity comprises the following: 
 

Primary Government: Village of Homewood 
 
In determining the financial reporting entity, the Village complies with the provisions of GASB Statement 
No. 61, “The Financial Reporting Omnibus – an Amendment of GASB Statements No. 14 and No. 34,” 
and includes all component units that have a significant operational or financial relationship with the 
Village. Based upon the criteria set forth in the GASB Statement No. 61, there are no component units 
included in the reporting entity. 
 
Police Pension Employees Retirement System 
 
The Village’s sworn police employees participate in the Police Pension Employees Retirement System 
(PPERS). PPERS functions for the benefit of these employees and is governed by a five-member pension 
board. 
 
Two members appointed by the Village’s President, one elected pension beneficiary and two elected 
police employees constitute the pension board. The participants are required to contribute a percentage 
of salary as established by state statute and the Village is obligated to fund all remaining PPERS costs 
based upon actuarial valuations. The State of Illinois is authorized to establish benefit levels and the 
Village is authorized to approve the actuarial assumptions used in the determination of contribution 
levels. Although it is legally separate from the Village, the PPERS is reported as if it were part of the 
primary government because its sole purpose is to provide retirement benefits for the Village’s police 
employees. The PPERS is reported as a fiduciary fund, and specifically a pension trust fund, due to the 
fiduciary responsibility exercised over the PPERS. 
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VILLAGE OF HOMEWOOD, ILLINOIS 

Notes to the Financial Statements 
April 30, 2021 

NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – Continued 

REPORTING ENTITY – Continued  

Firefighters’ Pension Employees Retirement System 

The Village’s sworn firefighter employees participate in the Firefighters’ Pension Employees Retirement 
System (FPERS). FPERS functions for the benefit of these employees and is governed by a five-member 
pension board. 

Two members appointed by the Village’s President, one elected pension beneficiary and two elected 
firefighter employees constitute the pension board. The participants are required to contribute a 
percentage of salary as established by state statute and the Village is obligated to fund all remaining 
FPERS costs based upon actuarial valuations. The State of Illinois is authorized to establish benefit levels 
and the Village is authorized to approve the actuarial assumptions used in the determination of 
contribution levels. Although it is legally separate from the Village, the FPERS is reported as if it were 
part of the primary government because its sole purpose is to provide retirement benefits for the Village’s 
firefighter employees. The FPERS is reported as a fiduciary fund, and specifically a pension trust fund, 
due to the fiduciary responsibility exercised over the FPERS. 

BASIS OF PRESENTATION 

Government-Wide Financial Statements 

The Village’s basic financial statements include both government-wide (reporting the Village as a whole) 
and fund financial statements (reporting the Village’s major funds). Both the government-wide and fund 
financial statements categorize primary activities as either governmental or business type. The Village’s 
police and fire safety, highway and street maintenance and reconstruction, forestry, building code 
enforcement, public improvements, economic development, planning and zoning, and general 
administrative services are classified as governmental activities. The Village’s water and sewer 
operations and maintenance; depreciation, improvement and extension; and surplus services are classified 
as business-type activities. 

In the government-wide Statement of Net Position, both the governmental and business-type activities 
columns are: (a) presented on a consolidated basis by column, and (b) reported on a full accrual, economic 
resource basis, which recognizes all long-term assets/deferred outflows and receivables as well as long-
term debt/deferred inflows and obligations. 

The Village’s net position is reported in three parts: net investment in capital assets; restricted; and 
unrestricted. The Village first utilizes restricted resources to finance qualifying activities. 
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NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – Continued 

BASIS OF PRESENTATION – Continued  

Government-Wide Financial Statements – Continued 

The government-wide Statement of Activities reports both the gross and net cost of each of the Village’s 
functions and business-type activities (general government, public health/environment protection, 
maintenance/development of public facilities, protect of persons/property, community development, 
etc.). The functions are supported by general government revenues (property, sales and use taxes, certain 
intergovernmental revenues, fines, permits and charges, etc.). The Statement of Activities reduces gross 
expenses (including depreciation) by related program revenues, which include 1) charges to customers 
or applicants who purchase, use or directly benefit from goods, services or privileges provided by a given 
function or segment and 2) grants and contributions that are restricted to meeting the operational or capital 
requirements of a particular function or segment. 

The net costs (by function or business-type activity) are normally covered by general revenue (property 
taxes, sales taxes, income taxes, interest income, etc.). 

The Village does not allocate indirect costs. An administrative service fee is charged by the General Fund 
to the other operating funds that is eliminated like a reimbursement (reducing the revenue and expense in 
the General Fund) to recover the direct costs of General Fund services provided (finance, personnel, 
purchasing, legal, technology management, etc.). 

This government-wide focus is more on the sustainability of the Village as an entity and the change in 
the Village’s net position resulting from the current year’s activities. 

Fund Financial Statements 

The financial transactions of the Village are reported in individual funds in the fund financial statements. 
Each fund is accounted for by providing a separate set of self-balancing accounts that comprises its 
assets/deferred outflows, liabilities/deferred inflows, fund equity, revenues and expenditures/expenses. 
Funds are organized into three major categories: governmental, proprietary, and fiduciary. The emphasis 
in fund financial statements is on the major funds in either the governmental or business-type activities 
categories. Nonmajor funds by category are summarized into a single column. GASB Statement No. 34 
sets forth minimum criteria (percentage of the assets/deferred outflows, liabilities/deferred inflows, 
revenues or expenditures/expenses of either fund category or the governmental and enterprise combined) 
for the determination of major funds. The Village may from time to time electively add funds, as major 
funds, which either have debt outstanding or specific community focus. The nonmajor funds are 
combined in a column in the fund financial statements.  
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NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – Continued 

BASIS OF PRESENTATION – Continued 

Fund Financial Statements – Continued 

A fund is considered major if it is the primary operating fund of the Village or meets the following criteria: 

Total assets/deferred outflows, liabilities/deferred inflows, revenues, or 
expenditures/expenses of that individual governmental or enterprise fund are 
at least 10 percent of the corresponding total for all funds of that category or 
type; and 

Total assets/deferred outflows, liabilities/deferred inflows, revenues, or 
expenditures/expenses of the individual governmental fund or enterprise 
fund are at least 5 percent of the corresponding total for all governmental 
and enterprise funds combined. 

The various funds are reported by generic classification within the financial statements. The following 
fund types are used by the Village: 

Governmental Funds 

The focus of the governmental funds’ measurement (in the fund statements) is upon determination of 
financial position and changes in financial position (sources, uses, and balances of financial resources) 
rather than upon net income. The following is a description of the governmental funds of the Village: 

General Fund is the general operating fund of the Village. It is used to account for all financial resources 
except those required to be accounted for in another fund. The General Fund is a major fund. 

Special Revenue Funds are used to account for the proceeds of specific revenue sources that are legally 
restricted to expenditures for specified purposes. The Village maintains ten special revenue funds. The 
Downtown TOD TIF Fund, a major fund, is used to account for TIF related revenues and expenditures 
which will drive economic development and redevelopment in the Village’s downtown area the next 23 
years. 

Debt Service Funds are used to account for the accumulation of funds for the periodic payment of 
principal and interest on general long-term debt. The Village maintains one nonmajor debt service fund. 
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NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – Continued 

BASIS OF PRESENTATION – Continued 

Fund Financial Statements – Continued 

Governmental Funds – Continued 

Capital Projects Funds are used to account for the acquisition or construction of major capital facilities 
(other than those financed by business-type/proprietary funds). The Village maintains three nonmajor 
capital projects funds.  

Proprietary Funds 

The focus of proprietary fund measurement is upon determination of operating income, changes in net 
position, financial position, and cash flows. The accounting principles generally accepted in the United 
States of America applicable are those similar to businesses in the private sector. The following is a 
description of the proprietary funds of the Village:  

Enterprise Funds are required to account for operations for which a fee is charged to external users for 
goods or services and the activity (a) is financed with debt that is solely secured by a pledge of the net 
revenues, (b) has third party requirements that the cost of providing services, including capital costs, be 
recovered with fees and charges or (c) establishes fees and charges based on a pricing policy designed to 
recover similar costs. The Village maintains one water and sewer related enterprise fund. The Water and 
Sewer Fund, a major fund, is used to account for amounts credited each month with an amount sufficient, 
when added to the amount then on deposit in this account, to pay the current month’s operating costs.  

Fiduciary Funds 

Fiduciary funds are used to report assets held in a trustee capacity for others and therefore are not available 
to support Village programs. The reporting focus is on net position and changes in net position and is 
reported using accounting principles similar to proprietary funds. 

Pension Trust Funds are used to account for assets held in a trustee capacity for pension benefit payments. 
The Police Pension Fund accounts for the accumulation of resources to pay retirement and other related 
benefits for sworn members of the Village’s police force. The Firefighters’ Pension Fund accounts for 
the accumulation of resources to pay retirement and other related benefits for sworn members of the 
Village’s Fire Department.  
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NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – Continued 
 
BASIS OF PRESENTATION – Continued 
 
Fund Financial Statements – Continued 
 
Fiduciary Funds – Continued 
 
The Village’s pension trust funds are presented in the fiduciary fund financial statements. Since by 
definition these assets are being held for the benefit of a third party (pension participants) and cannot be 
used to address activities or obligations of the Village, these funds are not incorporated into the 
government-wide statements. 
 
MEASUREMENT FOCUS AND BASIS OF ACCOUNTING 
 
Measurement focus is a term used to describe “which” transactions are recorded within the various 
financial statements. Basis of accounting refers to “when” transactions are recorded regardless of the 
measurement focus applied. 
 
Measurement Focus 
 
On the government-wide Statement of Net Position and the Statement of Activities, both governmental 
and business-type activities are presented using the economic resources measurement focus as defined 
below. 
 
In the fund financial statements, the “current financial resources” measurement focus or the “economic 
resources” measurement focus is used as appropriate. 
 
All governmental funds utilize a “current financial resources” measurement focus. Only current financial 
assets/deferred outflows and liabilities/deferred inflows are generally included on their balance sheets. 
Their operating statements present sources and uses of available spendable financial resources during a 
given period. These funds use fund balance as their measure of available spendable financial resources at 
the end of the period. 
 
All proprietary and pension trust funds utilize an “economic resources” measurement focus. The 
accounting objectives of this measurement focus are the determination of operating income, changes in 
net position (or cost recovery), financial position, and cash flows. All assets/deferred outflows and 
liabilities/deferred inflows (whether current or noncurrent) associated with their activities are reported. 
Proprietary and pension trust fund equity is classified as net position. 
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NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – Continued 
 
MEASUREMENT FOCUS AND BASIS OF ACCOUNTING – Continued 
 
Basis of Accounting  
 
In the government-wide Statement of Net Position and Statement of Activities, both governmental and 
business-type activities are presented using the accrual basis of accounting. Under the accrual basis of 
accounting, revenues are recognized when earned and expenses are recorded when the liability/deferred 
inflow is incurred or economic asset used. Revenues, expenses, gains, losses, assets/deferred outflows, 
and liabilities/deferred inflows resulting from exchange and exchange-like transactions are recognized 
when the exchange takes place. 
 
In the fund financial statements, governmental funds are presented on the modified accrual basis of 
accounting. Under this modified accrual basis of accounting, revenues are recognized when “measurable 
and available.” Measurable means knowing or being able to reasonably estimate the amount. Available 
means collectible within the current period or within sixty days after year-end. The Village recognizes 
property taxes when they become both measurable and available in accordance with GASB Codification 
Section P70. A sixty-day availability period is used for revenue recognition for all other governmental 
fund revenues. Expenditures (including capital outlay) are recorded when the related fund liability is 
incurred, except for general obligation bond principal and interest which are recognized when due. 
 
In applying the susceptible to accrual concept under the modified accrual basis, those revenues 
susceptible to accrual are property taxes, sales and use taxes, income taxes, licenses, interest revenue, and 
charges for services. All other revenues are not susceptible to accrual because generally they are not 
measurable until received in cash. 
 
All proprietary and pension trust funds utilize the accrual basis of accounting. Under the accrual basis of 
accounting, revenues are recognized when earned and expenses are recorded when the liability is incurred 
or economic asset used. 
 
Proprietary funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from non-operating items. Operating 
revenues and expenses generally result from providing services and producing and delivering goods in 
connection with a proprietary fund’s principal ongoing operations. The principal operating revenues of 
the Village’s enterprise funds are charges to customers for sales and services. The Village also recognizes 
as operating revenue the portion of tap fees intended to recover the cost of connecting new customers to 
the system. Operating expenses for enterprise funds include the cost of sales and services, administrative 
expenses, and depreciation on capital assets. All revenues and expenses not meeting this definition are 
reported as nonoperating revenues and expenses. 
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NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – Continued 

ASSETS/DEFERRED OUTFLOWS, LIABILITIES/DEFERRED INFLOWS, AND NET 
POSITION OR EQUITY 

Cash and Investments 

Cash and cash equivalents on the Statement of Net Position are considered to be cash on hand, demand 
deposits, cash with fiscal agent. For the purpose of the proprietary funds “Statement of Cash Flows,” cash 
and cash equivalents are considered to be cash on hand, demand deposits, cash with fiscal agent, and all 
highly liquid investments with an original maturity of three months or less.  

Investments are generally reported at fair value. Short-term investments are reported at cost, which 
approximates fair value. For investments, the Village categorizes its fair value measurements within the 
fair value hierarchy established by generally accepted accounting principles. The hierarchy is based on 
the valuation inputs used to measure the fair value of the asset. Level 1 inputs are quoted prices in active 
markets for identical assets; Level 2 inputs are significant other observable inputs; Level 3 inputs are 
significant unobservable inputs.  

Interfund Receivables, Payables and Activity 

Interfund activity is reported as loans, services provided, reimbursements or transfers. Loans are reported 
as interfund receivables and payables as appropriate and are subject to elimination upon consolidation. 
Services provided, deemed to be at market or near market rates, are treated as revenues and 
expenditures/expenses. Reimbursements are when one fund incurs a cost, charges the appropriate 
benefiting fund and reduces its related cost as a reimbursement. All other interfund transactions are 
treated as transfers. Transfers between governmental or proprietary funds are netted as part of the 
reconciliation to the government-wide financial statements. 

Receivables 

In the government-wide financial statements, receivables consist of all revenues earned at year-end and 
not yet received. Allowances for uncollectible accounts receivable are based upon historical trends and 
the periodic aging of accounts receivable. Major receivables balances for governmental activities include 
property taxes, sales and use taxes, income taxes, and grants. Business-type activities report utility 
charges as their major receivables. 

Prepaids/Inventories 

Prepaids/inventories are valued at cost, which approximates market, using the first-in/first-out (FIFO) 
method. The costs of governmental fund-type prepaids/inventories are recorded as expenditures when 
consumed rather than when purchased. Certain payments to vendors reflect costs applicable to future 
accounting periods and are recorded as prepaids in both the government-wide and fund financial 
statements. 
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NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – Continued 

ASSETS/DEFERRED OUTFLOWS, LIABILITIES/DEFERRED INFLOWS, AND NET 
POSITION OR EQUITY – Continued  

Capital Assets 

Capital assets purchased or acquired with an original cost of $20,000 or more, depending on asset class, 
are reported at historical cost or estimated historical cost. Contributed assets are reported at acquisition 
value as of the date received. Additions, improvements and other capital outlays that significantly extend 
the useful life of an asset are capitalized. Other costs incurred for repairs and maintenance are expensed 
as incurred. 

The accounting and financial reporting treatment applied to a fund is determined by its measurement 
focus. General capital assets are long-lived assets of the Village as a whole. When purchased, such assets 
are recorded as expenditures in the governmental funds and capitalized. In the case of the initial 
capitalization of general infrastructure assets (i.e., those reported by the governmental activities) the 
government chose to include all such items regardless of their acquisition date. Infrastructure such as 
streets, traffic signals and signs are capitalized. The valuation basis for general capital assets are historical 
cost, or where historical cost is not available, estimated historical cost based on replacement costs.  

Capital assets in the proprietary funds are capitalized in the fund in which they are utilized. The valuation 
bases for proprietary fund capital assets are the same as those used for the general capital assets. Donated 
capital assets are capitalized at estimated acquisition value on the date donated. 

Depreciation on all assets is computed and recorded using the straight-line method of depreciation over 
the following estimated useful lives: 

Buildings and Improvements 75 - 100 Years 
Vehicles and Equipment 10 - 15 Years 
Infrastructure – Bridges 80 Years 
Infrastructure – Roads 80 Years 
Infrastructure – Water and Sewer 75 - 100 Years 

Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources 

Deferred outflow/inflow of resources represents an acquisition/reduction of net position that applies to a 
future period and therefore will not be recognized as an outflow of resources (expense)/inflow of 
resources (revenue) until that future time. 
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NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – Continued 
 
ASSETS/DEFERRED OUTFLOWS, LIABILITIES/DEFERRED INFLOWS, AND NET 
POSITION OR EQUITY – Continued 
 
Compensated Absences 
 
The Village accrues accumulated unpaid vacation and associated employee-related costs when earned (or 
estimated to be earned) by the employee. In accordance with GASB Statement No. 16, no liability is 
recorded for nonvesting accumulation rights to receive sick pay benefits. All vacation pay is accrued 
when incurred in the government-wide and proprietary fund financial statements. A liability for these 
amounts is reported in the governmental funds only if they have matured, for example, as a result of 
employee resignations and retirements. 
 
In the event of termination, an employee is reimbursed for accumulated vacation days. Terminated 
employees and retirees are reimbursed for any unused accumulated sick leave earned prior to November 
11, 1984 up to 150 days at 50% for their normal pay rate. Sick leave accrued after November 11, 1984 is 
no longer available for reimbursement. An employee who is eligible and elects to retire may use up to 
320 sick leave hours earned from and after May 1, 1991 upon his or her retirement to affect an early 
retirement. All sick leave used after May 1, 1991 shall fist be deducted from hours earned after May 1, 
1994. 
 
Long-Term Obligations  
 
In the government-wide financial statements, and proprietary fund types in the fund financial statements, 
long-term debt and other long-term obligations are reported as liabilities in the applicable governmental 
activities, business-type activities, or proprietary fund type Statement of Net Position. Bond premiums 
and discounts are deferred and amortized over the life of the bonds using the effective interest method. 
Bonds payable are reported net of the applicable bond premium or discount. Bond issuance costs are 
reported as expenses at the time of issuance. 
 
In the fund financial statements, governmental fund types recognize bond premiums and discounts, as 
well as bond issuance costs, during the current period. The face amount of debt issued is reported as other 
financing sources. Premiums received on debt issuances are reported as other financing sources while 
discounts on debt issuances are reported as other financing uses. Issuance costs, whether or not withheld 
from the actual debt proceeds received, are reported as debt service expenses at the time of issuance. 
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NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – Continued 

ASSETS/DEFERRED OUTFLOWS, LIABILITIES/DEFERRED INFLOWS, AND NET 
POSITION OR EQUITY – Continued 

Net Position 

In the government-wide financial statements, equity is classified as net position and displayed in three 
components: 

Net Investment in Capital Assets – Consists of capital assets including 
restricted capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation and reduced by the 
outstanding balances of any bonds, mortgages, notes or other borrowings 
that are attributable to the acquisition, construction, or improvement of 
those assets. 

Restricted – Consists of net position with constraints placed on the use 
either by (1) external groups such as creditors, grantors, contributors, or 
laws or regulations of other governments; or (2) law through constitutional 
provisions or enabling legislations. 

Unrestricted – All other net position balances that do not meet the definition 
of “restricted” or “net investment in capital assets.” 

NOTE 2 – STEWARDSHIP, COMPLIANCE AND ACCOUNTABILITY 

BUDGETARY INFORMATION  

The Board of Trustees follows these procedures in establishing the budgetary data reflected in the 
financial statements: 

• At the first Village Board meeting in March, the Village Manager submits to the Board of Trustees
a proposed operating budget for the fiscal year commencing the following May 1. The operating
budget includes proposed expenditures and the means of financing them.

• Public budget hearings are conducted to obtain citizen comments.
• Prior to May 1, the budget is legally enacted for all operating funds except for the Police Pension,

the Firefighters’ Pension, the East CBD TIF, and the CIP General Funds.
• Total actual expenditures for any fund may not legally exceed the total budgeted for that fund.

However, modifications to the budget may be made in that the Village Manager is authorized to
transfer budgeted amounts between departments within any fund; any revisions that alter the total
expenditures of any fund must be approved by the Board of Trustees. Revisions made by the
Board on the current year’s budget were in accordance with legal requirements. Budget
appropriations lapse at year-end. During the year, several supplementary appropriations were
necessary.

48
101

Item 8. B.



VILLAGE OF HOMEWOOD, ILLINOIS 
 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
April 30, 2021  
 

 

 

NOTE 2 – STEWARDSHIP, COMPLIANCE AND ACCOUNTABILITY – Continued  
 
EXCESS OF ACTUAL EXPENDITURES OVER BUDGET IN INDIVIDUAL FUNDS 
 
The following funds had an excess of actual expenditures over budget as of the date of this report: 
 

Fund

Police Seized $ 245,649
Foreign Fire Insurance 21,628

2006 Bond 4
Network #3 Cook County Telecomm 41,234

Excess

 
 
DEFICIT FUND BALANCE 
 
The following funds had a deficit fund balance as of the date of this report: 
 

Fund

Downtown TOD TIF $ 32,503
East CBD TIF 70,197

Deficit

 
 
NOTE 3 – DETAIL NOTES ON ALL FUNDS  
 
DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS 
 
The Village maintains a cash and investment pool that is available for use by all funds, except the pension 
trust funds. Each fund type's portion of this pool is displayed on the financial statements as "cash and 
investments." In addition, investments are separately held by several of the Village's funds. The deposits 
and investments of the pension trust funds are held separately from those of other funds. 
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NOTE 3 – DETAIL NOTES ON ALL FUNDS 

DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS – Continued  

Permitted Deposits and Investments – Statutes authorize the Village to make deposits/invest in 
commercial banks, savings and loan institutions, obligations of the U.S. Treasury and U.S. Agencies, 
obligations of States and their political subdivisions, credit union shares, repurchase agreements, and 
commercial paper rated within the three highest classifications by at least two standard rating services. 

The deposits and investments of the Pension Funds are held separately from those of other Village funds. 
Statutes authorize the Pension Fund to make deposits/invest in interest bearing direct obligations of the 
United States of America; obligations that are fully guaranteed or insured as to the payment of principal 
and interest by the United States of America; bonds, notes, debentures, or similar obligations of agencies 
of the United States of America; savings accounts or certificates of deposit issued by banks or savings and 
loan associations chartered by the United States of America or by the State of Illinois, to the extent that the 
deposits are insured by the agencies or instrumentalities of the federal government; credit unions, to the 
extent that the deposits are insured by the agencies or instrumentalities of the federal government; State of 
Illinois bonds; pooled accounts managed by the Illinois Funds Market Fund (Formerly known as IPTIP, 
Illinois Public Treasurer’s Investment Pool), or by banks, their subsidiaries or holding companies, in 
accordance with the laws of the State of Illinois; bonds or tax anticipation warrants of any county, township, 
or municipal corporation of the State of Illinois; direct obligations of the State of Israel; money market 
mutual funds managed by investment companies that are registered under the Federal Investment Company 
Act of 1940 and the Illinois Securities Law of 1953 and are diversified, open-ended management 
investment companies, provided the portfolio is limited to specified restrictions; general accounts of life 
insurance companies; and separate accounts of life insurance companies and mutual funds, the mutual 
funds must meet specific restrictions, provided the investment in separate accounts and mutual funds does 
not exceed ten percent of the Pension Fund’s plan net position; and corporate bonds managed through an 
investment advisor, rated as investment grade by one of the two largest rating services at the time of 
purchase. Pension Funds with plan net position of $2.5 million or more may invest up to forty-five percent 
of plan net position in separate accounts of life insurance companies and mutual funds. Pension Funds 
with plan net position of at least $5 million that have appointed an investment advisor, may through that 
investment advisor invest up to forty-five percent of the plan net position in common and preferred stocks 
that meet specific restrictions. In addition, pension funds with plan net position of at least $10 million 
that have appointed an investment advisor, may invest up to fifty-five percent effective July 1, 2012. 
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NOTE 3 – DETAIL NOTES ON ALL FUNDS – Continued  
 
DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS – Continued  
 
Village – Interest Rate Risk, Credit Risk, Custodial Credit Risk and Concentration Risk 
 
Deposits and Investments. At year-end, the carrying amount of the Village’s deposits for governmental 
and business-type activities totaled $25,366,126, and the bank balances totaled $25,354,078.  
 
Interest Rate Risk. Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in interest rates will adversely affect the fair 
value of an investment. The Village does not have a formal investment policy that limits investment 
maturities as a means of managing its exposure to fair value losses arising from increasing interest rates.  
 
Credit Risk. Credit risk is the risk that an issuer or other counterparty to an investment will not fulfill its 
obligations. The Village’s investment policy does not address credit risk.  
 
Custodial Credit Risk. In the case of deposits, this is the risk that in the event of a bank failure, the 
Village’s deposits may not be returned to it. The Village’s investment policy does not address custodial 
credit risk for deposits. At year-end, the entire amount of the bank balance of deposits was covered by 
collateral, federal depository or equivalent insurance. 
 
For an investment, this is the risk that in the event of the failure of the counterparty, the Village will not 
be able to recover the value of its investments or collateral securities that are in the possession of an 
outside party. The Village’s investment policy does not address custodial credit risk for an investment.  
 
Concentration of Credit Risk. This is the risk of loss attributed to the magnitude of the Village’s 
investment in a single issuer. The Village’s investment policy does not address concentration of credit 
risk. At year-end, the Village does not have any investments over 5 percent of the total cash and 
investment portfolio (other than investments issued or explicitly guaranteed by the U.S. government and 
investments in mutual funds, external investment pools, and other pooled investments). 
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NOTE 3 – DETAIL NOTES ON ALL FUNDS – Continued 
 
DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS – Continued 
 
Police Pension Fund – Interest Rate Risk, Credit Risk, Custodial Credit Risk and Concentration 
Risk 
 
Deposits. At year-end, the carrying amount and bank balances of the Pension Fund’s demand deposits 
totaled $8,076. 
 
Investments. The Fund has the following investment fair values and maturities as of April 30, 2021: 
 

Less Than More Than
Investment Type 1 1 to 5 6 to 10 10

U.S. Government Obligations $ 1,661,029    65,061        779,109     816,859     -            
U.S. Agency Obligations 8,536,745    76,463        3,031,113  5,342,108  87,061       
Corporate Bonds 2,346,054    90,949        792,622     1,462,483  -            
Municipal Bonds 1,858,900    100,489      723,726     1,034,685  -            

   Totals 14,402,728  332,962      5,326,570  8,656,135  87,061       

Investment Maturities (in Years)
Fair

Value

 
 
The Fund has the following recurring fair value measurements as of April 30, 2021:  
 

Quoted 
Prices

in Active Significant 
Markets for Other Significant
Indentical Observable Unobservable

Assets Inputs Inputs
Investments by Fair Value Level (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)

Debt Securities
U.S. Government Obligations $ 1,661,029   1,661,029    -              -                 
U.S. Agency Obligations 8,536,745   -              8,536,745   -                 
Corporate Bonds 2,346,054   -              2,346,054   -                 
Municipal Bonds 1,858,900   -              1,858,900   -                 

Equity Securities
Mutual Funds 22,905,815 22,905,815  -              -                 
Money Market Mutual Funds 171,353      171,353       -              -                 

Total Investments by Fair Value Level 37,479,896 24,738,197  12,741,699 -                 

Fair Value Measurements Using

Total
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NOTE 3 – DETAIL NOTES ON ALL FUNDS – Continued 
 
DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS – Continued 
 
Police Pension Fund – Interest Rate Risk, Credit Risk, Custodial Credit Risk and Concentration 
Risk – Continued 
 
Investments – Continued. Debt Securities classified in Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy are valued using 
a matrix pricing technique. Matrix pricing is used to value securities based on the securities’ relationship 
to benchmark quoted prices. 
 
Credit Risk. The Fund’s investment policy requires all fixed income investments to be of investment 
grade quality or higher at purchase. Also, according to the provisions of the Illinois Complied Statutes, 
fixed income purchases shall be limited to obligations issued or guaranteed as to principal and interest by 
the U.S. government or any agency or instrumentality thereof or to corporate and municipal issues. All 
securities shall be of “investment grade” quality, which is, at the time of purchases, rated no lower than 
“BAA” by Moody’s and no lower than “BBB” by Standard and Poor’s. The Board, at their discretion, 
may impose a higher standard on an individual investment manager basis as circumstances or investment 
objectives dictate.  
 
Unrated (NR) and underrated investments are listed in the following table: 
 

Interst Maturity Standard
Investment Rate Date & Poors Moody's

Skokie IL Bonds $ 100,000 1.75% December 1, 2021 NR Aa2
Vernon Hills IL Bonds 100,000 2.35% March 20, 2023 AAA NR
Rock Island IL Bonds 100,000 2.94% December 1, 2023 NR A3
Will ETC IL Bonds 100,000 3.00% January 1, 2024 NR Aa2
Addison IL Bonds 100,000 0.60% December 30, 2024 AA NR

Lake County IL Bonds 100,000 3.23% January 1, 2025 AA+ NR
Kane ETC IL Bonds 100,000 1.00% December 15, 2025 NR Aa1
Enerbank USA Inc 225,000 0.65% September 25, 2026 NR NR

Romeoville IL Bonds 100,000 3.00% December 30, 2026 NR Aa2
Sterling IL Bonds 100,000 1.30% November 1, 2027 AA NR

Cook County IL Bonds 150,000 1.30% November 1, 2028 NR Aa1
Downers Grove IL Bonds 150,000 1.92% January 1, 2029 AAA NR

Lake County IL Bonds 150,000 1.10% January 1, 2029 AA+ Nr
Dekalb ETC IL Bonds 100,000 2.45% February 1, 2029 AA- NR

McHenry IL Bonds 150,000 2.14% February 15, 2030 AA NR
Jane ETC Bonds 150,000 1.13% December 15, 2030 NR Aa1

Par
Value
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NOTE 3 – DETAIL NOTES ON ALL FUNDS – Continued 
 
DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS – Continued 
 
Police Pension Fund – Interest Rate Risk, Credit Risk, Custodial Credit Risk and Concentration 
Risk – Continued  
 
Custodial Credit Risk. For deposits, the Fund’s investment policy does not address custodial credit risk 
for deposits. At year-end, the entire amount of the bank balance of deposits was covered by collateral, 
federal depository or equivalent insurance. 
 
For investments, the Fund’s investment policy requires that all amount in excess of any insurance limits 
be collateralized by securities eligible for the for the Village’s investment or any other high-quality, 
interest-bearing security rated as investment grade by one of the two largest rating services at the time of 
purchase. The market value of the pledge securities shall equal or exceed the portion of the deposit 
requiring collateralization.  
 
Interest Rate Risk. The Fund does not have a formal investment policy that limits investment maturities 
as a means of managing its exposure to fair value losses arising from increasing interest rates.  
 
Concentration Risk. The investment policy places no limit on the amount the Fund any invest in any one 
issuer. In addition to the securities and fair values listed above, the Fund also has $171,353 invested in 
money market mutual funds and $22,905,815 invested in mutual funds. At year-end, the Fund has over 5 
percent of net plan assets available for retirement benefits (other than investments issued or explicitly 
guaranteed by the U.S. government and investments in mutual funds, external investment pools, and other 
pooled investments) invested in Pioneer Equity Income of $2,437,676, T-Rowe Price Growth Stock of 
$5,025,878, TIAA-Cref Small Gap of $2,463,653 and Vanguard 500 Index Fund of $5,720,575. 
 
The Fund’s investment policy in accordance with Illinois Compiled Statutes (ILCS) establishes the 
following target allocation across asset classes:  
 

Long-Term
Expected Real

Asset Class Target Rate of Return

Fixed Income 40.00% 1.40%
Equities 60.00% 5.80% - 7.60%
Cash and Cash Equivalents 0.00% 0.00%  

 
Illinois Compiled Statutes (ILCS) limit the Fund’s investments in equities, mutual funds and variable 
annuities to 65%. Securities in any one company should not exceed 5% of the total fund.   
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NOTE 3 – DETAIL NOTES ON ALL FUNDS – Continued 
 
DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS – Continued 
 
Police Pension Fund – Interest Rate Risk, Credit Risk, Custodial Credit Risk and Concentration 
Risk – Continued  
 
Concentration Risk – Continued. The long-term expected rate of return on the Fund’s investments was 
determined using an asset allocation study conducted by the Fund’s investment management consultant 
in May 2021 in which best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return (net of pension plan 
investment expense and inflation) were developed for each major asset class. These ranges were 
combined to produce the long-term expected rate of return by weighting the expected future real rates of 
return by the target asset allocation percentage and by adding the expected inflation. Best estimates or 
arithmetic real rates of return for each major asset class included in the Fund’s target asset allocation as 
of April 30, 2021 are listed in the table above.  
 
Rate of Return 
 
For the year ended April 30, 2021, the annual money-weighted rate of return on pension plan investments, 
net of pension plan investment expense, was 27.75%. The money-weighted rate of return expresses 
investment performance, net of investment expense, adjusted for the changing amounts actually invested. 
 
Firefighters’ Pension Fund – Interest Rate Risk, Credit Risk, Custodial Credit Risk and 
Concentration Risk 
 
Deposits. At year-end, the carrying amount and bank balances of the Pension Fund’s demand deposits 
totaled $8,654. 
 
Investments. The Fund has the following investment fair values and maturities as of April 30, 2021: 
 

Less Than More Than
Investment Type 1 1 to 5 6 to 10 10

U.S. Government Obligations $ 1,038,055    100,594      391,727     545,734     -            
U.S. Agency Obligations 3,836,845    -              908,076     2,912,964  15,805       
Corporate Bonds 1,184,596    97,168        520,102     567,326     -            
Municipal Bonds 1,024,720    161,825      478,275     384,620     -            
Certificate of Deposits 326,630       -              228,533     98,097       -            

   Totals 7,084,216    359,587      2,526,713  4,508,741  15,805       

Value

Investment Maturities (in Years)
Fair
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NOTE 3 – DETAIL NOTES ON ALL FUNDS – Continued 
 
DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS – Continued 
 
Firefighters’ Pension Fund Interest Rate Risk, Credit Risk, Custodial Credit Risk and 
Concentration Risk – Continued 
 
Investments - Continued. The Fund has the following recurring fair value measurements as of April 30, 
2021:  
 

Quoted 
Prices

in Active Significant 
Markets for Other Significant
Indentical Observable Unobservable

Assets Inputs Inputs
Investments by Fair Value Level (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)

Debt Securities
U.S. Government Obligations $ 1,038,055   1,038,055    -              -                 
U.S. Agency Obligations 3,836,845   -              3,836,845   -                 
Corporate Bonds 1,184,596   -              1,184,596   -                 
Municipal Bonds 1,024,720   -              1,024,720   -                 

Equity Securities
Mutual Funds 11,689,390 11,689,390  -              -                 
Money Market Mutual Funds 39,789        39,789         -              -                 

Total Investments by Fair Value Level 18,813,395 12,767,234  6,046,161   -                 

Total

Fair Value Measurements Using

 
 
Debt Securities classified in Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy are valued using a matrix pricing 
technique. Matrix pricing is used to value securities based on the securities’ relationship to benchmark 
quoted prices. 

 
Interest Rate Risk. The Fund does not have a formal investment policy that limits investment maturities 
as a means of managing its exposure to fair value losses arising from increasing interest rates.  
 
Credit Risk. The Fund’s investment policy requires all fixed income investments to be of investment 
grade quality or higher at purchase. Also, according to the provisions of the Illinois Complied Statutes, 
fixed income purchases shall be limited to obligations issued or guaranteed as to principal and interest by 
the U.S. government or any agency or instrumentality thereof or to corporate and municipal issues. All 
securities shall be of “investment grade” quality, which is, at the time of purchases, rated no lower than 
“Baa” by Moody’s and no lower than “BBB” by Standard and Poor’s. The Board, at their discretion, may 
impose a higher standard on an individual investment manager basis as circumstances or investment 
objectives dictate.  
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NOTE 3 – DETAIL NOTES ON ALL FUNDS – Continued 
 
DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS – Continued 
 
Firefighters’ Pension Fund Interest Rate Risk, Credit Risk, Custodial Credit Risk and 
Concentration Risk – Continued 
 
Credit Risk– Continued. Unrated (NR) and underrated investments are listed in the following table: 
 

Interst Maturity Standard
Investment Rate Date & Poors Moody's

Cooks County IL CCD Bonds $ 35,000 2.82% December 1, 2021 NR Aa1
Rock Island IL Bonds 100,000 2.70% December 1, 2021 NR A3

Lake County IL CC Bonds 5,000 5.88% January 1, 2022 NR Aa2
Skokie IL Bonds 50,000 2.05% December 1, 2022 NR Aa2

Vernon Hills IL Bonds 50,000 2.35% March 30, 2023 AAA NR
Addison Illinois Bonds 100,000 0.40% December 30, 2023 AA NR

Will County IL FST PR Bonds 100,000 5.50% December 15, 2025 AA+ NR
Lake County IL CC Bonds 50,000 3.33% January 1, 2026 AA+ NR

Romeoville IL Bonds 50,000 3.00% December 30, 2026 NR Aa2
Libertyville IL Bonds 15,000 5.88% December 15, 2027 NR Aa2

Downers Grove IL Bonds 100,000 1.92% January 1, 2029 AAA NR
Lake County IL SCH Bonds 50,000 1.10% January 1, 2029 AA+ NR
MC Henry IL CSD Bonds 75,000 2.14% February 15, 2030 AA NR
Kane ETC IL CCD Bonds 100,000 1.13% December 15, 2030 NR Aa1

Value
Par

 
 
Custodial Credit Risk. For deposits, the Fund’s investment policy does not address custodial credit risk 
for deposits. At year-end, the entire amount of the bank balance of deposits was covered by collateral, 
federal depository or equivalent insurance. 
 
For investments, the Fund’s investment policy requires that all amount in excess of any insurance limits 
be collateralized by securities eligible for the for the Village’s investment or any other high-quality, 
interest-bearing security rated as investment grade by one of the two largest rating services at the time of 
purchase. The market value of the pledge securities shall equal or exceed the portion of the deposit 
requiring collateralization.  
 
Concentration Risk. The investment policy places no limit on the amount the Fund any invest in any one 
issuer. In addition to the securities and fair values listed above, the Fund also has $39,789 invested in 
money market mutual funds and $11,689,390 invested in mutual funds. At year-end, the Fund has over 5 
percent of net plan assets available for retirement benefits (other than investments issued or explicitly 
guaranteed by the U.S. government and investments in mutual funds, external investment pools, and other 
pooled investments) invested in Pioneer Equity Income of $1,236,992, T-Rowe Price Growth Stock of 
$2,663,663, TIAA-CREF Small Cap BLEN of $1,254,434 and Vanguard 500 Index Fund of $2,875,573. 
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NOTE 3 – DETAIL NOTES ON ALL FUNDS – Continued 
 
DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS – Continued 
 
Firefighters’ Pension Fund Interest Rate Risk, Credit Risk, Custodial Credit Risk and 
Concentration Risk – Continued 
 
Concentration Risk. The Fund’s investment policy in accordance with Illinois Compiled Statutes (ILCS) 
establishes the following target allocation across asset classes:  
 

Long-Term
Expected Real

Asset Class Target Rate of Return

Domestic Equities 20.00%-70.00% 5.80%-7.60%
International Equities 10.00% 7.60%
Cash and Cash Equivalents 0.00% 0.00%  

 
Illinois Compiled Statutes (ILCS) limit the Fund’s investments in equities, mutual funds and variable 
annuities to 65%. Securities in any one company should not exceed 5% of the total fund. The blended 
asset class is comprised of all other asset classes to allow for rebalancing the portfolio.  
 
The long-term expected rate of return on the Fund’s investments was determined using an asset allocation 
study conducted by the Fund’s investment management consultant in May 2021 in which best-estimate 
ranges of expected future real rates of return (net of pension plan investment expense and inflation) were 
developed for each major asset class. These ranges were combined to produce the long-term expected 
rate of return by weighting the expected future real rates of return by the target asset allocation percentage 
and by adding the expected inflation. Best estimates or arithmetic real rates of return for each major asset 
class included in the Fund’s target asset allocation as of April 30, 2021 are listed in the table above.  
 
Rate of Return 
 
For the year ended April 30, 2020, the annual money-weighted rate of return on pension plan investments, 
net of pension plan investment expense, was 27.81%. The money-weighted rate of return expresses 
investment performance, net of investment expense, adjusted for the changing amounts actually invested. 
 
PROPERTY TAXES 
 
Property taxes for the 2020 levy attach as an enforceable lien on January 1, on property values assessed 
as of the same date. Taxes are levied by December of the subsequent fiscal year (by passage of a Tax 
Levy Ordinance). Tax bills are prepared by the County and are payable in two installments, on or about 
March 1 and September 1. The County collects such taxes and remits them periodically.  
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NOTE 3 – DETAIL NOTES ON ALL FUNDS – Continued 
 
CAPITAL ASSETS 
 
Governmental Activities 
 
Governmental capital asset activity for the year was as follows: 
 
 Ending 

Increases Decreases Balances

Nondepreciable Capital Assets
Land $ 1,855,413   -             -            1,855,413   

Depreciable Capital Assets
Building and Improvements 5,229,845    -             -            5,229,845   
Vehicle and Equipment 7,025,819   129,653      83,568      7,071,904   
Infrastructure 16,870,698 -             -            16,870,698 

29,126,362 129,653      83,568      29,172,447 

Less Accumulated Depreciation
Building and Improvements 2,283,859   116,925      -            2,400,784   
Vehicle and Equipment 3,441,523   350,549      51,695      3,740,377   
Infrastructure 8,845,912   205,323      -            9,051,235   

14,571,294 672,797      51,695      15,192,396 

Total Net Depreciable Capital Assets 14,555,068 (543,144)    31,873      13,980,051 

Total Net Capital Assets 16,410,481 (543,144)    31,873      15,835,464 

Beginning
Balances

 
 
Depreciation expense was charged to governmental activities as follows: 

 
General Government $ 322,530
Maintenance/Development of 

Public Facilities 95,716
Protect of Persons/Property 254,551
 
 672,797
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NOTE 3 – DETAIL NOTES ON ALL FUNDS – Continued 
 

CAPITAL ASSETS – Continued 
 

Business-Type Activities 
 

Business-type capital asset activity for the year was as follows: 
 

Ending
Increases Decreases Balances

Nondepreciable Capital Assets
Lnad $ -      274,278 -      274,278
Construction in Progress 385,185 3,620,905 -      4,006,090

385,185 3,895,183 -      4,280,368

Depreciable Capital Assets
Building and Improvements 2,421,541 -      -      2,421,541
Vehicle and Equipment 1,229,892 230,174 -      1,460,066
Infrastructure 45,763,748 -      -      45,763,748

49,415,181 230,174 -      49,645,355

Less Accumulated Depreciation/Amortization
Building and Improvements 1,625,050 66,523 -      1,691,573
Vehicle and Equipment 620,328 129,779 -      750,107
Infrastructure 17,038,104 573,934 -      17,612,038

19,283,482 770,236 -      20,053,718

Total Net Depreciable Capital Assets 30,131,699 (540,062) -      29,591,637

Total Net Capital Assets 30,516,884 3,355,121 -      33,872,005

Beginning
Balances

 
 

Depreciation expense was charged to business-type activities as follows: 
 

Water and Sewer $ 770,236
 

 

INTERFUND RECEIVABLES, PAYABLES AND TRANSFERS  
 

Interfund Balances 
 

The composition of interfund balances as of the date of this report is as follows: 
 

Receivable Fund Payable Fund Amount

General Downtown TOD TIF $ 638,223
General Nonmajor Governmental 70,197

708,420
 

 

Interfund balances are in anticipation of receipts. 
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NOTE 3 – DETAIL NOTES ON ALL FUNDS – Continued 
 
INTERFUND RECEIVABLES, PAYABLES AND TRANSFERS – Continued 
 
Interfund Transfers 
 
Interfund transfers for the year consisted of the following: 
 

Transfers In Transfers Out Amount

General Nonmajor Governmental $ 273,773

General Water and Sewer 943,466

1,217,239
 

 
Transfers are used to move revenues from the fund that statute or budget requires to collect them to the 
fund that statute or budget requires to expend them. The Village transferred the remaining fund balance 
in the 2006 Bond Fund to the General Fund as of April 30, 2021. 
 
LONG-TERM DEBT 
 
General Obligation Bonds 
 
The Village issues general obligation bonds to provide funds for the acquisition and construction of major 
capital facilities. General obligation bonds are direct obligations and pledge the full faith and credit of 
the Village. General obligation bonds currently outstanding are as follows: 
 

Debt Ending 
Issue Retired by Issuances Retirements Balances

Debt
Service $ 537,000 -      537,000 -      

Bond
Capital
Projects -      1,790,000 -      1,790,000

537,000 1,790,000 537,000 1,790,000

Beginning
Balances

General Obligation Limited Tax
Bonds of 2017A - Due in annual
installments of $537,000 to $584,000
plus interest at 1.70% to 2.10%
through December 1, 2020.

General Obligation Limited Tax
Bonds of 2020 - Due in annual
installments of $530,000 to $635,000
plus interest at 0.75% to 0.90%
through December 1, 2023.
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NOTE 3 – DETAIL NOTES ON ALL FUNDS – Continued 
 
LONG-TERM DEBT – Continued 
 
Installment Contracts 
 
The Village has established installment contracts payable as follows: 
 

Debt Ending 
Issue Retired by Issuances Retirements Balances

General $ 7,555 -      7,555 -      

Water and
Sewer 84,365        -      41,590        42,775

General 84,365        -      41,590 42,775

General 252,818 -      60,409 192,409

429,103      -              151,144      277,959      

$416,226 Installment Contract of
2018 - Due in annual installments of
$87,988 including interest at 2.85%
through June 13, 2021.

$36,496 Installment Contract of 2016
- Due in annual installments of
$7,830 including interest at 3.64%
through August 9, 2020.

Balances

$320,870 Installment Contract of
2020 - Due in annual installments of
$68,052 including interest at 3.02%
through September 1, 2023.

Beginning

 
 
Legal Debt Margin 
 
Chapter 65, Section 5/8-5-1 of the Illinois Compiled Statutes provides, “…no municipality having a 
population of less than 500,000 shall become indebted in any manner or for any purpose, to an amount, 
including existing indebtedness in the aggregate exceeding 8.625% on the value of the taxable property 
therein, to be ascertained by the last assessment for state and county purposes, previous to the incurring 
of the indebtedness or, until January 1, 1983, if greater, the sum that is produced by multiplying the 
municipality’s 1978 equalized assessed valuation by the debt limitation percentage in effect on January 
1, 1979.” 
 

Assessed Valuation - 2020 $ 415,209,742 

Bonded Debt Limit - 8.625% of Assessed Value 35,811,840
Amount of Debt Applicable to Limit 1,790,000

Legal Debt Margin 34,021,840   
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NOTE 3 – DETAIL NOTES ON ALL FUNDS – Continued 
 
LONG-TERM DEBT – Continued 
 
Long-Term Liabilities Activity 
 
Changes in long-term liabilities during the fiscal year were as follows: 
 

Amounts
Ending Due within

Additions Deductions Balances One Year

Governmental Activities
Compensated Absences $ 393,383 24,332 12,166 405,549 81,110
Net Pension Liability/(Asset) - IMRF 1,429,457 -     2,748,706 (1,319,249) -     
Net Pension Liability - SLEP 283,690 -     117,826 165,864 -     
Net Pension Liability - Police Pension 43,625,824 -     3,356,468 40,269,356 -     
Net Pension Liability - Firefighters' Pension 13,116,889 1,411,501 -     14,528,390 -     
Total OPEB Liability - RBP 11,920,613 102,258 -     12,022,871 -     
General Obligation Bonds 537,000 1,790,000 537,000 1,790,000 625,000
Installment Contracts Payable 344,738 -     109,554 235,184 105,011

71,651,594 3,328,091 6,881,720 68,097,965 811,121

Business-Type Activities
Compensated Absences 74,438 33,096 16,548 90,986 18,197
Net Pension Liability/(Asset) - IMRF 272,596 -     436,212 (163,616) -     
Total OPEB Liability - RBP 1,184,778 -     57,769 1,127,009 -     
Installment Contracts Payable 84,365 -     41,590 42,775 42,775

1,616,177 33,096 552,119 1,097,154 60,972

Beginning
Type of Debt Balances

 
 
For governmental activities the compensated absences, the net pension liabilities, and the total OPEB 
liability are liquidated by the General Fund. The Debt Service and the Bond Capital Projects Funds make 
payments on the general obligation bonds. The General Fund makes payments on the installment 
contracts. 
 
For business-type activities the compensated absences, the net pension liability, the total OPEB liability, 
and the installment contracts are liquidated by the Water and Sewer Fund. 
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NOTE 3 – DETAIL NOTES ON ALL FUNDS – Continued 

LONG-TERM DEBT – Continued  

Debt Service Requirements to Maturity 

The annual debt service requirements to maturity, including principal and interest, are as follows: 

Fiscal
Year Interest Principal Interest Principal Interest

2022 $ 625,000 17,324 105,011 7,035 42,775 1,219
2023 635,000 9,850 64,117 3,935 -     -     
2024 530,000 4,770 66,056 1,996 -     -     

1,790,000 31,944 235,184 12,966 42,775 1,219

General
Obligation Bonds

Installment
Contract

Business-Type Activites
Installment

Contract

Governmental Activities

Principal

NET POSITION/FUND BALANCE 

Net Position Classifications 

Net investment in capital assets was comprised of the following as of April 30, 2021: 

Governmental Activities
Capital Assets - Net of Accumulated Depreciation $ 15,835,464

Plus: Unspent Bond Proceeds 1,407,262

Less Capital Related Debt:
General Obligation Limited Tax Bonds of 2020 (1,790,000)
Installment Contract of 2017A (42,775)
Installment Contract of 2020 (192,409)

Net Investment in Capital Assets 15,217,542

Business-Type Activities
Capital Assets - Net of Accumulated Depreciation 33,872,005

Less Capital Related Debt:
Installment Contract of 2017A (42,775)

Net Investment in Capital Assets 33,829,230
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NOTE 3 – DETAIL NOTES ON ALL FUNDS – Continued 

NET POSITION/FUND BALANCE – Continued 

Fund Balance Classifications 

In the governmental fund financial statements, the Village considers restricted amounts to have been 
spent when an expenditure is incurred for purposes for which both restricted and unrestricted fund balance 
is available. The Village first utilizes committed, then assigned and then unassigned fund balance when 
an expenditure is incurred for purposes for which all three unrestricted fund balances are available. 

Nonspendable Fund Balance. Consists of resources that cannot be spent because they are either: a) not 
in a spendable form; or b) legally or contractually required to be maintained intact. 

Restricted Fund Balance. Consists of resources that are restricted to specific purposes, that is, when 
constraints placed on the use of resources are either: a) externally imposed by creditors (such as through 
debt covenants), grantors, contributors, or laws or regulations of other governments; or b) imposed by 
law through constitutional provisions or enabling legislation. 

Committed Fund Balance. Consists of resources constrained (issuance of an ordinance) to specific 
purposes by the government itself, using its highest level of decision-making authority, the Board of 
Trustees; to be reported as committed, amounts cannot be used for any other purpose unless the 
government takes the same highest-level action to remove or change the constraint. 

Assigned Fund Balance. Consists of amounts that are constrained by the Board of Trustees’ intent to be 
used for specific purposes but are neither restricted nor committed. Intent is expressed by a) the Board of 
Trustees itself or b) a body or official to which the Board of Trustees has delegated the authority to assign 
amounts to be used for specific purposes. The Village’s highest level of decision-making authority is the 
Board of Trustees, who is authorized to assign amounts to a specific purpose. 

Unassigned Fund Balance. Consists of residual net resources of a fund that has not been restricted, 
committed, or assigned within the General Fund and deficit fund balances of other governmental funds. 

Minimum Fund Balance Policy. A level of unrestricted fund balances will be maintained in the General 
Fund and Water and Sewer Fund sufficient to handle emergency needs, cover unfavorable variances in 
revenue and expenditure estimates, and for cash flow purposes. The established unrestricted fund balance 
level for these funds should be adequate to cover a minimum of four months of operations. 
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NOTE 3 – DETAIL NOTES ON ALL FUNDS – Continued 
 
NET POSITION/FUND BALANCE – Continued 
 
Fund Balance Classifications – Continued 
 
The following is a schedule of fund balance classifications for the governmental funds as of the date of 
this report: 
 

Special
Revenue

Downtown
TOD
TIF Nonmajor Totals

Fund Balances
Nonspendable

Inventories $ 173,428      -            -            173,428      
Prepaids 1,437,041   -            -     1,437,041   

1,610,469 -     -     1,610,469

Restricted
Employee Benefits 32,024 -            -     32,024        
TIF Development -     -            1,418,300 1,418,300   
Law Enforcement -     -            832,768 832,768      
Street Improvement -     -            1,203,657 1,203,657   
Fire Department -     -            86,293 86,293        
Telecommunication -     -            594,125 594,125      
Debt Service -     -            1,170 1,170          
Capital Projects -     -            1,447,978 1,447,978   

32,024 -     5,584,291 5,616,315

Assigned
Non-TIF Incentives 156,621 -     -     156,621

Unassigned 7,029,846 (32,503)     (70,197) 6,927,146   

Total Fund Balances 8,828,960 (32,503) 5,514,094 14,310,551

General

 
 
 
  

66
119

Item 8. B.



VILLAGE OF HOMEWOOD, ILLINOIS 

Notes to the Financial Statements 
April 30, 2021 

 

NOTE 4 – OTHER INFORMATION 

RISK MANAGEMENT  

The Village is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to and destruction of 
assets; errors and omissions; natural disasters; and injuries to the Village’s employees. Risks covered 
included certain types of liabilities and bonds. Premiums have been displayed as expenditures/expenses 
in appropriate funds. There were no significant changes in insurance coverages from the prior year and 
settlements did not exceed insurance coverage in any of the past three fiscal years. 

Intergovernmental Risk Management Agency (IRMA) 

The Village participates in the Intergovernmental Risk Management Agency (IRMA). IRMA is an 
organization of municipalities and special districts in Northeastern Illinois which have formed an 
association under the Illinois Intergovernmental Cooperations Statute to pool its risk management needs. 

The agency administers a mix of self-insurance and commercial insurance coverages; property/casualty 
and workers’ compensation claim administration/litigation management services; unemployment claim 
administration; extensive risk management/loss control consulting and training programs; and a risk 
information system and financial reporting service for its members. 

The Village’s payments to IRMA are displayed on the financial statements as expenditures/expenses in 
appropriate funds. IRMA has a mix of self-insurance and commercial insurance at various amounts about 
that level. Beginning January 1, 2020, the Village of Homewood has a $10,000 deductible for each 
occurrence. Each member appoints one delegate, along with an alternate delegate, to represent the 
member on the Board of Directors. The Village does not exercise any control over the activities of the 
Agency beyond its representation on the Board of Directors. Initial contributions are determined each 
year based on the individual member’s eligible revenue as defined in the by-laws of IRMA and experience 
modification factors based on past member loss experience. Members have a contractual obligation to 
fund any deficit of IRMA attributable to a membership year during which they were a member. 
Supplemental contributions may be required to fund these deficits. 

COMMITMENTS – TAX ABATEMENTS 

The Village of Homewood has entered into various tax rebate agreements with local corporations under 
Village code. Under these agreements, the Village rebates a portion of sales and places for eating taxes. 
For the fiscal year ended April 30, 2021, the Village rebated a total of $72,000, in taxes, under these 
agreements. 
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NOTE 4 – OTHER INFORMATION – Continued 

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 

Litigation 

The Village is a defendant in various lawsuits. Although the outcome of these lawsuits is not presently 
determinable, in the opinion of the Village's attorney, the resolution of these matters will not have a 
material adverse effect on the financial condition of the Village. 

Grants 

Amounts received or receivable from grantor agencies are subject to audit and adjustment by grantor 
agencies, principally the federal government. Any disallowed claims, including amounts already 
collected, may constitute a liability of the applicable funds. The amount, if any, of expenditures which 
may be disallowed by the grantor cannot be determined at this time although the Village expects such 
amounts, if any, to be immaterial. 

Financial Impact from COVID-19 

In March 2020, the World Health Organization declared the COVID-19 virus a public health emergency. 
As of the date of this report, the extent of the impact of COVID-19 on the Village’s operations and 
financial position cannot be determined. 

JOINT VENTURES 

The Village participates in a joint venture with several municipalities, which is known as E-COM, for the 
mutual operation of a centralized dispatch and communication system. E-COM provides all services 
necessary for emergency dispatch and communication. The Village pays annual assessments to E-COM. 
To obtain a copy of the E-COM separately issued financial statements, contact the E-COM Dispatch 
Center at 1154 Ridge Road, Homewood, Illinois 60430. 

EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT SYSTEM – DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS 

The Village contributes to four defined benefit pension plans, the Illinois Municipal Retirement Fund 
(IMRF), a defined benefit agent multiple-employer public employee retirement system, the Sheriff’s Law 
Enforcement Personnel Fund (SLEP), which is administered by the IMRF, the Police Pension Plan which 
is a single-employer pension plan, and the Firefighters’ Pension Plan which is a single-employer pension 
plan. A separate report is issued for the Police Pension Plan and Firefighters’ Pension Plan and may be 
obtained by writing to the Village at 2020 Chester Road, Homewood Illinois 60430. IMRF issues a 
publicly available financial report that includes financial statements and required supplementary 
information for the plan as a whole, but not by individual employer. That report may be obtained online 
at www.imrf.org. The benefits, benefit levels, employee contributions, and employer contributions are 
governed by Illinois Compiled Statutes (ILCS) and can only be amended by the Illinois General 
Assembly. 
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NOTE 4 – OTHER INFORMATION – Continued 
 
EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT SYSTEM – DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS – Continued 
 
The aggregate amount of pension expense recognized for the four pension plans is:  
 

Net Pension Deferred Deferred
Liabilities/(Assets) Outflows Inflows

IMRF
    Regular Plan $ (297,550)         (1,482,865)  573,417      3,400,107     
    SLEP Plan (26,880)           165,864      8,736          137,099        
Police Pension 3,955,498        40,269,356 11,765,650 8,714,806     
Firefighters' Pension 1,518,710        14,528,390 7,543,383   3,923,498     

5,149,778        53,480,745 19,891,186 16,175,510   

(Revenues)
Expenses/

 
 
Illinois Municipal Retirement Fund (IMRF) 
 
Plan Descriptions 
 
Plan Administration. All employees (other than those covered by the Police and Firefighters’ Pension 
Plan) hired in positions that meet or exceed the prescribed annual hourly standard must be enrolled in 
IMRF as participating members. The plan is accounted for on the economic resources measurement focus 
and the accrual basis of accounting. Employer and employee contributions are recognized when earned 
in the year that the contributions are required, benefits and refunds are recognized as an expense and 
liability when due and payable.  
 
Benefits Provided. IMRF has three benefit plans. The vast majority of IMRF members participate in the 
Regular Plan (RP). The Sheriff’s Law Enforcement Personnel (SLEP) plan is for sheriffs, deputy sheriffs, 
and selected police chiefs. Counties could adopt the Elected County Official (ECO) plan for officials elected 
prior to August 8, 2011 (the ECO plan was closed to new participants after that date). 
 
IMRF – Regular Plan. IMRF provides two tiers of pension benefits. Employees hired before January 1, 
2011, are eligible for Tier 1 benefits. Tier 1 employees are vested for pension benefits when they have at 
least eight years of qualifying service credit. Tier 1 employees who retire at age 55 (at reduced benefits) 
or after age 60 (at full benefits) with eight years of service are entitled to an annual retirement benefit, 
payable monthly for life, in an amount equal to 1-2/3% of the final rate of earnings for the first 15 years 
of service credit, plus 2% for each year of service credit after 15 years to a maximum of 75% of their 
final rate of earnings. Final rate of earnings is the highest total earnings during any consecutive 48 months 
within the last 10 years of service, divided by 48. Under Tier 1, the pension is increased by 3% of the 
original amount on January 1 every year after retirement. 
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NOTE 4 – OTHER INFORMATION – Continued 

EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT SYSTEM – DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS – Continued 

Illinois Municipal Retirement Fund (IMRF) – Continued 

Plan Descriptions – Continued 

IMRF – Regular Plan – Continued. Employees hired on or after January 1, 2011, are eligible for Tier 
2 benefits. For Tier 2 employees, pension benefits vest after ten years of service. Participating 
employees who retire at age 62 (at reduced benefits) or after age 67 (at full benefits) with ten years 
of service are entitled to an annual retirement benefit, payable monthly for life, in an amount equal 
to 1-2/3% of the final rate of earnings for the first 15 years of service credit, plus 2% for each year of 
service credit after 15 years to a maximum of 75% of their final rate of earnings. Final rate of earnings 
is the highest total earnings during any 96 consecutive months within the last 10 years of service, divided 
by 96. Under Tier 2, the pension is increased on January 1 every year after retirement, upon reaching age 
67, by the lesser of: 

• 3% of the original pension amount, or

• 1/2 of the increase in the Consumer Price Index of the original pension amount.

Sheriff’s Law Enforcement Personnel. SLEP members having accumulated at least 30 years of SLEP 
service and terminating IMRF on or after July 1, 1998, may elect to retire at or after age 50 with no early 
retirement discount penalty. SLEP members meeting these two qualifications are entitled to an annual 
retirement benefit, payable monthly for life, in an amount equal to 2.50% of their final rate of earnings, 
for each year of credited service up to 20 years, 2.00% of their final earnings rate for the next 10 years of 
credited service and 1.00% for each year thereafter. For those SLEP members retiring with less than 20 
years of SLEP service, the regular IMRF pension formula applies. SLEP also provides death and 
disability benefits. These benefit provisions and all other requirements are established by State statues.  

Plan Membership. As of December 31, 2020, the measurement date, the following employees were 
covered by the benefit terms: 

Regular SLEP Totals

Inactive Plan Members Currently Receiving Benefits 103 3 106
Inactive Plan Members Entitled to but not yet Receiving Benefits 45 - 45
Active Plan Members 56 - 56

Total 204 3 207
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NOTE 4 – OTHER INFORMATION – Continued 

EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT SYSTEM – DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS – Continued 

Illinois Municipal Retirement Fund (IMRF) – Continued 

Plan Descriptions – Continued 

Contributions. As set by statute, the Village’s Regular Plan Members are required to contribute 4.5% 
of their annual covered salary. The statute requires employers to contribute the amount necessary, in 
addition to member contributions, to finance the retirement coverage of its own employees. For the 
year-ended April 30, 2021, the Village’s contribution was 10.61% of covered payroll.  

SLEP members are required to contribute 7.50% of their annual covered salary. For the year-ended April 
30, 2021, the Village’s contribution was 0.00% of covered payroll. 

Net Pension Liability/(Asset). The Village’s net pension liability/(asset) was measured as of December 
31, 2020. The total pension liability used to calculate the net pension liability was determined by an 
actuarial valuation as of that date. 

Actuarial Assumptions. The total pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation performed, 
as of December 31, 2020, using the following actuarial methods and assumptions: 

Actuarial Cost Method Entry Age
Normal

Asset Valuation Method Fair Value

Actuarial Assumptions
Interest Rate
    Regular 7.25%
    SLEP 7.25%

Salary Increases 2.85% to 13.75%

Cost of Living Adjustments 2.25%

Inflation 2.25%
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NOTE 4 – OTHER INFORMATION – Continued 
 
EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT SYSTEM – DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS – Continued 
 
Illinois Municipal Retirement Fund (IMRF) – Continued 
 
Plan Descriptions – Continued 
 
Actuarial Assumptions - Continued. For nondisabled retirees, the Pub-2010, Amount-Weighted, below-
median income, General, Retiree, Male (adjusted 106%) and Female (adjusted 105%) tables, and future 
mortality improvements projected using scale MP-2020. For disabled retirees, the Pub-2010, Amount-
Weighted, below-median income, General, Disabled Retiree, Male and Female (both unadjusted) tables, 
and future mortality improvements projected using scale MP-2020. For active members, the Pub-2010, 
Amount-Weighted, below-median income, General, Employee, Male and Female (both unadjusted) 
tables, and future mortality improvements projected using scale MP-2020.  
 
The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was determined using a building-
block method in which best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return (expected returns, net 
of pension plan investment expense, and inflation) are developed for each major asset class. These ranges 
are combined to produce the long-term expected rate of return by weighting the expected future real rates 
of return to the target asset allocation percentage and adding expected inflation. The target allocation and 
best estimates of geometric real rates of return for each major asset class are summarized in the following 
table: 
 

Long-Term
Expected Real

Target Rate of Return

Fixed Income 28.00% 1.30%
Domestic Equities 37.00% 5.00%
International Equities 18.00% 6.00%
Real Estate 9.00% 6.20%
Blended 7.00% 2.85% - 6.95%
Cash and Cash Equivalents 1.00% 0.70%

Asset Class
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NOTE 4 – OTHER INFORMATION – Continued 

EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT SYSTEM – DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS – Continued 

Illinois Municipal Retirement Fund (IMRF) – Continued 

Discount Rate 

The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 7.25% for both the Regular Plan and 
SLEP Plan, the same in the prior valuations. The projection of cash flows used to determine the discount 
rate assumed that member contributions will be made at the current contribution rate and that Village 
contributions will be made at rates equal to the difference between the actuarially determined contribution 
rates and the member rate. Based on those assumptions, the Fund’s fiduciary net position was projected 
to be available to make all project future benefit payments of current plan members. Therefore, the long-
term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was applied to all period of projected benefit 
payments to determine the total pension liability.  

Discount Rate Sensitivity 

The following is a sensitivity analysis of the net pension liability/(asset) to changes in the discount rate. 
The table below presents the net pension liability/(asset) of the Village calculated using the discount rate 
as well as what the Village’s net pension liability/(asset) would be if it were calculated using a discount 
rate that is one percentage point lower or one percentage point higher than the current rate:  

Current 
 Discount Rate 1% Increase

(7.25%) (8.25%)

Regular Plan $ 2,951,145 (1,482,865) (5,037,765)

SLEP Plan 292,725 165,864 55,330

1% Decrease
(6.25%)Net Pension Liability/(Asset)
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NOTE 4 – OTHER INFORMATION – Continued  

EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT SYSTEM – DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS – Continued 

Illinois Municipal Retirement Fund (IMRF) – Continued  

Changes in the Net Pension Liability/(Asset) – Regular Plan 

Plan Fiduciary Net Pension
Net Position Liability/(Asset)

(B) (A) - (B)

Balances at December 31, 2019 $ 37,233,277 35,531,224 1,702,053

Changes for the Year:
Service Cost 492,445 - 492,445
Interest on the Total Pension Liability 2,642,913 - 2,642,913
Difference Between Expected and Actual
    Experience of the Total Pension Liability 96,462 - 96,462
Changes of Assumptions (344,101) - (344,101)
Contributions - Employer - 458,719 (458,719)
Contributions - Employees - 207,670 (207,670)
Net Investment Income - 5,170,275 (5,170,275)
Benefit Payments, including Refunds
    of Employee Contributions (2,051,061) (2,051,061) -     
Other (Net Transfer) - 235,973 (235,973)

Net Changes 836,658 4,021,576 (3,184,918)

Balances at December 31, 2020 38,069,935 39,552,800 (1,482,865)

  (A)  

Total
Pension
Liability
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NOTE 4 – OTHER INFORMATION – Continued  

EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT SYSTEM – DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS – Continued 

Illinois Municipal Retirement Fund (IMRF) – Continued  

Changes in the Net Pension Liability – SLEP Plan 

Plan Fiduciary Net Pension
Net Position Liability

(B) (A) - (B)

Balances at December 31, 2019 $ 1,516,940 1,233,250 283,690

Changes for the Year:
Service Cost -     -     -     
Interest on the Total Pension Liability 104,981 - 104,981
Difference Between Expected and Actual
    Experience of the Total Pension Liability 23,343 - 23,343
Changes of Assumptions 6,446 - 6,446
Contributions - Employer - 28,907 (28,907)
Contributions - Employees - -     -     
Net Investment Income - 195,392 (195,392)
Benefit Payments, including Refunds
    of Employee Contributions (137,846) (137,846) -     
Other (Net Transfer) - 28,297 (28,297)

Net Changes (3,076) 114,750 (117,826)

Balances at December 31, 2020 1,513,864 1,348,000 165,864

Total
Pension
Liability

  (A)  

Pension Expense, Deferred Outflows of Resources, and Deferred Inflows of Resources Related to 
Pensions  

For the year ended April 30, 2021, the Village recognized pension revenue of $297,550 for the Regular 
Plan and $26,880 for the SLEP Plan. At April 30, 2021, the Village reported deferred outflows of 
resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions from the following sources: 
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NOTE 4 – OTHER INFORMATION – Continued  
 
EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT SYSTEM – DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS – Continued  
 
Illinois Municipal Retirement (IMRF) – Continued  
 
Pension Expense, Deferred Outflows of Resources, and Deferred Inflows of Resources Related to 
Pensions – Continued  
 

Deferred Deferred Deferred
Inflows of Outflows of Inflows of
Resources Resources Resources

Difference Between Expected and Actual Experience $ 376,284 -     -     -     
Change in Assumptions -     (230,424) -     -     
Net Difference Between Projected and Actual
    Earnings on Pension Plan Investments -     (3,169,683) -     (137,099)

Total Pension Expense to be Recognized
    in Future Periods 376,284 (3,400,107) -     (137,099)

Pension Contributions Made Subsequent
    to the Measurement Date 197,133 -     8,736 -     

     Total Deferred Amounts Related to IMRF 573,417 (3,400,107) 8,736 (137,099)

Regular Plan SLEP Plan
Deferred

Outflows of
Resources

 
 
$197,133 for the Regular Plan and $8,736 for the SLEP Plan are reported as deferred outflows of 
resources related to pensions resulting from employer contributions subsequent to the measurement date 
and will be recognized as a reduction of the net pension liability in the reporting year ended April 30, 
2022. Amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related 
to pensions will be recognized in pension expense in future periods as follows: 

 

Fiscal
Year SLEP

2022 $ (814,415) (45,847)
2023 (435,000) (15,538)
2024 (1,247,226) (53,933)
2025 (527,182) (21,781)
2026 -     -     

Thereafter -     -     

Totals (3,023,823) (137,099)

Net Deferred 
(Inflows) of Resources

Regular
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NOTE 4 – OTHER INFORMATION – Continued  
 
EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT SYSTEM – DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS – Continued  
 
Police Pension Plan 
 
Plan Descriptions  
 
Plan Administration. The Police Pension Plan is a single-employer defined benefit pension plan that 
covers all sworn police personnel. The defined benefits and employee and minimum employer 
contribution levels are governed by Illinois Compiled Statutes (40 ILCS 5/3-1) and may be amended only 
by the Illinois legislature. The Village accounts for the Fund as a pension trust fund. The Fund is governed 
by a five-member pension board. Two members of the Board are appointed by the Village President, one 
member is elected by pension beneficiaries and two members are elected by active police employees.  
 
Plan Membership. At April 30, 2021, the measurement date, membership consisted of the following: 
 

Inactive Plan Members Currently Receiving Benefits 40
Inactive Plan Members Entitled to but not yet Receiving Benefits 4
Active Plan Members 40

Total 84  
 

Benefits Provided. The following is a summary of the Police Pension Plan as provided for in Illinois State 
Statutes. 
 
The Police Pension Plan provides retirement benefits through two tiers of benefits as well as death and 
disability benefits. Covered employees hired before January 1, 2011 (Tier 1), attaining the age of 50 or 
older with 20 or more years of creditable service are entitled to receive an annual retirement benefit of ½ 
of the salary attached to the rank held on the last day of service, or for one year prior to the last day, 
whichever is greater. The annual benefit shall be increased by 2.5 percent of such salary for each 
additional year of service over 20 years up to 30 years, to a maximum of 75 percent of such salary. 
Employees with at least eight years but less than 20 years of credited service may retire at or after age 60 
and receive a reduced benefit. The monthly benefit of a police officer who retired with 20 or more years 
of service after January 1, 1977 shall be increased annually, following the first anniversary date of 
retirement and be paid upon reaching the age of at least 55 years, by 3 percent of the original pension and 
3 percent compounded annually thereafter.   
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NOTE 4 – OTHER INFORMATION – Continued 
 
EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT SYSTEM – DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS – Continued  
 
Police Pension Plan – Continued  
 
Plan Descriptions – Continued 
 
Benefits Provided – Continued. Covered employees hired on or after January 1, 2011 (Tier 2), attaining 
the age of 55 or older with 10 or more years of creditable service are entitled to receive an annual 
retirement benefit equal to the average monthly salary obtained by dividing the total salary of the police 
officer during the 48 consecutive months of service within the last 60 months of service in which the total 
salary was the highest by the number of months of service in that period. Police officer salary for the 
pension purposes is capped at $106,800, plus the lesser of ½ of the annual change in the Consumer Price 
Index or 3 percent compounded. The annual benefit shall be increased by 2.5 percent of such a salary for 
each additional year of service over 20 years up to 30 years to a maximum of 75 percent of such salary. 
Employees with at least 10 years may retire at or after age 50 and receive a reduced benefit (i.e., ½ percent 
for each month under 55). The monthly benefit of a Tier 2 police officer shall be increased annually at 
age 60 on the January 1st after the police officer retires, or the first anniversary of the pension starting 
date, whichever is later. Noncompounding increases occur annually, each January thereafter. The increase 
is the lesser of 3 percent or ½ of the change in the Consumer Price Index for the proceeding calendar 
year.  
 
Contributions. Covered employees are required to contribute 9.91% of their base salary to the Police 
Pension Plan. If an employee leaves covered employment with less than 20 years of service, accumulated 
employee contributions may be refunded without accumulated interest. The Village is required to contribute 
the remaining amounts necessary to finance the plan and the administrative costs as actuarially determined 
by an enrolled actuary. However, effective January 1, 2011, ILCS requires the Village to contribute a 
minimum amount annually calculated using the projected unit credit actuarial cost method that will result 
in the funding of 90% of the past service cost by the year 2040. For the year-ended April 30, 2021, the 
Village’s contribution was 42.28% of covered payroll. 
 
Concentrations. At year-end, the Pension Plan has over 5 percent of net plan assets available for 
retirement benefits (other than investments issued or explicitly guaranteed by the U.S. government and 
investments in mutual funds, external investment pools, and other pooled investments) invested in 
Pioneer Equity Income of $2,437,676, T-Rowe Price Growth Stock of $5,025,878, TIAA-Cref Small 
Group of $2,463,653 and Vanguard 500 Index Fund of $5,720,575. 
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NOTE 4 – OTHER INFORMATION – Continued 
 
EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT SYSTEM – DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS – Continued  
 
Police Pension Plan – Continued  
 
Actuarial Assumptions 
 
The total pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation performed, as of April 30, 2021, 
using the following actuarial methods and assumptions: 
 

Actuarial Cost Method Entry Age
Normal

Asset Valuation Method Market

Actuarial Assumptions
Interest Rate 7.00%

Salary Increases Graded by Years of Service

Cost of Living Adjustments 2.25%

Inflation 2.25%  
 
The mortality improvement scale was updated from SOA Scale MP-2019 projected fully generationally to 
SOA Scale MP-2020 projected fully generationally. 
 
Discount Rate 
 
A Single Discount Rate of 5.08% was used to measure the total pension liability and the discount rate 
in the prior valuation was 5.31%. The projection of cash flow used to determine this Single Discount 
Rate assumed that the plan members’ contributions will be made at the current contribution rate, and 
that employer contributions will be made at rates equal to the difference between actuarially determined 
contribution rates and the member rate. The Single Discount Rate reflects: 

1. The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments (during the period in which 
the fiduciary net position is projected to be sufficient to pay benefits), and  

2. The tax-exempt municipal bond rate based on an index of 20-year general obligation bonds 
with an average AA credit rating (which is published by the Federal Reserve) as of the 
measurement date (to the extent that the contributions for use with the long-term expected rate 
of return are not met).  

For the purpose of the most recent valuation, the expected rate of return on plan investments is 7.00%, 
the municipal bond rate is 2.12%, and the resulting single discount rate is 5.08%.  
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NOTE 4 – OTHER INFORMATION – Continued 
 
EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT SYSTEM – DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS – Continued  
 

Police Pension Plan – Continued  
 
Discount Rate Sensitivity 
 
The following is a sensitive analysis of the net pension liability to changes in the discount rate. The table 
below presents the pension liability of the Village calculated using the discount rate as well as what the 
Village’s net pension liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is one percentage 
point lower or one percentage point higher than the current rate:  
 

Current 
 Discount Rate 1% Increase

(5.08%) (6.08%)

Net Pension Liability $ 53,239,145 40,269,356 29,945,669

1% Decrease
(4.08%)

 
 

Changes in the Net Pension Liability 
 

Plan Fiduciary Net Pension
Net Position Liability

  (B)    (A) - (B)  

Balances at April 30, 2020 $ 73,415,713 29,789,889 43,625,824

Changes for the Year:
Service Cost 1,764,785 -     1,764,785
Interest on the Total Pension Liability 3,761,538 -     3,761,538
Changes of Benefit Terms -     -     -     
Difference Between Expected and Actual
    Experience of the Total Pension Liability (63,037) -     (63,037)
Changes of Assumptions 1,933,881 -     1,933,881
Contributions - Employer -     1,700,700 (1,700,700)
Contributions - Employees -     880,532 (880,532)
Net Investment Income -     8,223,547 (8,223,547)
Benefit Payments, including Refunds
    of Employee Contributions (2,985,713) (2,985,713) -     
Administrative Expense -     (51,144) 51,144

Net Changes 4,411,454 7,767,922 (3,356,468)

Balances at April 30, 2021 77,827,167 37,557,811 40,269,356

  (A)  

Total
Pension
Liability
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NOTE 4 – OTHER INFORMATION – Continued 
 
EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT SYSTEM – DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS – Continued  
 
Police Pension Plan – Continued  
 
Pension Expense, Deferred Outflows of Resources, and Deferred Inflows of Resources Related to 
Pensions  
 
For the year ended April 30, 2021, the Village recognized pension expense of $3,955,498. At April 30, 
2021, the Village reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to 
pensions from the following sources: 
 

Deferred
Inflows of
Resources Totals

Difference Between Expected and Actual Experience $ 1,003,044 (1,352,782) (349,738)

Change in Assumptions 10,762,606 (3,283,702) 7,478,904

Net Difference Between Projected and Actual
    Earnings on Pension Plan Investments -     (4,078,322) (4,078,322)

Total Deferred Amounts Related to Police Pension 11,765,650 (8,714,806) 3,050,844

Deferred
Outflows of
Resources

 
 

Amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to 
pensions will be recognized in pension expense in future periods as follows: 
 

Fiscal
Year

2022 $ (346,874)
2023 (347,061)
2024 690,047
2025 569,492
2026 1,800,333

Thereafter 684,907

Total 3,050,844

of Resources  

Outflows/
Net Deferred

Inflows
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NOTE 4 – OTHER INFORMATION – Continued 
 
EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT SYSTEM – DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS – Continued  
 
Firefighters’ Pension Plan 
 
Plan Descriptions  
 
Plan Administration. The Firefighters’ Pension Plan is a single-employer defined benefit pension plan 
that covers all sworn firefighter personnel. The defined benefits and employee and minimum employer 
contribution levels are governed by Illinois Compiled Statutes (40 ILCS 5/4-1) and may be amended only 
by the Illinois legislature. The Village accounts for the Fund as a pension trust fund. The Fund is governed 
by a five-member pension board. Two members of the Board are appointed by the Village President, one 
member is elected by pension beneficiaries and two members are elected by active fire employees.  
 
Plan Membership. At April 30, 2021, the measurement date, membership consisted of the following: 
 

Inactive Plan Members Currently Receiving Benefits 12
Inactive Plan Members Entitled to but not yet Receiving Benefits 4
Active Plan Members 19

Total 35  
 

Benefits Provided. The following is a summary of the Firefighters’ Pension Plan as provided for in Illinois 
State Statutes. 
 
The Firefighters’ Pension Plan provides retirement benefits through two tiers of benefits as well as death 
and disability benefits. Covered employees hired before January 1, 2011 (Tier 1), attaining the age of 50 
or older with 20 or more years of creditable service are entitled to receive an annual retirement benefit of 
½ of the salary attached to the rank held on the last day of service, or for one year prior to the last day, 
whichever is greater. The annual benefit shall be increased by 2.5 percent of such salary for each 
additional year of service over 20 years up to 30 years, to a maximum of 75 percent of such salary. 
Employees with at least eight years but less than 20 years of credited service may retire at or after age 60 
and receive a reduced benefit. The monthly benefit of a firefighter who retired with 20 or more years of 
service after January 1, 1977 shall be increased annually, following the first anniversary date of retirement 
and be paid upon reaching the age of at least 55 years, by 3 percent of the original pension and 3 percent 
compounded annually thereafter.  
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April 30, 2021  
 
 

 

NOTE 4 – OTHER INFORMATION – Continued 
 
EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT SYSTEM – DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS – Continued  
 
Firefighters’ Pension Plan – Continued 
 
Plan Descriptions – Continued  
 
Benefits Provided – Continued. Covered employees hired on or after January 1, 2011 (Tier 2), attaining 
the age of 55 or older with 10 or more years of creditable service are entitled to receive an annual 
retirement benefit equal to the average monthly salary obtained by dividing the total salary of the 
firefighter during the 48 consecutive months of service within the last 60 months of service in which the 
total salary was the highest by the number of months of service in that period. Firefighters’ salary for the 
pension purposes is capped at $106,800, plus the lesser of ½ of the annual change in the Consumer Price 
Index or 3 percent compounded. The annual benefit shall be increased by 2.5 percent of such a salary for 
each additional year of service over 20 years up to 30 years to a maximum of 75 percent of such salary. 
Employees with at least 10 years may retire at or after age 50 and receive a reduced benefit (i.e., ½ percent 
for each month under 55). The monthly benefit of a Tier 2 firefighter shall be increased annually at age 
60 on the January 1st after the firefighter office retires, or the first anniversary of the pension starting date, 
whichever is later. Noncompounding increases occur annually, each January thereafter. The increase is 
the lesser of 3 percent or ½ of the change in the Consumer Price Index for the proceeding calendar year. 
 
Contributions. Covered employees are required to contribute 9.455% of their base salary to the Firefighters’ 
Pension Plan. If an employee leaves covered employment with less than 20 years of service, accumulated 
employee contributions may be refunded without accumulated interest. The Village is required to contribute 
the remaining amounts necessary to finance the plan and the administrative costs as actuarially determined 
by an enrolled actuary. However, effective January 1, 2011, ILCS requires the Village to contribute a 
minimum amount annually calculated using the projected unit credit actuarial cost method that will result 
in the funding of 90% of the past service cost by the year 2040. For the year-ended April 30, 2021, the 
Village’s contribution was 31.47% of covered payroll. 
 
Concentrations. At year-end, the Pension Plan has over 5 percent of net plan assets available for 
retirement benefits (other than investments issued or explicitly guaranteed by the U.S. government and 
investments in mutual funds, external investment pools, and other pooled investments) invested in 
Pioneer Equity Income of $1,236,992, T-Rowe Price Growth Stock of $2,663,663, TIAA-CREF Small 
Cap BLEN of $1,254,434 and Vanguard 500 Index Fund of $2,875,573. 
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NOTE 4 – OTHER INFORMATION – Continued 
 
EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT SYSTEM – DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS – Continued  
 
Firefighters’ Pension Plan – Continued 
 
Actuarial Assumptions 
 
The total pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation performed, as of April 30, 2021, using 
the following actuarial methods and assumptions: 
 

Actuarial Cost Method Entry Age
Normal

Asset Valuation Method Market

Actuarial Assumptions
Interest Rate 7.00%

Salary Increases Graded by Years of Service

Cost of Living Adjustments 2.25%

Inflation 2.25%  
 
The mortality improvement scale was updated from SOA Scale MP-2019 projected fully generationally to 
SOA Scale MP-2020 projected fully generationally. 
 
Discount Rate 
 
A Single Discount Rate of 4.97% was used to measure the total pension liability and the discount rate 
in the prior valuation was 5.87%. The projection of cash flow used to determine this Single Discount 
Rate assumed that the plan members’ contributions will be made at the current contribution rate, and 
that employer contributions will be made at rates equal to the difference between actuarially determined 
contribution rates and the member rate. The Single Discount Rate reflects: 

1. The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments (during the period in which 
the fiduciary net position is projected to be sufficient to pay benefits), and  

2. The tax-exempt municipal bond rate based on an index of 20-year general obligation bonds 
with an average AA credit rating (which is published by the Federal Reserve) as of the 
measurement date (to the extent that the contributions for use with the long-term expected rate 
of return are not met).  

For the purpose of the most recent valuation, the expected rate of return on plan investments is 7.00%, 
the municipal bond rate is 2.12%, and the resulting single discount rate is 4.97%. 
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NOTE 4 – OTHER INFORMATION – Continued  
 
EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT SYSTEM – DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS – Continued 
 
Firefighters’ Pension Plan – Continued 
 
Discount Rate Sensitivity 
 
The following is a sensitive analysis of the net pension liability to changes in the discount rate. The table 
below presents the pension liability of the Village calculated using the discount rate as well as what the 
Village’s net pension liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is one percentage 
point lower or one percentage point higher than the current rate:  
 

Current 
 Discount Rate 1% Increase

(4.97%) (5.97%)

Net Pension Liability $ 20,464,785 14,528,390 9,814,419

1% Decrease
(3.97%)

 
 
Changes in the Net Pension Liability 
 

Plan Fiduciary Net Pension
Net Position Liability

  (B)    (A) - (B)  

Balances at April 30, 2020 $ 28,386,300 15,269,411 13,116,889

Changes for the Year:
Service Cost 816,116 -     816,116
Interest on the Total Pension Liability 1,601,963 -     1,601,963
Changes of Benefit Terms -     -     -     
Difference Between Expected and Actual
    Experience of the Total Pension Liability (140,176) -     (140,176)
Changes of Assumptions 4,082,240 -     4,082,240
Contributions - Employer -     594,564 (594,564)
Contributions - Employees -     185,097 (185,097)
Net Investment Income -     4,200,736 (4,200,736)
Benefit Payments, including Refunds
    of Employee Contributions (1,024,227) (1,024,227) -     
Administrative Expense -     (31,755) 31,755

Net Changes 5,335,916 3,924,415 1,411,501

Balances at April 30, 2021 33,722,216 19,193,826 14,528,390

  (A)  

Pension
Liability

Total
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NOTE 4 – OTHER INFORMATION – Continued  
 
EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT SYSTEM – DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS – Continued 
 
Firefighters’ Pension Plan – Continued 
 
Pension Expense, Deferred Outflows of Resources, and Deferred Inflows of Resources Related to 
Pensions  
 
For the year ended April 30, 2021, the Village recognized pension expense of $1,518,710. At April 30, 
2021, the Village reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to 
pensions from the following sources: 
 

Deferred
Inflows of
Resources Totals

Difference Between Expected and Actual Experience $ 929,672 (655,112) 274,560

Change in Assumptions 6,613,711 (1,185,146) 5,428,565

Net Difference Between Projected and Actual
    Earnings on Pension Plan Investments -     (2,083,240) (2,083,240)

Total Deferred Amounts Related to Firefighters' Pension 7,543,383 (3,923,498) 3,619,885

Deferred
Outflows of
Resources

 
 

Amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to 
pensions will be recognized in pension expense in future periods as follows: 
 

Fiscal
Year

2022 $ 407,125
2023 427,879
2024 74,955
2025 280,685
2026 866,543

Thereafter 1,562,698

Total 3,619,885

of Resources  

Net Deferred
Outflows
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NOTE 4 – OTHER INFORMATION – Continued 
 
OTHER POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS 
 
General Information about the OPEB Plan 
 
Plan Description. The Village’s defined benefit OPEB plan, Village of Homewood Retiree Benefits Plan 
(RBP), provides OPEB for all permanent full-time general and public safety employees of the Village. 
RBP is a single-employer defined benefit OPEB plan administered by the Village. Article 11 of the State 
Compiled Statutes grants the authority to establish and amend the benefit terms and financing 
requirements to the Village Board. No assets are accumulated in a trust that meets the criteria in paragraph 
4 of Statement 75. 
 
Benefits Provided. RBP provides healthcare for retirees and their dependents. The Village provides the 
cost of coverage for 80 percent of health insurance premiums for all employees and their dependents. The 
cost of coverage ends once the employee turns 65 and is eligible for Medicare. 
 
Plan Membership. As of April 30, 2021, the measurement date, the following employees were covered 
by the benefit terms: 
 

Inactive Plan Members Currently Receiving Benefits 70     
Inactive Plan Members Entitled to but not yet Receiving Benefits -    
Active Plan Members 109   

Total 179   
 

 
Total OPEB Liability 
 
The Village’s total OPEB liability was measured as of April 30, 2021 and was determined by an actuarial 
valuation as of that date.  
 
Actuarial Assumptions and Other Inputs. The total OPEB liability in the April 30, 2021 actuarial 
valuation was determined using the following actuarial assumptions and other inputs, applied to all 
periods included in the measurement, unless otherwise specified:  
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NOTE 4 – OTHER INFORMATION – Continued 
 
OTHER POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS – Continued 
 
Total OPEB Liability – Continued 
 
Actuarial Assumptions and Other Inputs – Continued. 
 

Inflation 3.00%

Salary Increases 3.50%

Discount Rate 2.12%

Healthcare Cost Trend Rates

Retirees' Share of Benefit-Related Costs

7.00% for 2021, decreasing to an ultimate rate
of 4.5% for 2028 and later years

100% of projected health insurance premiums
for retirees  

 

The discount rate was based on the expected rate of return associated with funded benefits, and for 
unfunded benefits, the 20-year municipal bond rates. 
 
Mortality rates were based on the RP2014 Blue Collar base rates projected to 2021 using scale MP2020 
for Police. For all others the RP2014 base rates projected to 2021 using scale MP2020 was used. No 
additional provision (besides those already embedded) were included for mortality improvements beyond 
2021.  
 

Change in the Total OPEB Liability 
 

Balance at April 30, 2020 $ 13,105,391 

Changes for the Year:
Service Cost 202,498      
Interest on the Total Pension Liability 323,956      
Changes of Benefit Terms -              
Difference Between Expected and Actual Experience 282,004      
Changes of Assumptions or Other Inputs 137,773      
Benefit Payments (901,742)     

Net Changes 44,489        

Balance at April 30, 2021 13,149,880 

Total
OPEB

Liability
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NOTE 4 – OTHER INFORMATION – Continued 
 
OTHER POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS – Continued   
 
Sensitivity of the Total OPEB Liability to Changes in the Discount Rate 
  
The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 2.12%, while the prior valuation used 
2.56%. The following presents the total OPEB liability, calculated using the discount rate, as well as what 
the total OPEB liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is one percentage point 
lower or one percentage point higher: 
 

Current 
 Discount Rate 1% Increase

(2.12%) (3.12%)

Total OPEB Liability $ 14,466,768 13,149,880 12,033,990

1% Decrease
(1.12%)

 
 
Sensitivity of the Total OPEB Liability to Changes in the Healthcare Cost Trend Rates 
 
The following presents the total OPEB liability, calculated using a variable Healthcare Trend Rate, as 
well as what the total OPEB liability would be if it were calculated using a Healthcare Trend Rate that is 
one percentage point lower or one percentage point higher:  
 

Healthcare
Cost Trend

Rates
(Varies) 1% Increase

Total OPEB Liability $ 11,983,812 13,149,880 14,527,601

1% Decrease
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NOTE 4 – OTHER INFORMATION – Continued 
 
OTHER POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS – Continued   
 
OPEB Expense and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources Related to 
OPEB 
 
For the year ended April 30, 2021, the Village recognized OPEB expense of $894,809. At April 30, 2021, 
the Village reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB 
from the following sources: 
 

Deferred
Inflows of
Resources Totals

Difference Between Expected and Actual Experience $ 244,379 (84,881) 159,498

Change in Assumptions 2,079,586 -     2,079,586

Net Difference Between Projected and Actual
    Earnings on Pension Plan Investments -     -     -     

       Total Deferred Amounts Related to OPEB 2,323,965 (84,881) 2,239,084

Deferred
Outflows of
Resources

 
 

Amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB 
will be recognized in OPEB expense as follows: 
 

Net Deferred
Fiscal Outflows
Year of Resources  

2022 $ 368,355
2023 368,355
2024 368,355
2025 368,355
2026 350,183

Thereafter 415,481

Total 2,239,084
 

 

SUBSEQUENT EVENT 
 

On March 11, 2021, the American Rescue Plan Act of 2021 was signed into law. This act provides $350 
billion in funding for local governments. The Village has been allocated $2,542,565 to be received in two 
installments. As of the date of these financial statements, the Village has received their first installment 
of $1,271,282 in August 2021.  
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• Schedule of Employer Contributions
Illinois Municipal Retirement Fund - Regular
Illinois Municipal Retirement Fund - Sheriff's Law Enforcement Personnel
Police Pension Fund
Firefighters’ Pension Fund

• Schedule of Changes in the Employer’s Net Pension Liability
Illinois Municipal Retirement Fund - Regular
Illinois Municipal Retirement Fund - Sheriff's Law Enforcement Personnel
Police Pension Fund
Firefighters’ Pension Fund

• Schedule of Investment Returns
Police Pension Fund
Firefighters’ Pension Fund

• Schedule of Changes in the Employer's Total OPEB Liability
Retiree Benefit Plan

• Budgetary Comparison Schedule
General Fund
Downtown TOD TIF – Special Revenue Fund

Notes to the Required Supplementary Information

REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

Required supplementary information includes financial information and disclosures that are required by the
GASB but are not considered a part of the basic financial statements. Such information includes:

Budgetary Information – Budgets are adopted on a basis consistent with generally accepted accounting
principles.
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VILLAGE OF HOMEWOOD, ILLINOIS

Illinois Municipal Retirement Fund - Regular

Required Supplementary Information
Schedule of Employer Contributions
April 30, 2021

Contributions as
Fiscal a Percentage of
Year Covered Payroll

2016 $ 540,294        $ 539,165        $ (1,129) $ 4,339,711 12.42%
2017 565,405        565,405        -     4,424,137 12.78%
2018 544,074        544,074        -     4,475,920 12.16%
2019 505,744        505,744        -     4,613,275 10.96%
2020 440,755        440,755        -     4,730,356 9.32%
2021 510,706        510,706        -     4,811,251 10.61%

Notes to the Required Supplementary Information:

Actuarial Cost Method Aggregate Entry Age Normal
Amortization Method Level % Pay (Closed)
Remaining Amortization Period 23 Years
Asset Valuation Method 5-Year Smoothed Fair Value
Inflation 2.50%
Salary Increases 3.35% - 14.25%
Investment Rate of Return 7.25%
Retirement Age See the Notes to the Financial Statements
Mortality

Note:

Contributions
in Relation to

Actuarially the Actuarially Contribution 

This schedule is intended to show information for ten years. Information for additional years will be displayed
as it becomes available.

Determined Determined Excess/ Covered
Contribution Contribution (Deficiency) Payroll

IMFR specific mortality table was used with fully generational projection
scale MP-2017 (base year 2015).
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VILLAGE OF HOMEWOOD, ILLINOIS

Illinois Municipal Retirement Fund - Sheriff's Law Enforcement Personnel

Required Supplementary Information
Schedule of Employer Contributions
April 30, 2021

Contributions as
Fiscal a Percentage of
Year Covered Payroll

2016 $ 38,538          $ 38,538          $ - $ 133,027 28.97%
2017 8,185            8,185            - 27,394 29.88%
2018 23,600          23,600          - -     0.00%
2019 26,598          26,598          - -     0.00%
2020 26,222          26,222          - -     0.00%
2021 28,008          28,008          - -     0.00%

Notes to the Required Supplementary Information:

Actuarial Cost Method Aggregate Entry Age Normal
Amortization Method Level % Pay (Closed)
Remaining Amortization Period 23 Years
Asset Valuation Method 5-Year Smoothed Fair Value
Inflation 2.50%
Salary Increases 3.35% - 14.25%
Investment Rate of Return 7.25%
Retirement Age See the Notes to the Financial Statements
Mortality

Note:

IMFR specific mortality table was used with fully generational projection
scale MP-2017 (base year 2015).

This schedule is intended to show information for ten years. Information for additional years will be displayed
as it becomes available.

Determined Determined Excess/ Covered
Contribution Contribution (Deficiency) Payroll

Contributions
in Relation to

Actuarially the Actuarially Contribution 
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VILLAGE OF HOMEWOOD, ILLINOIS

Police Pension Fund

Required Supplementary Information 
Schedule of Employer Contributions
April 30, 2021

Contributions as
Fiscal a Percentage of
Year Covered Payroll

2015 $ 921,705     $ 943,272        $ 21,567 $ 3,244,330 29.07%
2016 1,019,402  1,075,111     55,709 3,815,399 28.18%
2017 1,401,026  1,480,797     79,771 3,538,459 41.85%
2018 1,611,978  1,598,078     (13,900) 3,662,305 43.64%
2019 1,636,498  1,458,177     (178,321) 3,919,645 37.20%
2020 1,750,856  1,637,252     (113,604) 3,929,737 41.66%
2021 1,876,832  1,700,700     (176,132) 4,022,728 42.28%

Notes to the Required Supplementary Information:

Actuarial Cost Method Entry Age Normal
Amortization Method Level % Pay (Closed)
Remaining Amortization Period 19 Years
Asset Valuation Method Market
Inflation 2.50%
Salary Increases 4.00% - 11.51%
Investment Rate of Return 7.00%
Retirement Age See the Notes to the Financial Statements
Mortality

Note:
This schedule is intended to show information for ten years. Information for additional years will be displayed
as it becomes available.

Actuarially 
Determined
Contribution Payroll

Covered
Contribution 

Excess/
(Deficiency)

RP-2014 Adjusted for Plan Status, Demographics, and Illinois Public Pension
Data, as Appropriate

Contributions
in Relation to

the Actuarially
Determined
Contribution
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VILLAGE OF HOMEWOOD, ILLINOIS

Firefighters' Pension Fund

Required Supplementary Information
Schedule of Employer Contributions
April 30, 2021

Contributions as
Fiscal a Percentage of
Year Covered Payroll

2015 $ 293,372        $ 297,928        $ 4,556 $ 1,587,266 18.77%
2016 375,122        468,660        93,538 1,949,295 24.04%
2017 529,555        553,240        23,685 1,694,378 32.65%
2018 555,764        537,675        (18,089) 1,753,681 30.66%
2019 570,125        516,409        (53,716) 1,808,708 28.55%
2020 670,337        664,488        (5,849) 1,829,283 36.33%
2021 669,791        594,564        (75,227) 1,889,191 31.47%

Notes to the Required Supplementary Information:

Actuarial Cost Method Entry Age Normal
Amortization Method Level % Pay (Closed)
Remaining Amortization Period 19 Years
Asset Valuation Method Market
Inflation 2.25%
Salary Increases Graded by Years of Service
Investment Rate of Return 7.00%
Retirement Age See the Notes to the Financial Statements
Mortality

Note:
This schedule is intended to show information for ten years. Information for additional years will be displayed as
it becomes available.

Actuarially 
Determined
Contribution Payroll

Covered
Contribution 

Excess/
(Deficiency)

PubS-210(A) Adjusted for Plan Status, Collar, and Illinois Public Pension
Data, as Appropriate

Contributions
in Relation to

the Actuarially
Determined
Contribution
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VILLAGE OF HOMEWOOD, ILLINOIS

Illinois Municipal Retirement Fund - Regular

Required Supplementary Information
Schedule of Changes in the Employer's Net Pension Liability 
April 30, 2021

Total Pension Liability
Service Cost $ 474,972        
Interest 2,291,035     
Differences Between Expected and Actual Experience 496,795        
Change of Assumptions 39,972          
Benefit Payments, Including Refunds

of Member Contributions (1,557,446)    

Net Change in Total Pension Liability 1,745,328     
Total Pension Liability - Beginning 31,129,157   

Total Pension Liability - Ending 32,874,485   

Plan Fiduciary Net Position
Contributions - Employer $ 539,165        
Contributions - Members 203,806        
Net Investment Income 143,712        
Benefit Payments, Including Refunds

of Member Contributions (1,557,446)    
Other (Net Transfer) 265,213        

Net Change in Plan Fiduciary Net Position (405,550)       
Plan Net Position - Beginning 29,149,597   

Plan Net Position - Ending 28,744,047   

Employer's Net Pension Liability/(Asset) $ 4,130,438     

Plan Fiduciary Net Position as a Percentage
of the Total Pension Liability 87.44%

Covered Payroll $ 4,339,711     

Employer's Net Pension Liability/(Asset) as a Percentage
of Covered Payroll 95.18%

Note:

12/31/2015

This schedule is intended to show information for ten years. Information for additional years will be displayed as
it becomes available.
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12/31/2016 12/31/2017 12/31/2018 12/31/2019 12/31/2020

496,752        480,406        448,066        497,748        492,445        
2,411,756     2,450,727     2,417,525     2,505,668     2,642,913     
(666,544)       (561,812)       294,767        874,053        96,462          
(80,738)         (1,082,358)    972,532        -                (344,101)       

(1,760,257)    (1,678,581)    (1,748,402)    (1,912,516)    (2,051,061)    

400,969        (391,618)       2,384,488     1,964,953     836,658        
32,874,485   33,275,454   32,883,836   35,268,324   37,233,277   

33,275,454   32,883,836   35,268,324   37,233,277   38,069,935   

565,405        539,772        541,526        426,355        458,719        
199,086        197,517        205,817        213,219        207,670        

1,979,636     5,299,596     (1,853,820)    5,777,296     5,170,275     

(1,760,257)    (1,678,581)    (1,748,402)    (1,912,516)    (2,051,061)    
(64,337)         (1,075,660)    516,308        419,217        235,973        

919,533        3,282,644     (2,338,571)    4,923,571     4,021,576     
28,744,047   29,663,580   32,946,224   30,607,653   35,531,224   

29,663,580   32,946,224   30,607,653   35,531,224   39,552,800   

3,611,874     (62,388)         4,660,671     1,702,053     (1,482,865)    

89.15% 100.19% 86.79% 95.43% 103.90%

4,424,137     4,388,394     4,573,695     4,716,330     4,614,889     

81.64% (1.42%) 101.90% 36.09% (32.13%)
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VILLAGE OF HOMEWOOD, ILLINOIS

Illinois Municipal Retirement Fund - Sheriff's Law Enforcement Personnel

Required Supplementary Information
Schedule of Changes in the Employer's Net Pension Liability 
April 30, 2021

Total Pension Liability
Service Cost $ 23,555          
Interest 101,294        
Differences Between Expected and Actual Experience 19,070          
Change of Assumptions 2,754            
Benefit Payments, Including Refunds of Member Contributions (86,453)         

Net Change in Total Pension Liability 60,220          
Total Pension Liability - Beginning 1,466,211     

Total Pension Liability - Ending 1,526,431     

Plan Fiduciary Net Position
Contributions - Employer $ 38,538          
Contributions - Members 9,977            
Net Investment Income 5,413            
Benefit Payments, Including Refunds of Member Contributions (86,453)         
Administrative Expense 75,220          

Net Change in Plan Fiduciary Net Position 42,695          
Plan Net Position - Beginning 1,101,602     

Plan Net Position - Ending 1,144,297     

Employer's Net Pension Liability $ 382,134        

Plan Fiduciary Net Position as a Percentage of the Total Pension Liability 74.97%

Covered Payroll $ 133,027        

Employer's Net Pension Liability as a Percentage of Covered Payroll 287.26%

Note:

12/31/2015

This schedule is intended to show information for ten years. Information for additional years will be displayed as
it becomes available.
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12/31/2016 12/31/2017 12/31/2018 12/31/2019 12/31/2020

24,281          - - - - 
104,193        110,940        107,445        105,644        104,981        
71,857          17,802          19,852          21,736          23,343          

(65,508)         (44,128)         31,126          - 6,446 
(117,106)       (129,900)       (132,530)       (135,195)       (137,846) 

17,717          (45,286)         25,893          (7,815)           (3,076)           
1,526,431     1,544,148     1,498,862     1,524,755     1,516,940     

1,544,148     1,498,862     1,524,755     1,516,940     1,513,864     

8,185            21,673          27,457          24,879          28,907          
2,055            - - - - 

88,115          233,048        (100,408)       236,490        195,392        
(117,106)       (129,900)       (132,530)       (135,195)       (137,846)       

32,111          (33,677)         49,129          14,627          28,297          

13,360          91,144          (156,352)       140,801        114,750        
1,144,297     1,157,657     1,248,801     1,092,449     1,233,250     

1,157,657     1,248,801     1,092,449     1,233,250     1,348,000     

386,491        250,061        432,306        283,690        165,864        

74.97% 83.32% 71.65% 81.30% 89.04%

27,394          81,233          - - - 

1410.86% 307.83% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%
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VILLAGE OF HOMEWOOD, ILLINOIS

Police Pension Fund

Required Supplementary Information

Schedule of Changes in the Employer's Net Pension Liability 

April 30, 2021

Total Pension Liability

Service Cost $ 804,245        

Interest 2,713,356     

Changes in Benefit Terms -                

Differences Between Expected and Actual Experience 737,948        

Change of Assumptions 5,822,646     

Benefit Payments, Including 

Refunds of Member Contributions (2,116,317)    

Net Change in Total Pension Liability 7,961,878     

Total Pension Liability - Beginning 39,820,392   

Total Pension Liability - Ending 47,782,270   

Plan Fiduciary Net Position

Contributions - Employer $ 943,272        

Contributions - Members 482,034        

Net Investment Income 1,973,355     

Benefit Payments, Including 

Refunds of Member Contributions (2,116,317)    

Administrative Expense (38,273)         

Net Change in Plan Fiduciary Net Position 1,244,071     

Plan Net Position - Beginning 24,200,527   

Plan Net Position - Ending 25,444,598   

Employer's Net Pension Liability $ 22,337,672   

Plan Fiduciary Net Position as a Percentage 

of the Total Pension Liability 53.25%

Covered Payroll $ 3,244,330     

Employer's Net Pension Liability as a

Percentage of Covered Payroll 688.51%

2015

Note: This schedule is intended to show information for ten years. Information for additional years will be

displayed as it becomes available.
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2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

1,184,771     1,094,625    1,159,098    1,301,906    1,004,226    1,764,785    

2,509,051     3,528,677    3,367,305    3,487,726    3,682,771    3,761,538    

-                -              -              -              299,880       -              

1,217,293     (1,154,726)  95,173         2,192,916    (1,332,367)  (63,037)       

10,451,391   (3,850,052)  (165,805)     (4,853,964)  12,458,014  1,933,881    

(2,117,578)    (2,235,155)  (2,481,407)  (2,531,003)  (2,679,323)  (2,985,713)  

13,244,928   (2,616,631)  1,974,364    (402,419)     13,433,201  4,411,454    

47,782,270   61,027,198  58,410,567  60,384,931  59,982,512  73,415,713  

61,027,198   58,410,567  60,384,931  59,982,512  73,415,713  77,827,167  

1,075,111     1,480,797    1,598,078    1,458,177    1,637,252    1,700,700    

391,865        364,506       375,173       401,960       388,952       880,532       

104,056        2,735,424    2,133,783    1,923,453    614,035       8,223,547    

(2,117,578)    (2,235,155)  (2,481,407)  (2,531,003)  (2,679,323)  (2,985,713)  

(41,784)         (64,089)       (44,639)       (93,843)       (48,510)       (51,144)       

(588,330)       2,281,483    1,580,988    1,158,744    (87,594)       7,767,922    

25,444,598   24,856,268  27,137,751  28,718,739  29,877,483  29,789,889  

24,856,268   27,137,751  28,718,739  29,877,483  29,789,889  37,557,811  

36,170,930   31,272,816  31,666,192  30,105,029  43,625,824  40,269,356  

40.73% 46.46% 47.56% 49.81% 40.58% 48.26%

3,815,399     3,538,459    3,662,305    3,919,645    3,929,737    4,022,728    

948.02% 883.80% 864.65% 768.05% 1110.15% 1001.05%
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VILLAGE OF HOMEWOOD, ILLINOIS

Firefighters' Pension Fund

Required Supplementary Information

Schedule of Changes in the Employer's Net Pension Liability 

April 30, 2021

Total Pension Liability

Service Cost $ 461,750        

Interest 1,117,202     

Changes in Benefit Terms -                

Differences Between Expected and Actual Experience 84,327          

Change of Assumptions 751,401        

Benefit Payments, Including 

Refunds of Member Contributions (629,721)       

Net Change in Total Pension Liability 1,784,959     

Total Pension Liability - Beginning 16,274,891   

Total Pension Liability - Ending 18,059,850   

Plan Fiduciary Net Position

Contributions - Employer $ 297,928        

Contributions - Members 154,338        

Net Investment Income 953,095        

Benefit Payments, Including 

Refunds of Member Contributions (629,721)       

Administrative Expense (28,587)         

Net Change in Plan Fiduciary Net Position 747,053        

Plan Net Position - Beginning 11,264,400   

Plan Net Position - Ending 12,011,453   

Employer's Net Pension Liability $ 6,048,397     

Plan Fiduciary Net Position as a 

Percentage of the Total Pension Liability 66.51%

Covered Payroll $ 1,587,266     

Employer's Net Pension Liability as a 

Percentage of Covered Payroll 381.06%

2015

Note: This schedule is intended to show information for ten years. Information for additional years will be

displayed as it becomes available.
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2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

600,559        575,757        610,705        693,265        551,237        816,116        

982,420        1,424,222     1,374,528     1,447,660     1,462,527     1,601,963     

-                -                -                -                96,393          -                

1,401,465     (512,264)       85,206          (746,603)       655,551        (140,176)       

3,407,022     (1,574,980)    287,464        (1,225,258)    2,552,757     4,082,240     

(653,288)       (669,452)       (793,376)       (816,139)       (890,928)       (1,024,227)    

5,738,178     (756,717)       1,564,527     (647,075)       4,427,537     5,335,916     

18,059,850   23,798,028   23,041,311   24,605,838   23,958,763   28,386,300   

23,798,028   23,041,311   24,605,838   23,958,763   28,386,300   33,722,216   

468,660        553,240        537,675        516,409        664,488        594,564        

158,302        160,870        159,466        166,610        175,320        185,097        

60,065          1,311,465     1,033,535     971,215        311,967        4,200,736     

(653,288)       (669,452)       (793,376)       (816,139)       (890,928)       (1,024,227)    

(30,225)         (26,746)         (28,325)         (52,429)         (30,421)         (31,755)         

3,514            1,329,377     908,975        785,666        230,426        3,924,415     

12,011,453   12,014,967   13,344,344   14,253,319   15,038,985   15,269,411   

12,014,967   13,344,344   14,253,319   15,038,985   15,269,411   19,193,826   

11,783,061   9,696,967     10,352,519   8,919,778     13,116,889   14,528,390   

50.49% 57.91% 57.93% 62.77% 53.79% 56.92%

1,949,295     1,694,378     1,753,681     1,808,708     1,829,283     1,889,191     

604.48% 572.30% 590.33% 493.16% 717.05% 769.03%
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VILLAGE OF HOMEWOOD, ILLINOIS

Police Pension Fund

Required Supplementary Information

Schedule of Investment Returns

April 30, 2021

Annual Money-

Weighted Rate

of Return, Net

Fiscal of Investment

Year Expense

2015 8.28%

2016 0.41%

2017 11.09%

2018 7.95%

2019 6.61%

2020 2.08%

2021 27.75%

Note:

This schedule is intended to show information for ten years. Information for additional years will be displayed as

it becomes available.
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VILLAGE OF HOMEWOOD, ILLINOIS

Firefighters' Pension Fund

Required Supplementary Information

Schedule of Investment Returns

April 30, 2021

Annual Money-

Weighted Rate

of Return, Net

Fiscal of Investment

Year Expense

2015 8.55%

2016 0.35%

2017 10.93%

2018 7.79%

2019 6.69%

2020 2.08%

2021 27.81%

Note:

This schedule is intended to show information for ten years. Information for additional years will be displayed as

it becomes available.
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VILLAGE OF HOMEWOOD, ILLINOIS

Retiree Benefits Plan

Required Supplementary Information
Schedule of Changes in the Employer's Total OPEB Liability 
April 30, 2021

2020 2021

Total OPEB Liability
Service Cost $ 184,861      109,581      202,498      
Interest 427,107      406,967      323,956      
Changes in Benefit Terms -              -              -              
Differences Between Expected and Actual Experience -              (112,485)     282,004      
Change of Assumptions or Other Inputs 172,772      2,463,591   137,773      
Benefit Payments (830,908)     (889,901)     (901,742)     
Net Change in Total OPEB Liability (46,168)       1,977,753   44,489        
Total OPEB Liability - Beginning 11,173,806 11,127,638 13,105,391 

Total OPEB Liability - Ending 11,127,638 13,105,391 13,149,880 

Covered-Empoyee Payroll $ 9,577,200   10,218,096 9,854,915   

Total OPEB Liability as a Percentage of Covered Payroll
Covered-Employee Payroll 116.19% 128.26% 133.43%

Notes:

2019

This schedule is intended to show information for ten years. Information for additional years will be displayed 
as it becomes available.

Changes of Assumptions. Changes in assumptions related to the discount rate were made in 2019 - 2021.
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VILLAGE OF HOMEWOOD, ILLINOIS

General Fund

Combining Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances - Budget and Actual
For the Fiscal Year Ended April 30, 2021
 

Final Actual

Revenues
Taxes $ 8,956,434 8,956,434 8,397,350
Intergovernmental 6,938,420 6,938,420 9,245,347
Charges for Services 1,293,500 1,293,500 1,128,298
Licenses and Permits 731,300 731,300 623,226
Fines and Forfeitures 596,500 596,500 295,173
Interest 30,000 30,000 449
Miscellaneous 1,052,000 1,052,000 934,078

Total Revenues 19,598,154 19,598,154 20,623,921

Expenditures
General Government 6,578,035 7,186,788 6,754,337
Public Health/Environment Protection 671,575 671,575 619,498
Maintenance/Development of Public Facilities 3,078,482 3,125,482 2,874,723
Protect of Persons/Property 10,472,691 10,472,691 9,922,765
Community Development 460,353 460,353 285,461
Debt Service

Principal Retirement -      -      109,554
Interest and Fiscal Charges -      -      10,323

Total Expenditures 21,261,136 21,916,889 20,576,661

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues
Over (Under) Expenditures (1,662,982) (2,318,735) 47,260

Other Financing Sources
Disposal of Capital Assets 20,000 20,000 12,400
Transfers In 1,413,466 1,413,466 1,217,239

1,433,466 1,433,466 1,229,639

Net Change in Fund Balance (229,516) (885,269) 1,276,899

Fund Balance - Beginning 7,520,037

Fund Balance - Ending 8,796,936

Budget
Original

General Subfund
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Original Final Actual Original Final Actual

983,347 983,347 869,989 9,939,781 9,939,781 9,267,339
12,000 12,000 12,000 6,950,420 6,950,420 9,257,347

-      -      -      1,293,500 1,293,500 1,128,298
-      -      -      731,300 731,300 623,226
-      -      -      596,500 596,500 295,173
200 200 4 30,200 30,200 453
-      -      -      1,052,000 1,052,000 934,078

995,547 995,547 881,993 20,593,701 20,593,701 21,505,914

973,347 973,347 1,003,252 7,551,382 8,160,135 7,757,589
-      -      -      671,575 671,575 619,498
-      -      -      3,078,482 3,125,482 2,874,723
-      -      -      10,472,691 10,472,691 9,922,765
-      -      -      460,353 460,353 285,461

-      -      -      -      -      109,554
-      -      -      -      -      10,323

973,347 973,347 1,003,252 22,234,483 22,890,236 21,579,913

22,200 22,200 (121,259) (1,640,782) (2,296,535) (73,999)

-      -      -      20,000 20,000 12,400
-      -      -      1,413,466 1,413,466 1,217,239
-      -      -      1,433,466 1,433,466 1,229,639

22,200 22,200 (121,259) (207,316) (863,069) 1,155,640

153,283 7,673,320

32,024 8,828,960

Totals
Budget

Illinois Municipal Retirement Subfund
Budget
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VILLAGE OF HOMEWOOD, ILLINOIS

Downtown TOD TIF - Special Revenue Fund

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
For the Fiscal Year Ended April 30, 2021

Final Actual

Revenues
Taxes

Property Taxes $ - 140,000 40,763
Interest Income -      50 60

Total Revenues - 140,050 40,823

Expenditures
Community Development 93,000 93,000 1,984

Net Change in Fund Balance (93,000) 47,050 38,839

Fund Balance - Beginning (71,342)

Fund Balance - Ending (32,503)

Budget
Original
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Such statements and schedules include: 

• Combining Statements – General Fund Subfunds

• Budgetary Comparison Schedules – General Fund Subfunds

• Combining Statements – Nonmajor Governmental Funds

• Budgetary Comparison Schedules – Nonmajor Governmental Funds

• Budgetary Comparison Schedule – Enterprise Fund

• Combining Statements – Pension Trust Funds

• Consolidated Year-End Financial Report

OTHER SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

Other supplementary information includes financial statements and schedules not required by the GASB, nor a
part of the basic financial statements, but are presented for purposes of additional analysis.
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Special Revenue Funds are used to account for the proceeds of specific revenue sources (other than fiduciary
funds or capital projects funds) that are legally restricted to expenditure for specified purposes. 

INDIVIDUAL FUND DESCRIPTIONS

GENERAL FUND

SPECIAL REVENUE FUNDS

The General Fund is used to account for all financial resources except those required to be accounted for in
another fund.

The Motor Fuel Tax Fund is used to account for allotments of motor fuel taxes. These allotments are received
from the State of Illinois.

The Foreign Fire Insurance Fund is used to account for a special tax on insurance companies located outside of
the State of Illinois selling fire insurance in the Village.

2006 Bond Fund

Network #3 Cook County Telecomm Fund

The Network #3 Cook County Telecomm Fund is used to account for a joint effort by eight south suburban
community law enforcement agencies to maintain a UHF radio communication system. The Village was the
coordinator of the federal grant received to partially finance this project at its inception in 1978.

Police Seized Fund

The Police Seized Fund is used to account for money confiscated from drug-related arrests that can only be used
in affiliation with further drug investigation activity.

Motor Fuel Tax Fund

Downtown TOD TIF

The Downtown TOD TIF is used to account for TIF related revenues and expenditures which will drive
economic development and redevelopment in the Village's downtown area the next 23 years.

Foreign Fire Insurance Fund

The 2006 Bond Fund is used to account for the proceeds of the 2006 bond issue for various projects in the
Village.
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Bond Debt Service Fund

The Bond Debt Service Fund is used to accumulate monies for payments of $2,200,000 2010 General
Obligation Bonds. The amounts being accumulated are financed by a specific annual tax levy.

The Southwest TIF Special Allocation Fund is used to account for incremental property taxes received from the
Southwest Central Business Tax Increment Finance District created in 1999 to be used for incentives and façade
and streetscape improvements funded from a one-time transfer of $925,000 from the successful Central
Business Tax Increment Finance District.

East CBD TIF Fund

INDIVIDUAL FUND DESCRIPTIONS

Homewood Emergency Medical Equipment Fund

Northeast TIF Fund

The Northeast TIF Fund is used to account for revenues derived from the Northeast Tax Increment District to
pay development cost.

Southwest TIF Special Allocation Fund

SPECIAL REVENUE FUNDS – Continued

The Homewood Emergency Medical Equipment Fund is used to account for the accumulation of resources
generated from the efforts of the Homewood Fire Department association and the Chamber of Commerce to be
used towards purchase of emergency medical equipment, including ambulances.

The East CBD TIF Fund is used to account for revenues derived from the East CBD Tax Increment District to
pay development cost.

DEBT SERVICE FUNDS

Debt Service Funds are created to account for the accumulation of funds for the periodic payment of principal
and interest on general long-term debt.
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The CIP General Fund is used to account for the cost of planned current and future major projects for building,
infrastructure improvements, traffic and environmental projects, fire training and safety programs, and police
capital equipment purchases. Financing has been provided from General Fund equity transfers; two –year state
income tax surcharge; Water-Sewer equity transfers; a 1991 Corporate Purpose Bond Sale; and various federal,
state, and county grants as available. Other funding sources have been the Village’s share of declared TIF
surpluses and interest.

INDIVIDUAL FUND DESCRIPTIONS

CAPITAL PROJECTS FUNDS

Capital Projects Funds are created to account for all resources used for the acquisition of capital facilities by a
governmental unit except those financed by proprietary funds.

South Gate TIF Fund

The South Gate TIF Fund is used to account for a State of Illinois Department of Commerce and Economic
Opportunity Grant and accumulated interest for land acquisition for a TIF District for the property known as the
South Gate Commercial area.

Capital Improvement (CIP) General Fund

Bond Capital Projects Fund

The Bond Capital Projects Fund is used to account for the accumulation of monies for payments of $2,200,000
2010 General Obligation Bonds. Amounts being accumulated are financed by a specific annual levy.

ENTERPRISE FUNDS

Enterprise Funds are used to account for operations that are financed and operated in a manner similar to private
business enterprises where the intent is that costs of providing goods or services to the general public on a
continuing basis be financed or recovered primarily through user charges; or where it has been decided that
periodic determination of revenues earned, expenses incurred and/or net income is appropriate for capital
maintenance, public policy, management control, accountability or other purpose. The Village’s enterprise
funds are both major funds.

Water and Sewer Fund

The Water and Sewer Fund is used to account for amounts credited each month with an amount sufficient, when
added to the amount then on deposit in this account, to pay the current month’s operating costs.
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The Firefighters’ Pension Fund is used to account for the accumulation of resources to be used for retirement
annuity payments to employees on the fire department at appropriate amounts and times in the future. Resources
are contributed by employees at rates fixed by law and by the Village at amounts determined by an annual
actuarial study.

INDIVIDUAL FUND DESCRIPTIONS

TRUST FUNDS

Firefighters’ Pension Fund

Police Pension Fund

The Police Pension Fund is used to account for the accumulation of resources to be used for retirement annuity
payments to employees on the police force at appropriate amounts and times in the future. Resources are
contributed by employees at rates fixed by law and by the Village at amounts determined by an annual actuarial
study.

PENSION TRUST FUNDS
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VILLAGE OF HOMEWOOD, ILLINOIS

General Fund  

Combining Balance Sheet by Subfund
April 30, 2021

Illinois
Municipal
Retirement

Subfund Totals

Cash and Investments $ 5,546,818 32,024 5,578,842
Receivables - Net of Allowances

Taxes 2,884,358 527,023 3,411,381
Other Taxes 1,508,707 -      1,508,707
Receivables 218,022 -      218,022

Due from Other Funds 708,420 -      708,420
Inventories 173,428 -      173,428
Prepaids 1,437,041 -      1,437,041

Total Assets 12,476,794 559,047 13,035,841

Accounts Payable 261,172 -      261,172
Accrued Payroll 231,998 -      231,998
Other Payables 302,330 -      302,330

Total Liabilities 795,500 -      795,500

Property Taxes 2,884,358 527,023 3,411,381
Total Liabilities and Deferred

Inflows of Resources 3,679,858 527,023 4,206,881

  
Nonspendable 1,610,469 -      1,610,469
Restricted -      32,024 32,024
Assigned 156,621 -      156,621
Unassigned 7,029,846 -      7,029,846

Total Fund Balances 8,796,936 32,024 8,828,960

Total Liabilities, Deferred Inflows of 
Resources and Fund Balances 12,476,794 559,047 13,035,841

FUND BALANES

General
Subfund

ASSETS 

LIABILITIES

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
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VILLAGE OF HOMEWOOD, ILLINOIS

General Fund

Combining Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances by Subfund
For the Fiscal Year Ended April 30, 2021
 

Illinois
Municipal
Retirement

Subfund Totals

Revenues
Taxes $ 8,397,350 869,989 9,267,339
Intergovernmental 9,245,347 12,000 9,257,347
Charges for Services 1,128,298 -      1,128,298
Licenses and Permits 623,226 -      623,226
Fines and Forfeitures 295,173 -      295,173
Interest 449 4 453
Miscellaneous 934,078 -      934,078

Total Revenues 20,623,921 881,993 21,505,914

Expenditures
General Government 6,754,337 1,003,252 7,757,589
Public Health/Environment Protection 619,498 -      619,498
Maintenance/Development of Public Facilities 2,874,723 -      2,874,723
Protect of Persons/Property 9,922,765 -      9,922,765
Community Development 285,461 -      285,461
Debt Service

Principal Retirement 109,554 -      109,554
Interest and Fiscal Charges 10,323 -      10,323

Total Expenditures 20,576,661 1,003,252 21,579,913

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues
Over (Under) Expenditures 47,260 (121,259) (73,999)

Other Financing Sources 
Disposal of Capital Assets 12,400 -      12,400
Transfers In 1,217,239 -      1,217,239

1,229,639 -      1,229,639

Net Change in Fund Balance 1,276,899 (121,259) 1,155,640

Fund Balances - Beginning 7,520,037 153,283 7,673,320

Fund Balances - Ending 8,796,936 32,024 8,828,960

Subfund
General
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VILLAGE OF HOMEWOOD, ILLINOIS

General Subfund - General Fund

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
For the Fiscal Year Ended April 30, 2021
 

Final Actual

Revenues
Taxes $ 8,956,434 8,956,434 8,397,350
Intergovernmental 6,938,420 6,938,420 9,245,347
Charges for Services 1,293,500 1,293,500 1,128,298
Licenses and Permits 731,300 731,300 623,226
Fines and Forfeitures 596,500 596,500 295,173
Interest 30,000 30,000 449
Miscellaneous 1,052,000 1,052,000 934,078

Total Revenues 19,598,154 19,598,154 20,623,921

Expenditures
General Government 6,578,035 7,186,788 6,754,337
Public Health/Environment Protection 671,575 671,575 619,498
Maintenance/Development of Public Facilities 3,078,482 3,125,482 2,874,723
Protect of Persons/Property 10,472,691 10,472,691 9,922,765
Community Development 460,353 460,353 285,461
Debt Service

Principal Retirement -      -      109,554
Interest and Fiscal Charges -      -      10,323

Total Expenditures 21,261,136 21,916,889 20,576,661

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues
Over (Under) Expenditures (1,662,982) (2,318,735) 47,260

Other Financing Sources 
Disposal of Capital Assets 20,000 20,000 12,400
Transfers In 1,413,466 1,413,466 1,217,239

1,433,466 1,433,466 1,229,639

Net Change in Fund Balance (229,516) (885,269) 1,276,899

Fund Balance - Beginning 7,520,037

Fund Balance - Ending 8,796,936

Budget
Original
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VILLAGE OF HOMEWOOD, ILLINOIS

General Subfund - General Fund

Schedule of Revenues - Budget and Actual
For the Fiscal Year Ended April 30, 2021

Final Actual

Taxes                       
Property Taxes $ 2,446,811 2,446,811 2,093,054
Property Taxes - Prior Years 50,000 50,000 5,496
Property Taxes - Police Pension 1,876,832 1,876,832 1,695,700
Property Taxes - Fire Pension 669,791 669,791 593,049
Use Taxes 560,000 560,000 875,642
Electric Utility Taxes 700,000 700,000 651,432
Natural Gas Utility Taxes 300,000 300,000 293,166
Telecommunications Taxes 600,000 600,000 504,294
Cable TV Franchise Taxes 350,000 350,000 274,865
Video Gaming Machines Taxes 77,000 77,000 40,404
Hotel Tax 36,000 36,000 23,323
Places of Eating Tax 1,235,000 1,235,000 1,276,134
Township Road and Bridge Taxes 55,000 55,000 70,791

Total Taxes 8,956,434 8,956,434 8,397,350

Intergovernmental
Sales Taxes 4,436,558 4,436,558 5,603,418
State Income Tax 1,700,000 1,700,000 2,345,471
Replacement Tax 52,000 52,000 74,142
State Grants 14,510 14,510 2,343
Federal Grants 255,352 255,352 216,890
County Grants -      -      448,732
Gas Tax 300,000 300,000 265,937
Cannabis Tas 180,000 180,000 288,414

Total Intergovernmental 6,938,420 6,938,420 9,245,347

Charges for Services
Ambulance Fees 677,000 677,000 603,722
Municipal Bond Fee 9,000 9,000 2,220
Building Inspection Fees 75,000 75,000 58,645
Zoning & Subdivision Fees 2,500 2,500 3,850
Parking Fees 25,000 25,000 2,322
State Route Maintenance 79,000 79,000 83,083
Special Events 20,000 20,000 6,303
Foreclosure Registration Fee 68,000 68,000 82,768
Sidewalk Program 5,000 5,000 4,100

Budget
Original
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VILLAGE OF HOMEWOOD, ILLINOIS

General Subfund - General Fund

Schedule of Revenues - Budget and Actual - Continued 
For the Fiscal Year Ended April 30, 2021

Final Actual

Charges for Services - Continued 
Tower Rental $ 300,000 300,000 256,285
Tree Sales 3,000 3,000 -      
Natural Gas Franchise Fee 30,000 30,000 25,000

Total Charges for Services 1,293,500 1,293,500 1,128,298

Licenses and Permits                                  
Liquor Licenses 83,000 83,000 46,977
Business Licenses 106,000 106,000 100,150
Building Permits 125,000 125,000 124,291
Animal License 7,300 7,300 3,415
Tobacco License 10,000 10,000 10,300
Vehicle Licenses 360,000 360,000 300,420
Alarm Permit 40,000 40,000 37,673

Total Licenses and Permits 731,300 731,300 623,226

Fines and Forfeitures
State Court Fines 47,000 47,000 33,370
DUI Fines 5,000 5,000 4,208
Red Light Traffic Enforcement 95,000 95,000 87,137
Building Code Violations 10,000 10,000 9,580
Court Supervision Fines 2,500 2,500 770
Alarm Fines 29,000 29,000 24,732
Municipal Ordinance Violation 25,000 25,000 10,359
Impoundment Fine 175,000 175,000 52,000
Parking and Compliance 205,000 205,000 70,897
Animal Impounds 3,000 3,000 2,120

Total Fines and Forfeitures 596,500 596,500 295,173

Interest
Interest Income 30,000 30,000 449

Miscellaneous                                  
Employee Insurance Contributions 475,000 475,000 542,328
General Liens 20,000 20,000 51,421
Miscellaneous 557,000 557,000 340,329

Total Miscellaneous 1,052,000 1,052,000 934,078

Total Revenues 19,598,154 19,598,154 20,623,921

Budget
Original
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VILLAGE OF HOMEWOOD, ILLINOIS

General Subfund - General Fund

Schedule of Expenditures - Budget and Actual
For the Fiscal Year Ended April 30, 2021

Final Actual

General Government
Public Representation $ 110,890 136,890 129,347
Village Administration 1,298,455 1,875,128 1,604,205
Legal Services 230,945 230,945 299,525
Information Technology 450,484 456,564 469,543
Finance 1,161,774 1,161,774 1,170,113
Pensioner Costs 3,325,487 3,325,487 3,081,604

Total General Government 6,578,035 7,186,788 6,754,337

Public Health/Environment Protection
Landscape and Maintenance 671,575 671,575 619,498

Maintenance/Development of Public Facilities
Traffic Control and Street Lights 196,170 196,170 169,409
General Street Maintenance 495,112 495,112 480,788
Snow and Ice 469,245 469,245 346,217
Stormwater Management 230,232 230,232 228,805
Street Administration 203,737 203,737 196,638
Engineering 148,457 148,457 139,008
Building Maintenance 440,142 482,142 475,840
Vehicle Maintenance 736,887 736,887 765,632
Vehicle Acquisition and Replacement 158,500 163,500 72,386

Total Maintenance/Development of 
Public Facilities 3,078,482 3,125,482 2,874,723

Protect of Persons/Property
Fire Operation 2,782,750 2,782,750 2,549,122
Fire Administration 451,327 451,327 452,320
Emergency Preparedness 352,180 352,180 349,582
Patrol Services 4,395,961 4,395,961 4,192,817
Criminal Investigation 918,251 918,251 886,170
Communications 774,573 774,573 752,845

Budget
Original
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VILLAGE OF HOMEWOOD, ILLINOIS

General Subfund - General Fund

Schedule of Expenditures - Budget and Actual - Continued
For the Fiscal Year Ended April 30, 2021

Final Actual

Protect of Persons/Property - Continued
Police Administration $ 797,649 797,649 739,909

Total Protect of Persons/Property 10,472,691 10,472,691 9,922,765

Community Development
Community Events 199,525 199,525 79,388
Homewood Science Center 260,828 260,828 206,073

Total Community Development 460,353 460,353 285,461

Debt Service
Principal Retirement -       -       109,554
Interest and Fiscal Charges -       -       10,323

Total Debt Service -       -       119,877

Total Expenditures 21,261,136 21,916,889 20,576,661

Budget
Original
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VILLAGE OF HOMEWOOD, ILLINOIS

Illinois Municipal Retirement Subfund - General Fund

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
For the Fiscal Year Ended April 30, 2021

Final Actual

Revenues
Taxes

Property Taxes $ 983,347 983,347 869,989
Intergovernmental

Replacement Tax 12,000 12,000 12,000
 Interest Income 200 200 4

Total Revenues 995,547 995,547 881,993

Expenditures   
General Government

Pension Fund Contributions 973,347 973,347 1,003,252
 
Net Change in Fund Balance 22,200 22,200 (121,259)

Fund Balance - Beginning 153,283

Fund Balance - Ending 32,024

Budget
Original
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VILLAGE OF HOMEWOOD, ILLINOIS

Nonmajor Governmental Funds  

Combining Balance Sheet
April 30, 2021

Debt
Service

Bond Debt Capital
Service Projects Totals

Cash and Investments $ 3,970,826 1,170 1,562,966 5,534,962
Receivables - Net of Allowances

Taxes 63,656 348,831 -      412,487
Receivables 14,625 -      -      14,625

Total Assets 4,049,107 350,001 1,562,966 5,962,074

Accounts Payable 300 -      28,652 28,952
Due to Other Funds 70,197 -      -      70,197

Total Liabilities 70,497 -      28,652 99,149

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES

Property Taxes -      348,831 -      348,831
Total Liabilities and Deferred

Inflows of Resources 70,497 348,831 28,652 447,980

  
Restricted 4,048,807 1,170 1,534,314 5,584,291
Unassigned (70,197) -      -      (70,197)

Total Fund Balances 3,978,610 1,170 1,534,314 5,514,094

Total Liabilities, Deferred Inflows of 
Resources and Fund Balances 4,049,107 350,001 1,562,966 5,962,074

Special
Revenue

ASSETS 

LIABILITIES

FUND BALANCES
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VILLAGE OF HOMEWOOD, ILLINOIS

Nonmajor Governmental Funds

Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances
For the Fiscal Year Ended April 30, 2021

Debt
Service

Bond Debt Capital
Service Projects Totals

Revenues
Taxes $ 391,404 553,044 49,044 993,492
Intergovernmental 1,328,573 -      169,514 1,498,087
Interest Income 1,594 -      16 1,610
Miscellaneous 697,872 -      24,955 722,827

Total Revenues 2,419,443 553,044 243,529 3,216,016

Expenditures
Current

General Government 41,234 -      -      41,234
Maintenance/Development of 

Public Facilities 731,902 -      -      731,902
Protect of Persons/Property 275,481 -      438,621 714,102
Community Development 1,685 -      73,629 75,314

Debt Service
Principal Retirement -      537,000 -      537,000
Interest and Fiscal Charges -      11,277 -      11,277

Total Expenditures 1,050,302 548,277 512,250 2,110,829

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues
Over (Under) Expenditures 1,369,141 4,767 (268,721) 1,105,187

Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Debt Issuance -      -      1,790,000 1,790,000
Transfers Out (273,773) -      -      (273,773)

(273,773) -      1,790,000 1,516,227

Net Change in Fund Balances 1,095,368 4,767 1,521,279 2,621,414

Fund Balances - Beginning 2,883,242 (3,597) 13,035 2,892,680

Fund Balances - Ending 3,978,610 1,170 1,534,314 5,514,094

Special
Revenue
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VILLAGE OF HOMEWOOD, ILLINOIS

Nonmajor Governmental - Special Revenue Funds

Combining Balance Sheet
April 30, 2021

Foreign
Motor Fire

Fuel Tax Insurance

Cash and Investments $ 832,768 1,140,001 86,293
Receivables - Net of Allowances

Taxes -      63,656 -      
Receivables -      -      -      

Total Assets 832,768 1,203,657 86,293

Accounts Payable -      -      -      
Due to Other Funds -      -      -      

Total Liabilities -      -      -      

  
Restricted 832,768 1,203,657 86,293
Unassigned -      -      -      

Total Fund Balances 832,768 1,203,657 86,293

Total Liabilities and Fund Balances 832,768 1,203,657 86,293

Police
Seized

FUND BALANCES

ASSETS 

LIABILITIES
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Network #3 Homewood Southwest East
2006 Cook County Emergency Northeast TIF Special CBD
Bond Telecomm Medical TIF Allocation TIF Totals

-      570,073 9,427 1,120,900 211,364 -      3,970,826

-      -      -      -      -      -      63,656
-      14,625 -      -      -      -      14,625

-      584,698 9,427 1,120,900 211,364 -      4,049,107

-      -      -      300 -      -      300
-      -      -      -      -      70,197 70,197
-      -      -      300 -      70,197 70,497

-      584,698 9,427 1,120,600 211,364 -      4,048,807
-      -      -      -      -      (70,197) (70,197)
-      584,698 9,427 1,120,600 211,364 (70,197) 3,978,610

-      584,698 9,427 1,120,900 211,364 -      4,049,107
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VILLAGE OF HOMEWOOD, ILLINOIS

Nonmajor Governmental - Special Revenue Funds

Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances
For the Fiscal Year Ended April 30, 2021

Foreign
Motor Fire

Fuel Tax Insurance

Revenues
Taxes $ -      -      32,308
Intergovernmental -      1,328,573 -      
Interest Income 1,341 65 -      
Miscellaneous 596,797 -      -      

Total Revenues 598,138 1,328,638 32,308

Expenditures
General Government -      -      -      
Maintenance/Development of Public Facilities -      730,693 -      
Protect of Persons/Property 245,649 -      21,628
Community Development -      -      -      

Total Expenditures 245,649 730,693 21,628

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues
Over (Under) Expenditures 352,489 597,945 10,680

Other Financing (Uses)
Transfers Out -      (95,373) -      

Net Change in Fund Balances 352,489 502,572 10,680

Fund Balances - Beginning 480,279 701,085 75,613

Fund Balances - Ending 832,768 1,203,657 86,293

Police
Seized
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Network #3 Homewood Southwest East
2006 Cook County Emergency Northeast TIF Special CBD
Bond Telecomm Medical TIF Allocation TIF Totals

-      -      -      341,557 17,539 -      391,404
-      -      -      -      -      -      1,328,573
-      56 -      111 21 -      1,594
-      101,055 -      -      20 -      697,872
-      101,111 -      341,668 17,580 -      2,419,443

-      41,234 -      -      -      -      41,234
-      -      -      -      1,209 -      731,902

8,204 -      -      -      -      -      275,481
-      -      -      1,685 -      -      1,685

8,204 41,234 -      1,685 1,209 -      1,050,302

(8,204) 59,877 -      339,983 16,371 -      1,369,141

(1,181) -      -      (177,219) -      -      (273,773)

(9,385) 59,877 -      162,764 16,371 -      1,095,368

9,385 524,821 9,427 957,836 194,993 (70,197) 2,883,242

-      584,698 9,427 1,120,600 211,364 (70,197) 3,978,610
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VILLAGE OF HOMEWOOD, ILLINOIS

Police Seized - Special Revenue Fund

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
For the Fiscal Year Ended April 30, 2021

Final Actual

Revenues
Interest Income $ 2,000 2,000 1,341
Miscellaneous 100,000 100,000 596,797

Total Revenues 102,000 102,000 598,138

Expenditures
Protect of Persons/Property -      -      245,649

Net Change in Fund Balance 102,000 102,000 352,489

Fund Balance - Beginning 480,279

Fund Balance - Ending 832,768

Budget
Original
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VILLAGE OF HOMEWOOD, ILLINOIS

Motor Fuel Tax - Special Revenue Fund

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
For the Fiscal Year Ended April 30, 2021

Final Actual

Revenues
Intergovernmental

Motor Fuel Tax Allotment $ 825,000 825,000 691,842
State Grants -      -      636,731

Interest Income 75 75 65
Total Revenues 825,075 825,075 1,328,638

Expenditures
Maintenance/Development of Public Facilities 1,075,637 1,075,637 730,693

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues
Over (Under) Expenditures (250,562) (250,562) 597,945

Other Financing (Uses)
Transfers Out -      -      (95,373)

Net Change in Fund Balance (250,562) (250,562) 502,572

Fund Balance - Beginning 701,085

Fund Balance - Ending 1,203,657

Budget
Original
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VILLAGE OF HOMEWOOD, ILLINOIS

Foreign Fire Insurance - Special Revenue Fund

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
For the Fiscal Year Ended April 30, 2021

Final Actual

Revenues
Taxes

Other Taxes $ 28,000 28,000 32,308

Expenditures
Protect of Persons/Property -      -      21,628

Net Change in Fund Balance 28,000 28,000 10,680

Fund Balance - Beginning 75,613

Fund Balance - Ending 86,293

Budget
Original
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VILLAGE OF HOMEWOOD, ILLINOIS

2006 Bond - Special Revenue Fund

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
For the Fiscal Year Ended April 30, 2021

Final Actual

Revenues
Interest Income $ -      -      -      

Expenditures  
Protect of Persons/Property 8,200 8,200 8,204

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues
Over (Under) Expenditures (8,200) (8,200) (8,204)

Other Financing (Uses)
Transfers Out -      -      (1,181)

Net Change in Fund Balance (8,200) (8,200) (9,385)

Fund Balance - Beginning 9,385

Fund Balance - Ending -      

Budget
Original
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VILLAGE OF HOMEWOOD, ILLINOIS

Network #3 Cook County Telecomm - Special Revenue Fund

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
For the Fiscal Year Ended April 30, 2021

Final Actual

Revenues
Interest Income $ 40 40 56
Miscellaneous 84,000 84,000 101,055

Total Revenues 84,040 84,040 101,111

Expenditures
General Government -      -      41,234

Net Change in Fund Balance 84,040 84,040 59,877

Fund Balance - Beginning 524,821

Fund Balance - Ending 584,698

Budget
Original
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VILLAGE OF HOMEWOOD, ILLINOIS

Homewood Emergency Medical Equipment - Special Revenue Fund

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
For the Fiscal Year Ended April 30, 2021

Final Actual

Revenues
Interest Income $ 25 25 -      
Miscellaneous 2,000 2,000 -      

Total Revenues 2,025 2,025 -      

Expenditures   
Protect of Persons/Property -      -      -      

Net Change in Fund Balance 2,025 2,025 -      

Fund Balance - Beginning 9,427

Fund Balance - Ending 9,427

Budget
Original
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VILLAGE OF HOMEWOOD, ILLINOIS

Northeast TIF - Special Revenue Fund

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
For the Fiscal Year Ended April 30, 2021

Final Actual

Revenues
Taxes

Property Taxes $ -      400,000 341,557
Interest Income -      200 111

Total Revenues -      400,200 341,668

Expenditures   
Community Development 4,000 4,000 1,685

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues
Over (Under) Expenditures (4,000) 396,200 339,983

Other Financing (Uses)
Transfers Out (170,000) (170,000) (177,219)

Net Change in Fund Balance (174,000) 226,200 162,764

Fund Balance - Beginning 957,836

Fund Balance - Ending 1,120,600

Budget
Original
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VILLAGE OF HOMEWOOD, ILLINOIS

Southwest TIF Special Allocation - Special Revenue Fund

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
For the Fiscal Year Ended April 30, 2021

Final Actual

Revenues
Taxes

Property Taxes $ 11,000 26,000 17,539
Interest Income -      100 21
Miscellaneous -      -      20

Total Revenues 11,000 26,100 17,580

Expenditures   
Maintenance/Development of Public Facilities 306,377 306,377 1,209

Net Change in Fund Balance (295,377) (280,277) 16,371

Fund Balance - Beginning 194,993

Fund Balance - Ending 211,364

Budget
Original
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VILLAGE OF HOMEWOOD, ILLINOIS

Bond Debt Service - Debt Service Fund

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
For the Fiscal Year Ended April 30, 2021
 

 
Final Actual

Revenues
Taxes

Property Taxes $ 548,277 548,277 553,044
Interest Income 100 100 -      

Total Revenues 548,377 548,377 553,044

Expenditures
Debt Service

Principal Retirement 537,000 537,000 537,000
Interest and Fiscal Charges 11,277 11,277 11,277

Total Expenditures 548,277 548,277 548,277

Net Change in Fund Balance 100 100 4,767

Fund Balance - Beginning (3,597)

Fund Balance - Ending 1,170

Budget
Original
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VILLAGE OF HOMEWOOD, ILLINOIS

Nonmajor Governmental - Capital Projects Funds

Combining Balance Sheet
April 30, 2021

Bond
CIP Capital

General Projects Totals

ASSETS

Cash and Investments $ 86,371 10,943 1,465,652 1,562,966

LIABILITIES
 

Accounts Payable 35 -      28,617 28,652

Restricted 86,336 10,943 1,437,035 1,534,314

Total Liabilities and Fund Balances 86,371 10,943 1,465,652 1,562,966

South
Gate TIF

FUND BALANCES
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VILLAGE OF HOMEWOOD, ILLINOIS

Nonmajor Governmental - Capital Projects Funds

Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances
For the Fiscal Year Ended April 30, 2021

Bond
CIP Capital

General Projects Totals

Revenues
Taxes $ 49,044 -      -      49,044
Intergovernmental -      -      169,514 169,514
Interest Income 12 1 3 16
Miscellaneous -      -      24,955 24,955

Total Revenues 49,056 1 194,472 243,529

Expenditures
Protect of Persons/Property -      -      438,621 438,621
Community Development 73,629 -      -      73,629

Total Expenditures 73,629 -      438,621 512,250

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues
Over (Under) Expenditures (24,573) 1 (244,149) (268,721)

Other Financing Sources 
Debt Issuance -      -      1,790,000 1,790,000

Net Change in Fund Balances (24,573) 1 1,545,851 1,521,279

Fund Balances - Beginning 110,909 10,942 (108,816) 13,035

Fund Balances - Ending 86,336 10,943 1,437,035 1,534,314

South
Gate TIF

133
192

Item 8. B.



VILLAGE OF HOMEWOOD, ILLINOIS

South Gate TIF - Capital Projects Fund

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
For the Fiscal Year Ended April 30, 2021
 

 
Final Actual

Revenues
Taxes

Property Taxes $ 30,000 80,000 49,044
Interest Income -      100 12

Total Revenues 30,000 80,100 49,056

Expenditures
Community Development 84,500 84,500 73,629

Net Change in Fund Balance (54,500) (4,400) (24,573)

Fund Balance - Beginning 110,909

Fund Balance - Ending 86,336

Budget
Original
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VILLAGE OF HOMEWOOD, ILLINOIS

Bond Capital Projects - Capital Projects Fund

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
For the Fiscal Year Ended April 30, 2021

Final Actual

Revenues
Intergovernmental $ -      -      169,514
Interest Income -      -      3
Miscellaneous -      -      24,955

Total Revenues -      -      194,472

Expenditures
Protect of Persons/Property 1,186,988 1,547,126 438,621

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues
Over (Under) Expenditures (1,186,988) (1,547,126) (244,149)

Other Financing Sources 
Debt Issuance -      -      1,790,000

Net Change in Fund Balance (1,186,988) (1,547,126) 1,545,851

Fund Balance - Beginning (108,816)

Fund Balance - Ending 1,437,035

Budget
Original
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VILLAGE OF HOMEWOOD, ILLINOIS

Water and Sewer - Enterprise Fund

Schedule of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position - Budget and Actual
For the Fiscal Year Ended April 30, 2021

Final Actual

Operating Revenues
Charges for Services $ 8,083,699 8,083,699 6,889,108
Sales to the Village of Flossmoor 1,500,000 1,500,000 1,405,203
Miscellaneous 133,000 133,000 219,373

Total Operating Revenues 9,716,699 9,716,699 8,513,684

Operating Expenses
Operations

Water Delivery 1,930,163 1,930,163 1,308,690
Water Acquisition 3,606,896 4,032,130 2,762,887
Water Distribution 718,705 718,705 528,283
Wastewater Distribution 427,663 467,663 398,057
W/S Meters and Lift Stations 419,414 419,414 401,876
Utilities Administration 893,308 893,308 463,022
Public Works 3,804,862 3,816,032 510,259

Depreciation -      -      770,236
Total Operating Expenses 11,801,011 12,277,415 7,143,310

Operating Income (Loss) (2,084,312) (2,560,716) 1,370,374

Nonoperating Revenues 
 Interest Income 20,000 20,000 642

Income (Loss) Before Transfers (2,064,312) (2,540,716) 1,371,016

Transfers Out (1,239,532) (1,239,532) (943,466)

Change in Net Position (3,303,844) (3,780,248) 427,550

Net Position - Beginning 44,632,799

Net Position - Ending 45,060,349

Budget
Original
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VILLAGE OF HOMEWOOD, ILLINOIS

Pension Trust Funds

Combining Statement of Fiduciary Net Position

April 30, 2021

Firefighters'

Pension Totals

Cash and Cash Equivalents $ 8,076 8,654 16,730

Investments

U.S. Government Obligations 1,661,029 1,038,055 2,699,084

U.S. Agency Obligations 8,536,745 3,836,845 12,373,590

Corporate Bonds 2,346,054 1,184,596 3,530,650

Municipal Bonds 1,858,900 1,024,720 2,883,620

Mutual Funds 22,905,815 11,689,390 34,595,205

Money Market Mutual Funds 171,353 39,789 211,142

Certificate of Deposits -      326,630 326,630

Receivables - Net of Allowances

Accrued Interest 74,304 43,140 117,444

Prepaids 8,530 5,966 14,496

Total Assets 37,570,806 19,197,785 56,768,591

Accounts Payable 12,995 3,959 16,954

Net Position Restricted for Pensions 37,557,811 19,193,826 56,751,637

Police

Pension

ASSETS

LIABILITIES

NET POSITION
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VILLAGE OF HOMEWOOD, ILLINOIS

Pension Trust Funds

Combining Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position

For the Fiscal Year Ended April 30, 2021

Police Firefighters'

Pension Pension Totals

Additions

Contributions - Employer $ 1,700,700 594,564 2,295,264

Contributions - Plan Members 880,532 185,097 1,065,629

Total Contributions 2,581,232 779,661 3,360,893

Investment Income

Interest Income 812,658 418,628 1,231,286

Net Change in Fair Value 7,470,297 3,812,279 11,282,576

8,282,955 4,230,907 12,513,862

Less Investment Expenses (59,408) (30,171) (89,579)

Net Investment Income 8,223,547 4,200,736 12,424,283

Total Additions 10,804,779 4,980,397 15,785,176

Deductions

Administration 51,144 31,755 82,899

Benefits and Refunds 2,985,713 1,024,227 4,009,940

Total Deductions 3,036,857 1,055,982 4,092,839

  

Changes in Fiduciary Net Position 7,767,922 3,924,415 11,692,337

  

Net Position Restricted for Pensions

Beginning 29,789,889 15,269,411 45,059,300

Ending 37,557,811 19,193,826 56,751,637
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VILLAGE OF HOMEWOOD, ILLINOIS

Consolidated Year-End Financial Report

April 30, 2021

CSFA # Program Name State Federal Other Totals

494-00-1488 Motor Fuel Tax Program $ 729,628   -           -              729,628      

Other Grant Programs and Activities -           1,240,794 21,625        1,262,419   

All Other Costs Not Allocated 93,750     -           31,250,466 31,344,216 

   Totals 823,378   1,240,794 31,272,091 33,336,263 
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SUPPLEMENTAL SCHEDULES
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VILLAGE OF HOMEWOOD, ILLINOIS

Long-Term Debt Requirements

General Obligation Limited Tax Bonds of 2020
April 30, 2021

Date of Issue September 22, 2020
Date of Maturity December 1, 2023
Authorized Issue $1,790,000
Denomination of Bonds $5,000
Interest Rates 0.75% to 0.90%
Interest Dates June 1 and December 1
Principal Maturity Date December 1
Payable at Zions Bank

Fiscal
Year Interest Totals

2022 $ 625,000     17,324       642,324     
2023 635,000     9,850         644,850     
2024 530,000     4,770         534,770     

1,790,000  31,944       1,821,944  

      CURRENT AND LONG-TERM PRINCIPAL AND INTEREST REQUIREMENTS

Principal
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VILLAGE OF HOMEWOOD, ILLINOIS

Long-Term Debt Requirements

Installment Contract of 2018
April 30, 2021

Date of Contract June 13, 2017
Date of Maturity June 13, 2021
Original Amount of Contract $416,226
Interest Rates 2.85%
Interest Dates June 13
Payable to Tax - Exempt Leasing Corporation

Fiscal
Year Interest Totals

2022 $ 85,550 2,438 87,988

      CURRENT AND LONG-TERM PRINCIPAL AND INTEREST REQUIREMENTS

Principal
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VILLAGE OF HOMEWOOD, ILLINOIS

Long-Term Debt Requirements

Installment Contract of 2020
April 30, 2021

Date of Contract September 1, 2019
Date of Maturity September 1, 2023
Original Amount of Contract $320,870
Interest Rates 3.02%
Interest Dates September 1
Payable to American Capital Financial Services

Fiscal
Year Interest Totals

2022 $ 62,236 5,816 68,052
2023 64,117 3,935 68,052
2024 66,056 1,996 68,052

192,409 11,747 204,156

      CURRENT AND LONG-TERM PRINCIPAL AND INTEREST REQUIREMENTS

Principal
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Demographic and Economic Information

These schedules offer demographic and economic indicators to help the reader understand the environment
within which the Village’s financial activities take place.

These schedules contain service and infrastructure data to help the reader understand how the information in the
Village’s financial report relates to the services the Village provides and the activities it performs.

STATISTICAL SECTION
(Unaudited)

Financial Trends

These schedules contain trend information to help the reader understand how the Village’s financial
performance and well-being have changed over time.

Operating Information

This part of the comprehensive annual financial report presents detailed information as a context for
understanding what the information in the financial statements, note disclosures, and required supplementary
information says about the Village’s overall financial health. Below is a description os the type of statistical
schedules.

Revenue Capacity

These schedules contain information to help the reader assess the Village’s most significant local revenue
sources.

Debt Capacity

These schedules present information to help the reader assess the affordability of the Village’s current levels of
outstanding debt and the Village’s ability to issue additional debt in the future.
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VILLAGE OF HOMEWOOD, ILLINOIS

Net Position by Component - Last Ten Fiscal Years*

April 30, 2021 (Unaudited)

2013 2014

Governmental Activities

Net Investment in Capital Assets $ 13,393,397 13,773,930 14,011,793

Restricted 7,222,903 7,219,103 6,960,745

Unrestricted 4,762,783 3,725,199 1,942,655

Total Governmental Activities Net Position 25,379,083 24,718,232 22,915,193

Business-Type Activities

Net Investment in Capital Assets 34,054,854 33,428,109 32,807,926

Restricted 4,464,456 5,273,188 5,479,821

Unrestricted 2,100,264 2,992,908 4,871,451

Total Business-Type Activities Net Position 40,619,574 41,694,205 43,159,198

Total Primary Government

Net Investment in Capital Assets 47,448,251 47,202,039 46,819,719

Restricted 11,687,359 12,492,291 12,440,566

Unrestricted 6,863,047 6,718,107 6,814,106

Total Primary Government Net Position 65,998,657 66,412,437 66,074,391

Data Source: Village Records

*Accrual Basis of Accounting

2012
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2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

14,809,283 15,362,185 15,640,718 14,993,025 15,374,261 15,528,743 15,217,542

7,830,408 3,914,277 3,513,409 4,516,476 3,451,964 3,228,573 5,615,145

1,917,384 (28,213,557) (31,517,676) (34,936,361) (46,421,882) (49,777,128) (52,188,333)

24,557,075 (8,937,095) (12,363,549) (15,426,860) (27,595,657) (31,019,812) (31,355,646)

32,216,205 31,603,942 31,087,716 30,907,125 30,364,853 30,432,519 33,829,230

3,956,468 4,850,939 5,283,023 6,920,233 7,871,161 10,391,715 7,520,363

5,698,432 6,937,860 7,600,049 6,427,536 5,588,765 3,808,565 3,710,756

41,871,105 43,392,741 43,970,788 44,254,894 43,824,779 44,632,799 45,060,349

47,025,488 46,966,127 46,728,434 45,900,150 45,739,114 45,961,262 49,046,772

11,786,876 8,765,216 8,796,432 11,436,709 11,323,125 13,620,288 13,135,508

7,615,816 (21,275,697) (23,917,627) (28,508,825) (40,833,117) (45,968,563) (48,477,577)

66,428,180 34,455,646 31,607,239 28,828,034 16,229,122 13,612,987 13,704,703
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VILLAGE OF HOMEWOOD, ILLINOIS

Fund Balances of Governmental Funds - Last Ten Fiscal Years*

April 30, 2021 (Unaudited)

2013 2014

General Fund

Nonspendable $ 1,818,825 1,934,122 1,373,461

Restricted 1,067,405 924,362 766,998

Assigned -     -     -     

Unassigned 4,496,002 3,716,986 3,307,491

Total General Fund 7,382,232 6,575,470 5,447,950

All Other Governmental Funds

Restricted 6,175,014 7,003,371 6,198,039

Assigned 1,019,812 -     -     

Unassigned (98,266) (33,991) (89,587)

Total All Other Governmental Funds 7,096,560 6,969,380 6,108,452

Total All Governmental Funds 14,478,792 13,544,850 11,556,402

Data Source: Village Records

*Modified Accrual Basis of Accounting

2012
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2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

1,426,732 1,398,879 1,553,446 1,676,632 1,916,428 1,689,368 1,610,469

658,716 608,780 505,518 370,228 238,860 153,283 32,024

138,000 490,075 252,825 276,809 259,120 738,621 156,621

4,412,844 5,420,936 5,615,528 5,550,787 4,814,858 5,092,048 7,029,846

6,636,292 7,918,670 7,927,317 7,874,456 7,229,266 7,673,320 8,828,960

7,185,466 3,312,703 3,012,930 4,172,508 3,225,944 3,075,290 5,584,291

-     -     -     -     -     -     -     

(138,407) (81,963) (69,719) (70,197) (132,956) (253,952) (102,700)

7,047,059 3,230,740 2,943,211 4,102,311 3,092,988 2,821,338 5,481,591

13,683,351 11,149,410 10,870,528 11,976,767 10,322,254 10,494,658 14,310,551
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VILLAGE OF HOMEWOOD, ILLINOIS

Changes in Fund Balances of Governmental Funds - Last Ten Fiscal Years*

April 30, 2021 (Unaudited)

2013 2014

Revenues

Property Taxes $ 6,743,098 6,437,480 6,248,045

Other Taxes 6,789,686 7,137,477 2,677,138

Licenses and Permits 511,786 536,857 707,598

Intergovernmental Revenues 1,933,706 2,557,556 6,386,380

Fines and Forfeitures 1,295,230 1,271,072 761,391

Charges for Services -     -     1,046,099

Permits 127,238 115,421 -     

Interest Revenue 9,571 12,459 1,821

Miscellaneous Revenue 1,282,886 1,330,356 1,090,317

Total Revenues 18,693,201 19,398,678 18,918,789

Expenditures

Current

General Government 6,403,608 6,556,457 5,370,303

Public Health/Environmental Protection 574,442 562,772 591,222

Maint/Development of Public Facilities 2,320,664 3,335,769 3,541,144

Protection of Persons/Property 10,200,980 8,589,697 8,383,000

Community Development 3,732,019 1,350,378 2,350,460

Debt Service

Principal 670,000 690,000 715,000

Interest and Fiscal Charges 68,375 47,438 28,988

     Total Expenditures 23,970,088 21,132,511 20,980,117

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues

Over (Under) Expenditures (5,276,887) (1,733,833) (2,061,328)

Other Financing Sources (Uses)

Debt Issuance -     -     -     

Disposal of Capital Assets 81,416 11,483 15,488

Transfers In 954,413 1,129,063 1,533,489

Transfers Out (201,053) (340,655) (709,341)

834,776 799,891 839,636

Net Change in Fund Balances (4,442,111) (933,942) (1,221,692)

Debt Service as a Percentage of

Noncapital Expenditures 3.4% 3.6% 3.6%

Data Source: Village Records

*Modified Accrual Basis of Accounting

2012
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2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

5,642,684 6,248,045 6,076,725 6,017,665 6,256,261 6,613,258 6,259,235

3,564,536 3,395,511 3,986,989 4,013,027 4,046,923 4,163,135 4,042,359

623,245 662,679 704,161 642,953 754,479 711,268 623,226

8,818,750 7,269,696 6,877,583 7,156,673 7,446,042 7,705,454 10,755,434

800,061 647,310 652,865 593,631 615,263 530,945 295,173

1,062,550 1,048,033 1,208,152 1,019,122 1,196,991 1,206,608 1,128,298

-     -     -     -     -     -     -     

4,476 4,661 2,191 3,300 6,808 47,793 2,123

2,406,622 906,785 1,248,690 1,455,453 1,975,454 2,168,812 1,656,905

22,922,924 20,182,720 20,757,356 20,901,824 22,298,221 23,147,273 24,762,753

5,373,060 6,201,294 6,549,006 6,679,566 6,950,139 7,582,406 7,798,823

586,032 573,686 625,178 715,611 709,246 747,625 619,498

3,475,365 3,355,884 3,528,431 3,798,544 3,976,433 3,397,262 3,606,625

10,882,039 10,472,073 9,897,018 10,404,372 11,255,186 10,963,616 10,636,867

2,582,810 3,022,452 799,506 569,515 1,400,036 853,061 362,759

529,068 573,602 590,783 640,096 626,037 699,779 646,554

28,300 25,948 16,625 10,808 45,856 26,470 21,600

23,456,674 24,224,939 22,006,547 22,818,512 24,962,933 24,270,219 23,692,726

(533,750) (4,042,219) (1,249,191) (1,916,688) (2,664,712) (1,122,946) 1,070,027

1,797,624 -     36,496 1,871,113 -     320,870 1,790,000

14,203 584,874 18,656 31,785 56,790 -     12,400

1,178,949 1,261,277 1,038,101 1,165,529 1,036,716 1,179,962 1,217,239

(330,077) (337,873) (122,944) (45,500) (66,549) (205,482) (273,773)

2,660,699 1,508,278 970,309 3,022,927 1,026,957 1,295,350 2,745,866

2,126,949 (2,533,941) (278,882) 1,106,239 (1,637,755) 172,404 3,815,893

2.5% 2.6% 2.9% 2.9% 2.8% 3.1% 2.8%
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VILLAGE OF HOMEWOOD, ILLINOIS

Assessed Value and Actual Value of Taxable Property - Last Ten Tax Levy Years

April 30, 2021 (Unaudited)

 

Tax  

Levy Commercial Industrial Railroad

Year Property Property Property

2011 $ 267,892,510     112,285,898     23,429,284       3,769,288         

2012 240,831,331     101,519,189     21,798,572       3,806,717         

2013 225,670,838     93,953,010       19,820,953       3,906,622         

2014 213,464,518     103,301,375     6,949,143         3,869,430         

2015 207,622,129     99,124,699       6,252,185         4,132,666         

2016 216,753,116     108,749,102     6,912,089         4,070,644         

2017 240,942,083     120,391,644     7,054,157         3,798,284         

2018 232,537,953     117,707,365     6,757,694         4,121,399         

2019 229,831,327     118,223,118     6,793,965         3,749,669         

2020 N/A N/A N/A N/A

Data Source: Cook County Clerk's Office

   

N/A - Not Available 

Property

Residential

Notes: Property in Cook County is reassessed once every three years. The County assesses property at

approximately 36 percent of actual value for commercial and industrial property and 16 percent for residential

property. Estimated actual taxable value is calculated by dividing taxable assessed value by those percentage.

Tax rates are per $1,000 of assessed value.
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Taxable Assessed Estimated

Total Value as a Actual Total

Farm Assessed Percentage of Taxable Direct

Property Value Actual Taxable Value Value Tax Rate

-                407,376,980     33% 1,222,130,940  1.404      

-                367,955,809     33% 1,103,867,427  1.599      

-                343,351,423     33% 1,030,054,269  1.674      

-                327,584,466     33% 992,680,200     1.817      

-                317,131,679     33% 951,395,037     1.895      

-                336,484,951     33% 1,009,454,853  1.803      

-                372,186,168     33% 1,116,558,504  1.670      

-                361,124,411     33% 1,083,373,233  1.755      

-                358,598,079     33% 1,075,794,237  1.784      

-                415,209,742     33% 1,245,629,226  1.598      
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VILLAGE OF HOMEWOOD, ILLINOIS

Direct and Overlapping Property Tax Rates - Last Ten Tax Levy Years

April 30, 2021 (Unaudited)

2011 2012 2013 2014

Direct Rates

Corporate 0.201  0.248    0.271    0.271    

Fire and Police Protection 0.180  0.223    0.244    0.244    

Debt Service 0.190  0.213    0.161    0.188    

Pensions Including Soc. Sec. 0.534  0.575    0.493    0.578    

All Other 0.299  0.340    0.505    0.535    

Total Village 1.404  1.599    1.674    1.817    

Overlapping Rates *

County and Forest Preserve 0.520  0.594    0.660    0.654    

Schools 9.548  10.912  11.849  12.660  

All Other 1.842  1.994    2.463    2.103    

Data Source: Cook County Clerk's Office

Taxing Body

Notes: The provisions of the Property Tax Extension Limitation Law (the "Limitation Law") are applicable to

non-home rule taxing districts in Cook County including the Village. The Limitation Law limits the annual

growth in property tax extensions for the Village to the lesser of 5% or the percentage increase in the Consumer

Price Index during the calendar year preceding the relevant levy year. Generally, extensions can be increased

beyond this limitation due to new construction and referendum approval of tax or limitation rate increases.

* - Overlapping rates are those of local and county governments that apply to property owners within the

Village of Homewood. The rates shown are for those taxpayers in the largest tax code and are representative of

rates that apply to Village taxpayers.
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2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

0.246    0.230    0.195    0.203    0.193    0.147    

0.221    0.207    0.171    0.182    0.170    0.132    

0.194    -           0.171    0.176    0.161    0.162    

0.889    0.767    0.844    0.894    0.959    0.904    

0.345    0.599    0.289    0.300    0.301    0.252    

1.895    1.803    1.670    1.755    1.784    1.598    

0.621    0.596    0.589    0.549    0.543    0.528    

13.267  12.847  11.843  11.940  12.370  10.686  

2.155    2.467    2.319    2.447    2.521    2.681    
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VILLAGE OF HOMEWOOD, ILLINOIS

Principal Property Tax Payers - Current Fiscal Year and Nine Fiscal Years Ago
April 30, 2021 (Unaudited)

Percentage of Percentage of
Total Village Total Village

Taxable Taxable
Assessed Assessed

Taxpayer Rank Value Rank Value

Washington Park Plaza LLC $ 16,612,757    1   4.00% $ 14,781,083    1   3.47%
Menard Inc. 9,185,066      2   2.21% 4,019,114      9   0.94%
Target 6,840,728      3   1.65% 5,394,081      5   1.27%
Kohls 5,552,281      4   1.34% 6,094,772      4   1.43%
Healthcare & Retirement 5,337,493      5   1.29%
Homewood Mercy Property 5,020,736      6   1.21%
Home Depot 4,431,179      7   1.07% 5,009,401      6   1.18%
Albertson's 4,369,028      8   1.05% 6,125,851      3   1.44%
Dika Homewood LLC 3,630,615      9   0.87% 3,973,163      10 0.93%
Walmart 3,250,457      10 0.78%
K-Mart Corporation 13,465,396    2   3.16%
Homewood Associates 4,717,746      7   1.11%
Dan Development 4,690,333      8   1.10%

64,230,340    15.47% 68,270,940    16.03%

Total Village Taxable
    Assessed Value 415,209,742  407,376,980  

Data Source: Cook County Clerk's Office

Value Value

2021 2012

Taxable Taxable
Assessed Assessed
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VILLAGE OF HOMEWOOD, ILLINOIS

Property Tax Levies and Collections - Last Ten Fiscal Years
April 30, 2021 (Unaudited)

Total Collections to Date
Fiscal Percentage Percentage
Year of Levy of Levy

2012 $ 5,766,000 $ 3,163,000 54.86% $ 3,290,333 $ 6,453,333 111.92%

2013 5,928,000 3,073,000 51.84% 3,230,184 6,303,184 106.33%

2014 5,747,495 2,899,898 50.45% 2,711,759 5,611,657 97.64%

2015 5,988,457 2,825,058 47.18% 2,824,745 5,649,803 94.34%

2016 5,952,210 2,962,112 49.76% 2,902,614 5,864,726 98.53%

2017 6,375,240 2,956,327 46.37% 2,832,944 5,789,271 90.81%

2018 6,213,671 2,888,176 46.48% 2,755,117 5,643,293 90.82%

2019 6,448,178 2,889,929 44.82% 2,800,618 5,690,547 88.25%

2020 6,526,015 3,107,297 47.61% 2,909,179 6,016,476 92.19%

2021 6,647,322 2,887,110 43.43% -     2,887,110 43.43%

Data Source: Village of Homewood property tax levy and collection records.

Collections 
Collected within the

Fiscal Year of the Levy

Amount

Taxes
Levied

in Subsequent
Years

Note: Large WP TIF expired 2011. Non home rule tax caps caused this expired TIF value to be estimated
higher for levy purposes. Later, the county backs the levy estimate down to actual number based on tax caps.
All taxing bodies in Homewood estimated their levies higher assuming that the % actually collected will be
lower when the final levy value was determined by Cook County.

Tax collections from the County in theory could exceed 100%. Cook County adds 3% to the Village's levy for
uncollectible taxes (5% for debt service funds) and incorporates this allowance into the total extension.

Amount
for the 

Fiscal Year

156
217

Item 8. B.



VILLAGE OF HOMEWOOD, ILLINOIS

Taxable Sales by Category - Last Ten Calendar Years

April 30, 2021 (Unaudited)

2012 2013

General Merchandise $ 636,152 602,553 585,896

Food 669,347 668,740 671,951

Drinking/Eating Places 375,907 398,657 433,416

Apparel 56,680 60,713 57,241

Furniture/Household/Radio 222,670 226,438 229,636

Lumber/Bldg/Hardware 391,645 396,135 417,327

Automobile/Filling Stations 743,802 738,288 752,288

Drugs & Misc. Retail 595,760 636,614 695,113

Agriculture & Others 99,286 91,545 99,662

Manufacturing 4,182 3,276 3,080

Totals 3,795,431 3,822,959 3,945,610

Village Sales Tax Rate 1.00% 1.00% 1.00%

Data Source: Illinois Department of Revenue

Note: State of Illinois Department of Revenue information is not available on a April 30 fiscal year basis so we

use their calendar year reporting.

2011

157
218

Item 8. B.



2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

446,341 440,911 540,576 986,906 1,082,063 1,098,033 1,098,997

737,234 737,074 629,998 579,096 599,188 602,900 696,479

480,685 545,958 589,189 633,651 645,942 674,171 678,803

57,449 60,023 57,471 97,618 104,569 126,122 89,479

219,665 233,835 224,768 240,516 272,160 277,328 310,325

423,156 430,626 371,125 439,696 520,826 564,193 802,509

768,365 849,460 898,842 852,769 765,921 763,471 719,143

659,177 963,109 883,691 796,864 744,080 764,436 820,515

165,086 175,712 165,272 173,715 172,412 171,746 154,971

3,471 2,430 11,695 13,155 15,312 14,767 18,528

3,960,629 4,439,138 4,372,627 4,813,986 4,922,473 5,057,167 5,389,749

1.00% 1.00% 1.00% 1.00% 1.00% 1.00% 1.00%
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VILLAGE OF HOMEWOOD, ILLINOIS

Direct and Overlapping Sales Tax Rates - Last Ten Fiscal Years

April 30, 2021 (Unaudited)

Regional

Village of Cook State of Transit

Fiscal Homewood County Illinois Authority

Year Rate Rate Rate Rate

2012 1.00% 1.25% 5.00% 1.25%

2013 1.00% 0.75% 5.00% 1.25%

2014 1.00% 0.75% 5.00% 1.25%

2015 1.00% 0.75% 5.00% 1.25%

2016 1.00% 1.75% 5.00% 1.25%

2017 1.00% 1.75% 5.00% 1.25%

2018 1.00% 1.75% 5.00% 1.25%

2019 1.00% 1.75% 5.00% 1.25%

2020 1.00% 1.75% 5.00% 1.25%

2021 1.00% 1.75% 5.00% 1.25%

Data Sources: Village of Homewood Finance Department

Cook County Treasurer's Office

Illinois Department of Revenue

RTA

Notes: 

    2013 County made the decision to decrease their rate.

    2016 County made the decision to increase their rate.
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VILLAGE OF HOMEWOOD, ILLINOIS

Ratios of Outstanding Debt by Type - Last Ten Fiscal Years

April 30, 2021 (Unaudited)

Business-

Type 

Actvities Percentage

Fiscal Installment of Personal

Year Contract Income (1)

2012 $ 1,947,298 $ -     $ -     $ 1,947,298 0.33% $ 100.78

2013 1,246,898 -     -     1,246,898 0.21% 64.53

2014 515,000 -     -     515,000 0.09% 26.65

2015 1,731,000 52,556 -     1,783,556 0.30% 92.30

2016 1,170,000 39,954 -     1,209,954 0.21% 62.62

2017 600,000 55,667 -     655,667 0.11% 33.93

2018 1,687,000 199,684 164,119 2,050,803 0.35% 106.13

2019 1,121,000 139,647 124,802 1,385,449 0.24% 71.70

2020 537,000 344,738 84,365 966,103 0.16% 50.00

2021 1,790,000 235,184 42,775 2,067,959 0.31% 106.25

Data Source: Village Records

Note: Details of the Village's outstanding debt can be found in the notes to the financial statements.

(1) See the Schedule of Demographic and Economic Statistics for personal income and population data.

(G.O.) Bonds Contract Government Capita (1)

PerObligation Installment Primary

Governmental

Activities

General Total
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VILLAGE OF HOMEWOOD, ILLINOIS

Ratios of General Bonded Debt Outstanding - Last Ten Fiscal Years

April 30, 2021 (Unaudited)

Percentage of

Equalized

Fiscal Assessed Value

Year of Property (1)

2012 $ 1,947,298 0.48% $ 100.78  

2013 1,246,898 0.34% 64.53    

2014 515,000 0.15% 26.65    

2015 1,731,000 0.53% 89.58    

2016 1,170,000 0.37% 60.55    

2017 600,000 0.18% 31.05    

2018 1,687,000 0.45% 87.31    

2019 1,121,000 0.31% 58.01    

2020 537,000 0.15% 27.79    

2021 1,790,000 0.43% 91.97    

Data Source: Village Records

Note: Details of the Village's outstanding debt can be found in the notes to the financial statements.

(2) See the Schedule of Demographic and Economic Statistics for population data.

(1) See the Schedule of Assessed Value and estimated Actual Value of Taxable Property for property value

data.

Per

(G. O.) Bonds Capita (2)

General

Obligation
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VILLAGE OF HOMEWOOD, ILLINOIS

Direct and Overlapping Governmental Activities Debt

April 30, 2021 (Unaudited)

(2)

Percentage

of Debt

Applicable

to Village

Direct

Village of Homewood $ 2,025,184 100.00% $ 2,025,184

Overlapping

Homewood School District No. 153 12,179,771 93.72% 11,415,122

Flossmoor School District No. 161 3,210,000 17.51% 562,133

Hazel Crest School District No. 152 1/2 2,988,523 3.50% 104,539

Thornton School District No. 154 1,114,000 0.47% 5,266

Homewood-Flossmoor H.S.D. No. 233 17,405,000 51.34% 8,935,053

Thornton H.S.D. No. 205 32,795,000 0.28% 91,212

Prairie State Community College No. 515 23,845,000 11.31% 2,697,780

Thornton Community College No. 510 15,705,203 0.11% 17,438

Cook County, Including Forest Preserve District 2,721,636,750 0.24% 6,444,737

Metropolitan Water Reclamation District 2,181,154,590 0.02% 416,001

Homewood-Flossmoor Park District 12,997,180 60.76% 7,897,724

     Total Overlapping Debt 5,025,031,017 38,587,005

     Total Direct and Overlapping Debt 5,027,056,201 40,612,189

Data Sources:

(1) Data Source: Cook County Tax Extension Department

(3) Amount in column (2) by amount in column (1).

Governmental Unit

(2) Determined by ratio of assessed value of property subject to taxation in the Village to value of property

subject to taxation in overlapping unit.  

Debt Debt

(1) Village's

Outstanding Share of

(3)
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VILLAGE OF HOMEWOOD, ILLINOIS

Debt Margin Information - Last Ten Fiscal Years

April 30, 2021 (Unaudited)

Total Net

Debt

Fiscal Applicable Debt

Year to Limit Margin

2012 $ 37,293,168 1,920,000 35,373,168 0.44%

2013 31,736,189 1,230,000 30,506,189 0.33%

2014 29,614,060 515,000 29,099,060 0.15%

2015 28,254,160 1,731,000 26,523,160 0.53%

2016 27,352,607 1,170,000 26,182,607 0.37%

2017 29,021,827 600,000 28,421,827 0.18%

2018 32,101,057 1,687,000 30,414,057 0.45%

2019 31,146,980 1,121,000 30,025,980 0.31%

2020 30,929,084 537,000 30,392,084 0.15%

2021 35,811,840 1,790,000 34,021,840 0.43%

Legal Debt Margin Calculation for Fiscal Year 2021

Total Equalized Assessed Valuation - 2020 $ 415,209,742         

Debt Limit - 8.625% of Total EAV 35,811,840

General Obligation Bonds 1,790,000             

     Legal Debt Margin 34,021,840           

Data Source: Cook County Clerk and Village Records

Total Net Debt

Applicable to the

Debt Limit as a Percentage

Limit of Debt Limit
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VILLAGE OF HOMEWOOD, ILLINOIS

Demographic and Economic Statistics - Last Ten Fiscal Years
April 30, 2021 (Unaudited)

Education
Level in (2)

Fiscal (1) Median Years of School Unemployment
Year Population Age Schooling Enrollment Rate

2012 19,323   $ 30,336  $ 586,182,528     41.5 14.0 3,941        8.7%

2013 19,323   30,336  586,182,528     42.5 14.0 3,493        7.4%

2014 19,323   30,336  586,182,528     42.5 14.0 3,493        7.4%

2015 19,323   30,336  586,182,528     42.5 14.0 3,493        7.4%

2016 19,323   30,336  586,182,528     42.5 14.0 3,493        5.5%

2017 19,323   30,336  586,182,528     42.5 14.0 3,493        5.5%

2018 19,323   30,336  586,182,528     42.5 14.0 3,493        5.5%

2019 19,323   30,336  586,182,528     42.5 14.0 3,493        5.5%

2020 19,323   30,336  586,182,528     42.5 14.0 3,493        17.0%

2021 19,463   34,608  673,575,504     40.5 14.0 3,493        8.4%

Data Sources:

(1) 2012 - 2020 is from final 2010 Census.
     2021 is from preliminary 2020 Census.

(2) School Enrollment is from Elementary School Districts 153, 161, and High School District 233.

Remaining categories are from Community Development Department.

Income Income

Per Total
Capita Personal
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VILLAGE OF HOMEWOOD, ILLINOIS

Principal Employers - Current Fiscal Year and Nine Fiscal Years Ago

April 30, 2021 (Unaudited)

% of Total % of Total

Village Village

Employer Employees Rank Population Employees Rank Population

CN Railroad 700           1 3.62% 700           1 3.62%

Comcast 450           2 2.33% 450           2 2.33%

Jewel/Osco (2 stores) 450           3 2.33% 450           3 2.33%

School District 153 330           4 1.71% 331           4 1.71%

Walmart 300           5 1.55%

Village of Homewood 190           6 0.98% 210           5 1.09%

Menards 165           7 0.85% 120           10 0.62%

Target 150           8 0.78% 150           7 0.78%

Manor Health Care 150           9 0.78% 150           8 0.78%

Portillo's 150           10 0.78%

Super Kmart 210           6 1.09%

Home Depot 125           9 0.65%

    Totals 3,035        15.71% 2,896        15.00%

Source: 2012 data is from Illinois Dept. Commerce and Economic Opportunity

            2021 data is from Village's Community Development Department/Finance Dept.

2021 2012
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VILLAGE OF HOMEWOOD, ILLINOIS

Full-Time Equivalent Village Government Employees by Function - Last Ten Fiscal Years

April 30, 2021 (Unaudited)

2012 2013 2014

Village Hall

Manager's Office 5.50      5.50        5.00      

Finance (a) 6.50      6.50        6.00      

Community Development 4.00      5.00        5.00      

Public Safety

Fire (c) 

Sworn Firefighters/EMT 36.00    36.00      36.00    

Non Sworn Staff 5.50      5.50        5.50      

Police (b)

Sworn Officers 17.00    17.00      17.00    

Non Sworn Staff 1.00      1.00        1.00      

Public Works

Streets 13.00    13.00      13.00    

Building/Maint 11.50    11.50      11.50    

Vehicles 3.00      3.00        3.00      

Sewer/Water 9.00      9.00        9.00      

Totals 112.00  113.00    112.00  

Data Source: Village of Homewood Budget

 

Notes:

(a) Full time water billing clerk and part time water meter reader are included in finance numbers but their

expenses are budgeted for each year in Public Works budget.

(b) Police utilize 3,692 Part Time hours per year to assist covering their front window which is open 24/7.

Number of part time employees varies year to year on availability.

(c) 20 Part Time Firefighters/EMTs are utilized in the Village at up to 1,296 hours per year plus one

training assistant at 400 hours.

Function

A full time employee is scheduled to work 2,080 hours per year (including vacation and sick time) FTE is

calculated by dividing total labor hours by 2,080.
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2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

5.00      5.00        6.00        7.00        8.50        8.50        7.50        

6.50      7.00        6.00        6.00        6.50        6.50        6.00        

3.00      -          -          -          -          -          -          

37.50    17.00      17.00      17.00      17.00      20.00      20.00      

6.50      4.00        4.00        4.00        4.00        4.00        4.00        

17.00    39.50      39.50      40.00      41.00      40.00      38.50      

1.00      6.50        6.50        6.50        7.50        7.00        7.00        

6.00      7.00        7.00        7.00        7.00        7.00        7.00        

10.00    11.00      11.50      11.00      11.00      11.00      13.00      

3.00      3.00        3.00        3.00        3.00        3.00        3.00        

7.00      10.00      10.00      10.00      11.00      10.00      10.00      

102.50  110.00    110.50    111.50    116.50    117.00    116.00    
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VILLAGE OF HOMEWOOD, ILLINOIS

Operating Indicators by Function - Last Ten Fiscal Years

April 30, 2021 (Unaudited)

2012 2013 2014

Police

Number of Employees

Full Time 41 41 41

Reserve 13               13                13                

Crossing Guards 19 19 19

Part-time Clerical 7                 7                  7                  

Miles Patrolled 260,000 260,000 260,000

Calls for Service 27,901 26,620 26,620

Part I Crimes Reported 751 737              737

Part I Crimes Cleared 389 327              327

Part II Crimes Reported 1,997 1,893           1,893

Part II Crimes Cleared 1,215 1,083           1,083

Number of Traffic Citations Issued 5,183 3,681           3,681

Number of Arrests Made 1,604 1,410           1,410

Jail Facilities 7 7                  7

Jail Population 345 345 345

Number of Auto Accidents 610 657 657

Vehicles

Patrol Units 12 12 0

Administrative 6 6 -     

Motorcycles 1 2 -     

Fire

Number of Stations 1                 1                  1

Number of Employees 18 18 18

Number of Paid-on-Call 16 14 18

Number of Fire Responses 703 713 811

Est. $ Loss from Fires 799,713$    883,612$     1,926,700$  

Number of Fire Prevention Inspections 1,311 1,988 1,539

Number of Public Education Presentations 33 52 40

Number of Emergency Medical Responses 1,794 1,735 1,897

Health & Environment

Number of Food Service Establishment Inspections 292 303 220

Number of Swimming Pool Inspections 7 178 5

Number of Property Code Inspections 1,112 1,280 1,402

Building Permits Issued 994 1,015 1,208

Note: Volume usage of capital assets is not available. The Village instead elected to present the above statistics

as it was deemed to be a more accurate reflection of the services offered.

Function
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2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

42 43 43 45 46 45 43

13                10                13                13                14                13 -     

19 18 18 19 19 17 16

7                  6                  7                  6                  6                  5 5

260,000 260,000 260,000 260,000 260,000 260,000 260,000

22,673 22,280 22,172 24,210 24,262 17,500 17,500

538 499 588 821 834 626 626

247 203 304 399 397 306 306

1,923 1,880 1,468 1,493 1,460 842 842

1,036 1,200 880 912 959 490 490

3,542 4,995 3,444 3,483 3,493 1,168 1,168

1,283 1,403 1,184 1,311 1,356 796 796

7 7 7 7 7 7 7

772 1,020 828 962 996 444 444

668 792 876 937 940 744 744

12 12 12 12 12 12 12

6 6 6 7 7 7 7

-     -     -     -     -     -     -     

1 1 1 1 1 1 1

18 18 18 18 18 20 20

15 15 15 11 12 12 4

814 690 643 639 915 1,217 1,231

1,237,545$  432,950$     280,470$     120,000$     706,300$     435,380$     687,321$     

1,155 1,155 1,002 881 857 682 567

33 31 23 22 32 19 4

1,984 2,041 2,318 2,357 2,392 2,218 2,308

220 220 212 229 229 236 213

5 4 3 193 193 -     17

1,402 1,826 1,333 1,746 1,746 720 1,759

1,208 1,233 1,145 1,277 1,277 871 1,635
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